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de Macau, S.A.
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Chief Executive Officer and Director of Dah Sing Bank

(China) Limited

AUDITORS
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Certified Public Accountants in Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Mr. Wong, aged 78, was appointed as the Chairman of the Bank
in 1983. He is also the Chairman of Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited (“DSFH”), Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”),
Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A., Dah Sing Insurance Company
(1976) Limited, Macau Insurance Company Limited and various
other companies. He serves as a member of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Bank, DSFH and DSBG. Mr. Wong is
the Honorary President of Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors
and a Vice President of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers. He
holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Electrical Engineering from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and has over 55 years of
experience in banking and finance. He is the father of Mr. Harold
Tsu-Hing Wong, the Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief
Executive of the Bank.

Mr. Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
Vice Chairman

Mr. Wong, aged 66, joined the Bank in 1977 and has served and
managed various departments before appointed as a Director in
1989, promoted to a Managing Director in 2000 and then appointed
as Vice Chairman in April 2011. He is the Vice Chairman, Managing
Director and Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited, the
Managing Director and Chief Executive of Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited, Chairman of Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited and a director of
various major subsidiaries of the Group. He is also a Non-Executive
Director and Vice Chairman of Bank of Chongqging Co., Ltd. (listed
in Hong Kong) in which the Group has a 14.66% equity interest. Mr.
Wong is an Associate of The Institute of Bankers (U.K.) and a Founder
Member of The Hong Kong Institute of Bankers and The International
Retail Banking Council of the U.K. He holds a Higher Diploma in
Business Studies from the Hong Kong Polytechnic College (now
known as Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and has over 40 years of
experience in banking.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive

Mr. Wong, aged 49, is currently a Vice Chairman and the Managing
Director and Chief Executive of the Bank. He joined the Bank in
2000, and was appointed as an Executive Director in 2005 and a Vice
Chairman in March 2010. Mr. Wong was appointed as the Managing
Director and Chief Executive of the Bank in August 2017. He is also
a Director of Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited, Banco Comercial de
Macau, S.A., Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited and Macau
Insurance Company Limited. Mr. Wong is currently a member of
The EFAC Financial Infrastructure and Market Development Sub-
Committee, a sub-committee under the Exchange Fund Advisory
Committee (“EFAC”) of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority, and a
member of the Industry Advisory Committee on Long Term Business
established by the Insurance Authority. Mr. Wong holds a Master of
Business Administration degree from Harvard University, U.S.A. and
a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree from King’s College, London,
and is a qualified solicitor in England and Wales and in Hong Kong.
Mr. Wong is a son of Mr. David Shou-Yeh Wong, the Chairman of the
Boards of the Bank, Dah Sing Banking Group Limited and Dah Sing
Financial Holdings Limited.

Mr. Gary Pak-Ling Wang
Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief Financial and Operating
Officer

Mr. Wang, aged 58, joined the Bank as the Group Financial Controller
in 1995 and was promoted as a Director in 1997, responsible for
the overall financial management and control, operations and IT
functions of the Group for a number of years. He was promoted as the
Managing Director and Chief Executive of the Bank in May 2011 and
was re-designated as the Deputy Chief Executive and Alternate Chief
Executive of the Bank in August 2017. He is also an Executive Director
and Deputy Chief Executive of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited
(“DSFH”), an Executive Director of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited
(“DSBG”) and the Group Chief Financial and Operating Officer of the
Bank, DSFH and DSBG as well as a Director of Banco Comercial
de Macau, S.A. and Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited. Mr. Wang is
a qualified accountant, a Fellow of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants of the U.K. and a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds a Bachelor of
Social Science degree from The University of Hong Kong and has over
30 years of experience in financial management and banking.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
1010100101011300111
010001101011001071]

Q011101011 0000101

01010010101710071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 70010



1001110100010071110
110100111 0001010100
J011011001110100010
101110101001110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
0011101010011100100
110011011001110100

6

SEEkEEEEAB™N

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

HITES (&)

BREAL
EITTB AR

BES o B1BR 0 1998 F N A AR 1T » R
2007 FHZERBITES I N 2011 F8 AL
AETTBAER - B 20176 A1 ANMEZTA
AFBITEBERARNITES RBEITTRAEH °
BERERR/RFRIT(FE) ARDF - RETR
b2 (1976) BR A B KBFURBR D BR AR ZE
£ o 4200458 6H E201745H31 8 &
MEERHEREBERAR (RRITZEAF])
ZHTES o FIMERRITHERE R EE P
TE BERTMEEBREOEMERS - K
ERAREMARNZRBNET B (PIXRE
) o MR E R B ARG E25F 2 BRI
‘% °

BIERE
BETTBARE

2154 0 565% 0 M1992F I A KRR IT 0 B
2012F5 AEEZERMITESE RN201455 1
BZAABETRES - BRARAEERITESE
E O HEERNREEMERITES - 1IN BR
BEAFTLXELEE18HNTEZEGKE - BIFAEE
HEmEiMNAR(RDTHOR) ITRERS T2
i » B EHAEE0FHERITERER

RFERITAR AT 2018F F 55

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Nicholas John Mayhew
Deputy Chief Executive

Mr. Mayhew, aged 51, joined the Bank in 1998, and was appointed
as an Executive Director in 2007 and as a Deputy Chief Executive in
August 2011. He was also appointed as an Executive Director and
the Deputy Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited on
1 June 2017. Mr. Mayhew is currently a Director of Dah Sing Bank
(China) Limited, Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited and
Macau Insurance Company Limited. He was an Executive Director
of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (the parent company of the
Bank) from 6 August 2004 to 31 May 2017. He also serves as Head
of Treasury and Corporate Finance of the Bank, responsible for
its treasury and corporate finance activities. Mr. Mayhew holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree (Hons) (in Chinese and Economics) from the
University of London. He has over 25 years of experience in financial
services both in the U.K. and Hong Kong.

Mr. Eddie Shing-Tat Lau
Alternate Chief Executive

Mr. Lau, aged 56, joined the Bank in 1992, and was appointed as an
Executive Director in May 2012 and an Alternate Chief Executive in
May 2014. He is currently the Head of Commercial Banking Division,
responsible for overseeing and supervising commercial banking
business. Besides, he is an Executive Committee member of the
Federation of Hong Kong Industries Group 18. He holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree from The University of Texas at
Austin, U.S.A. Mr. Lau has over 30 years of experience in commercial
banking.



EEZNEEBTEBAEHN

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

HITES (&)

IX¥rt
BETTBARE

T4+ 525 R20124F2 A IMAARRITHAT
TERTEIE  ZTEHREEBETERT
TRE  TEES  MEERER - MAﬁﬁ&
STEERET - R 2012F 5 AR T AWIT
ERR2014F5 ABEZERBETHAE - 1)32
A REMBEARAL (4 Henley Management
College) TEBRIE+T REB KB XELTE(] -
FTRLTHEADIOFTERMBEARITEBLSRS  ©
EBEALBLLERTT - BIESITRITERRER
FTEIRR o

BRAERR S

BRICA 47 5% 0 722009 F hi A AR ER 7T T 42 4
BERVEERETE - KNR2019F3 ABEZER
RRITPTES - SEFFTRPTARITHEE
BEWZEBERE - B %ﬂ%%@¥ﬁ~§ﬁﬁ
BEREBLRABRTER - FEABRE
B2 RRHEERIEE ﬁ@iﬁmo&ﬁ
CFARE ZHHEMAONMMEILAMEEEAS
&%MA%*EE% PROCEHAB20FRE
BARTS  RERAXITHS EHE Y LEK5H -

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong
Alternate Chief Executive

Ms. Wong, aged 52, joined the Bank as the Head of Retail Banking
business in February 2012, responsible for the development
and management of overall retail banking, bancassurance, retail
brokerage, wealth management businesses, private banking and
vehicle financing. She was appointed as an Executive Director in
May 2012 and an Alternate Chief Executive in May 2014. She holds
a Master of Business Administration degree from Brunel University
(UK) via Henley Management College and a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of Hong Kong. Ms. Wong has over 30 years of
experience in retail and personal banking business with other banks
operating in Hong Kong, including Standard Chartered Bank and
CITIC Bank International.

Mr. Cliff Wai-Kin Chan

Mr. Chan, aged 47, joined the Bank as General Manager and Head
of Wealth Management in 2009, and was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Bank in March 2019. He is responsible for the
formulation and execution of overall business strategies of the Bank’s
wealth management business, including securities brokerage, retail
wealth management, and private banking. He holds a Bachelor of
Arts degree from the University of Cambridge and a Master degree in
Business Administration from the Harvard Business School. He is a
Chartered Financial Analyst of the CFA Institute and a Certified Private
Wealth Professional of the Private Wealth Management Association.
Mr. Chan has over 20 years of extensive experience in various areas
including financial services, manufacturing and public administration.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Robert Tsai-To Sze
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sze, aged 78, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Bank in 1996. He is also an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (“DSFH”),
Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”), Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited and Dah Sing Insurance Company (1976) Limited. He serves
as the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Bank, DSFH and
DSBG, a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
(“NRC”) of the Bank and DSBG and the Chairman of the NRC of
DSFH. He was the Chairman of the NRC of DSBG from August 2005
to August 2017. Mr. Sze is an Independent Non-Executive Director
of Hop Hing Group Holdings Limited, Nanyang Holdings Limited and
Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings Limited. He was an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Min Xin Holdings Limited (resigned in April
2018) and China Travel International Investment Hong Kong Limited
(resigned in October 2018). Mr. Sze is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He was a former partner of
an international firm of accountants with which he practised for over
20 years.

Mr. Seng-Lee Chan
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Chan, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Bank in May 2012 and Dah Sing Banking Group
Limited (“DSBG”), the immediate holding company of the Bank, in
August 2008 after his retirement in June 2008 as the Chief Executive
Officer of Heidelberg China Limited. He was appointed as a member
of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Bank in December 2017. He has
served as a member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of DSBG since May 2011. He was further
appointed as the Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee of DSBG on 22 August 2017. Mr. Chan has over 40 years
of experience primarily in the print media industry and has a sound
knowledge of the Asian markets, particularly in China.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Yuen-Tin Ng
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Ng, aged 67, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Bank in October 2012, and an Independent Non-
Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of Dah Sing
Banking Group Limited in April 2012. He is also an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited (“DSB China”)
(a key operating subsidiary of the Bank), appointed in February 2013.
He has served as a member of the Risk Management and Compliance
Committee of the Bank since May 2013 and was appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee of the Bank in December 2017. He
was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee, Connected
Transactions Control Committee and Risk Management Committee
of DSB China in February 2013. He was further appointed as the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of DSB China in September
2015. Mr. Ng is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of
Chinney Alliance Group Limited, a public company listed in Hong
Kong. Mr. Ng is an Associate of The Chartered Institute of Bankers
(UK) and a Fellow and an honorary advisor of The Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers. Mr. Ng has 40 years of extensive experience in banking
and financial industry with a focus on the corporate and institutional
banking business management for the last 12 years prior to his
retirement from Hang Seng Bank Limited in 2011.

Mr. Blair Chilton Pickerell
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Pickerell, aged 62, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director (“INED”) of the Bank on 19 December 2017 and a
member of the Risk Management and Compliance Committee of the
Bank on 21 August 2018. He was also appointed as an INED of Dah
Sing Banking Group Limited, the immediate holding company of the
Bank, on 20 December 2017.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Blair Chilton Pickerell (Continued)
Independent Non-Executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Pickerell is an Independent Director and a member of the Finance
Committee and Nominating and Governance Committee of the
Principal Financial Group, Inc. (which is listed on NASDAQ in the
U.S.). He ceased to be a member of Strategic Issues Committee of
the Principal Financial Group, Inc. in November 2018. He is an INED
and a member of the Nomination Committee and the Chairman of
Remuneration Committee of Link Real Estate Investment Trust (which
is listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”)). He is also a member of the Supervisory Committee of The
Tracker Fund of Hong Kong (a Hong Kong unit trust authorized under
section 104(1) of the Securities and Futures Ordinance whose units
are listed on the Stock Exchange) and the International Advisory Board
of the Securities and Exchange Board of India. He is a vice patron
of The Community Chest of Hong Kong, the Chairman of Harvard
Business School Association of Hong Kong Limited, a strategic
advisor of CreditEast Wealth Management (HK) Ltd. and an executive
committee member of the International Advisory Council of the Faculty
of Business and Economics of The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Pickerell was a court member of The University of Hong Kong from
December 2008 to November 2014 and a member of the Main Board
and GEM Listing Committees of the Stock Exchange from July 2015
to July 2016. He was an INED and a member of the Audit Committee
of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (the parent company of the
Bank) from 1 June 2013 to 19 December 2017.

Mr. Pickerell joined Nikko Asset Management Group as the Head
of Asia and Global Chief Marketing Officer in 2010 and served as
the Chairman, Asia of Nikko Asset Management Company until July
2015. He joined Jardine Matheson Holdings Group in 1984 and held
various positions in Jardine Matheson Holdings Group. In 20083,
he joined HSBC Investments (Hong Kong) Limited (now known
as HSBC Global Asset Management (Hong Kong) Limited) as the
Chief Executive Officer, Asia Pacific. From 2007 to 2010, he served
as managing director and Chief Executive Officer, Asia of Morgan
Stanley Investment Management.

Mr. Pickerell holds an MBA degree from Harvard Business School,
U.S.A. and an MA degree (in East Asian Studies) and a BA degree (in
Political Science) from Stanford University, U.S.A.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. Paul Michael Kennedy
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Kennedy, aged 61, was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Bank in December 2018. He is also
an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of the
Audit Committee of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited and an
Independent Non-Executive Director of Octopus Holdings Limited
and Octopus Cards Limited. He was a financial services partner
of KPMG Hong Kong from 1991 to 2006 and Managing Partner
of KPMG’s Shanghai office from 2000 to 2005. Mr. Kennedy was
chief operating officer and executive director of the Securities and
Futures Commission during the period from 2006 to 2010 and he
subsequently took up the role as a Managing Director of HSBC Hong
Kong’s Global Banking Division from 2010 to 2012. Mr. Kennedy
was appointed as Special Advisor to the Chief Executive of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (“HKEX”) in January 2013 and
subsequently served as the Group Chief Financial Officer of HKEX
from May 2013 to December 2017. He continued to serve as Senior
Advisor of HKEX until July 2018. Mr. Kennedy is a Fellow of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts in Accounting and Financial Administration from the
University of Bangor in the United Kingdom and has over 35 years of
experience in the financial services industry encompassing auditing
and professional advisory services, regulation, risk management,
banking and listed company management.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
1010100101011300111
010001101011001071]

Q011101011 0000101

01010010101710071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 70010

11



1001110100010071110
110100111 0001010100
J011011001110100010
101110101001110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
0011101010011100100
110011011001110100

12

SEEkEREEEAB™N

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILE

BAFHITEE 5

BREERE
BUIHPITEF

FEHE 695 201993 AEZ T AKIRITE
VIIRTEERRBREERERZEGNKE -
MARNEREEBRARZBIIENTES -
®E1968 FINAES LBELRITARATE
£1999F 2 AHIMEEAZIBER - N19994 3
A BRAEMANEERITARAR - R2003FE
2008 FHAR IR R ERITEREE -
B 2008 F fBYEE R R BE 1R 4 85 22 2012 SR 3R 4K ©
H IR 20124F 12 A 201766 AHBHTES
RIT(—ERRNEAMHIR M ERIT) 2EF -
BRAEEREBEIERBBRATN ZEIIFNITES
REZZBEGRE AR AEEERER AR 2 IEHR
TEFEREZEZEGNE - BAEARTBRTE
ERERFTRITEGERG T URKEIRITS
2T  FRENEARZMHEASIHEEREL
B EBAAMBBRSFESERTEANM Y
PR ZEIRI TR -

BEEExL
HISEREREFENFIKETE

Bt 535% 0 FR2019F 1 AIIAKRIT AR
BB NEEEMEHEIEE - ELtHERAI0F
LEMRITREMBHAEER o MARIRITA] - 48
ZTEEBAYEEER RS aEEE 2 EME
BEBPY - BX T HAEBBERNARBITRABLS
ERETENEERLEASERRIBEE LR
fiz o

RFERITAR AT 2018F F 55

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. David Wai-Hung Tam
Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr. Tam, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive
Director and a member of the Risk Management and Compliance
Committee of the Bank in March 2019. He is also an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited.
He started his career with The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking
Corporation Limited in 1968 and held various senior positions
until February 1999. In March 1999, Mr. Tam joined Hang Seng
Bank Limited and was a Deputy General Manager and a Head of
Commercial Banking during 2003 to 2008 and the Chief Risk Officer
from 2008 until his retirement in 2012. He was also a director of Yantai
Bank, a city commercial bank in Yantai, from December 2012 to June
2017. He is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director and a
member of the Audit Committee of Xinyi Glass Holdings Limited and
a Non-Executive Director and a member of the Audit Committee of
Nameson Holdings Limited. Mr. Tam is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Bankers and the Chartered Institute of Bankers in the
UK and an associate of the Institute of Bankers. He holds a master’s
degree in Business Administration from the University of Toronto,
Canada. Mr. Tam has more than 45 years of experience in commercial
banking industry in Hong Kong and the PRC.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Betty Wai-Yee Chung
Deputy Chief Operating Officer and Group Head of Information
Technology

Ms. Chung, aged 53, joined the Bank in January 2019 as the Deputy
Chief Operating Officer and Group Head of Information Technology.
Ms. Chung has over 30 years of solid banking and IT experience. Prior
to joining the Bank, she held various IT positions in multinational and
regional financial institutions. Ms. Chung holds an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and a degree of Bachelor of Science in Computer Science from
Purdue University, U.S.A.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Tsang-Sum Yien (Jason Yien)
General Manager and Group Head of Operations

Mr. Yien, aged 51, joined the Bank in 1998 and was appointed as
General Manager and Group Head of Operations of the Bank in
October 2016. Mr. Yien attained a Degree of Doctor of Philosophy
in Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management from The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, and both a Master
Degree and a Bachelor Degree of Applied Science in Industrial
Engineering from The University of Windsor, Canada. He is a senior
member of the Institute of Industrial and Systems Engineers. Mr.
Yien has over 20 years of experience in consulting, operations
management, operational risk and project management mainly in the
banking industry.

Mr. Clement Poon
General Manager and Group Financial Controller

Mr. Poon, aged 49, joined the Bank in January 2003 as the Head
of Financial Accounting Department and was appointed as General
Manager and the Group Financial Controller of the Bank in December
2014. He graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
attained a Degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy. He is a Fellow of
The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants of the U.K. and an
Associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Poon has over 20 years of experience in accounting and financial
management in the banking industry.

Ms. Sze-Ching Chan (Amy Chan)
General Manager and Group Head of Human Resources

Ms. Chan, aged 47, joined the Bank in January 2018 as General
Manager and Group Head of Human Resources Division. Ms. Chan
has over 25 years of experience in the human resources field, of which
22 years are in the banking and financial industry. She graduated
from the University of Strathclyde, U.K., with a Bachelor of Arts
degree followed by a Postgraduate Diploma in Human Resources
Management. Ms. Chan is a Fellow of The Chartered Institute of
Personnel and Development of the U.K.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Ka-Wai Wong (Kevin Wong)
General Manager and Group Head of Compliance

Mr. Wong, aged 53, joined the Bank in 2014 as General Manager
and Group Head of Compliance. Mr. Wong has solid experience in
managing regulatory compliance and providing compliance service,
with many years of experience in the financial services sector and
regulatory supervision. Mr. Wong attained a Bachelor Degree of
Commerce (Accounting) from The University of Birmingham, UK,
a Master Degree of Finance from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia and a Master of Laws Degree in International Corporate and
Financial Law from University of Wolverhampton, UK.

Mr. Frederick Ka-Wai Lau
General Manager and Head of Group Risk Management

Mr. Lau, aged 48, joined the Bank in 2010 as General Manager and
Head of Market Risk, and progressed to become the Head of Risk
Management and Control Department within the Group Risk Division
of the Bank in 2012. Mr. Lau was appointed as the Head of Group
Risk Management in April 2018. He has over 25 years of working
experience covering mainly risk management and other roles in
the banking sector, and also in regulatory supervision capacity.
Mr. Lau attained a degree in business administration from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and a master degree in business
administration from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology.

Mr. Yiu-Fai Kong (Eddie Kong)
Chief Executive Officer and Director of Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A.

Mr. Kong, aged 56, joined the Bank and was appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer and Director of Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A.
(incorporated in Macau) in July 2012. Mr. Kong has over 29 years
of experience in banking and finance business with other banks in
Hong Kong including Daiwa Bank, Standard Chartered Bank, and had
focused on corporate and institutional banking business management
for the last 12 years in DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited before joining
the Bank.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. Vincent Ho-Wing Yau
Chief Executive Officer and Director of Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited

Mr. Yau, aged 56, joined the Bank and was appointed as the Alternate
Chief Executive Officer and Head of Business Development of Dah
Sing Bank (China) Limited (“DSB China”), a key operating subsidiary
of the Bank, in September 2012. He was appointed as an Executive
Director of DSB China in December 2014 and the Chief Executive
Officer of DSB China in February 2015. Mr. Yau has over 30 years of
experience in the banking industry in China and Hong Kong, and had
assumed various senior executive positions in Standard Chartered
Bank before joining the Bank.
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The Board of Directors and the Management of Dah Sing Bank,
Limited (the “Bank” or the “Group”) are committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance practices and devote
considerable effort to identify and formalize best practices. We
believe that sound and effective corporate governance practices
are essential for delivering sustainable value, enhancing a culture
of business integrity and maintaining investors’ confidence. Good
corporate governance promotes and safeguards the interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders including customers and
employees, thereby enhancing the credibility and reputation of the
Bank.

The Bank abides strictly by the relevant laws and regulations in Hong
Kong, and observes the rules and guidelines issued by regulatory
authorities including the Hong Kong Monetary Authority (“HKMA?”). It
has complied with the requirements set out in the Supervisory Policy
Manual module CG-1 entitled “Corporate Governance of Locally
Incorporated Authorised Institutions” (“CG-1”) and CG-5 entitled
“Guideline on a Sound Remuneration System” (“CG-5"), Guidance
on Empowerment of Independent Non-Executive Directors and the
circular on Bank Culture Reform issued by the HKMA in all material
aspects.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES

The Bank has in place a corporate governance framework which
identifies all the key participants of the Group and the ways which
they relate to each other and their roles in the application of effective
governance policies and processes.

The Bank has adopted a set of Board Governance Policy and
Procedures (“BGPP”) since 2013. The BGPP of the Bank is subject
to regular review and update to ensure compliance with the latest
regulatory requirements.

The BGPP has been developed in pursuance of the requirements
of the CG-1, which has laid down the governance framework and
structures of the Bank covering the responsibilities of the board,
the organization and functioning of the board, board committees,
appointment of directors and succession, board qualification and
training, delegation of authority and oversight of senior management,
evaluation of the board and individual directors, governance in group
structure, controls on structures established on behalf of customers,
risk management, and legal obligations of directors.



EER

AR AR ER @

\/1

EREeRAREEREERARTEERER 2T
A - ITEARBAIRIT 2 BB AT T
ZREN M BAESL - WATATEE AR RIT AT R A TT
HAHERN — N T TR REER - R
BITEBER  EFgUEABRKRR  FPEHE
R D& 2 BB

E=g

RFTEFGHARITZEE - FE - 2ELM
BRIEBFRKEE EFSERTHEER -
EB2EARITHER I THRARITEELER
&%“é.—fiai“‘ﬁﬁmikmib BEEENELRH
i HEEZRDERRBERITEOERE L - AKX
RITOMEERREBRIRR - 7P EE AR
FInENEERERR FHEENRE -

RAFHRE  BEFEHTTAMK - EFNAAR
HITEERANARBULIFNTES - ESEKE
W

BITES

ITE-TFE
BEE-FTE
THEL-F/T)F  EFALEZIERTTHABE

TIRE-BITTEAAZREBYZR 2EHE

RIS — B TR
%‘JWL BETHARE
IXE - EETRAEH
PR 4 B2

MFHTES

sERHE
PR S A
RIFMA
RE3ES
BELE

O
O
X
Jv)
O
>
_|
m
®
o
<
m
By
Z
>
Z
o
®

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES AND
PRACTICES (Continued)

The supervision of the management and direction of the business and
affairs of the Bank shall be vested in the Board, who, in addition to the
powers and authorities set out in the Bank’s constitutional documents
expressly conferred upon them, may exercise all such powers and do
all such acts and things as may be exercised or done or approved by
the Bank. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board shall take into
account the legitimate interests of shareholders, depositors and other
relevant stakeholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of the Bank has the ultimate responsibility for the
supervision, leadership, operations and financial soundness of the
Bank. In discharging its responsibilities, the Board actively engages
in the affairs of the Bank and is cognizant of material changes in the
Bank’s business and the external environment in which the Bank
operates. The Board acts honestly and in good faith in the interest
of the Bank, and on an informed and prudent basis, having regard to
the legitimate interests of shareholders, depositors and other relevant
stakeholders.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises fourteen
members, of whom eight are Executive Directors and six are
Independent Non-Executive Directors. Members of the Board are as
follows:

Executive Directors

David Shou-Yeh Wong — Chairman

Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong) — Vice Chairman

Harold Tsu-Hing Wong - Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief
Executive

Gary Pak-Ling Wang - Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief
Financial and Operating Officer

Nicholas John Mayhew — Deputy Chief Executive

Eddie Shing-Tat Lau — Alternate Chief Executive

Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong - Alternate Chief Executive

Cliff Wai-Kin Chan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Robert Tsai-To Sze
Seng-Lee Chan
Yuen-Tin Ng

Blair Chilton Pickerell
Paul Michael Kennedy
David Wai-Hung Tam

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The biographical information of the Directors is disclosed in the
“Directors’ and Senior Management’s Profile” of this Annual Report.

The Board possesses appropriate experience, competencies
and personal qualities, including professionalism and integrity, to
discharge its responsibilities adequately and effectively. In addition,
the Board collectively has adequate knowledge and expertise relevant
to each of the material business activities that the Bank pursues and
the associated risks in order to ensure effective governance and
oversight.

According to the Terms of Reference of the Board, the key
responsibilities of the Board include:

. setting and overseeing the objectives and strategies of the
Group

° approving annual budget and business plan, and monitoring
performance and execution of plan

° establishing and overseeing risk governance

° appointment and oversight of senior management, and ensuring
competent management is in place

° setting corporate values and standards

° overseeing the remuneration policy

o ensuring a suitable and transparent corporate structure

° ensuring effective audit function and internal control

° ensuring an appropriate level of effectiveness in respect of the

structure, operation and risk management of the Bank

° matters involving conflict of interest of substantial shareholder
or any Director

° material acquisition or disposal of assets (not in the ordinary
business or operation of the Bank), investments and business
reorganization

° material capital projects with long-term commitments

° delegation of authority to Board level Committees or individual
Directors (for approving specific transactions)

o delegation to Senior Management the authority and
responsibility to manage the regular businesses and affairs of
the Bank and its subsidiaries consistent with the objectives and
strategies of the Bank, and within the risk framework and limits
approved by the Board

° appointment of Directors and Senior Management

° actively engaging in succession plans for the chief executive
and other key senior executives as appropriate
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board meetings are held at least four times a year. In addition, special
Board meetings are held when necessary. Dates of regular Board and
Board Committee meetings are scheduled in the prior year to provide
sufficient notice to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. For
special Board meetings, reasonable notice is given. Board agenda
is approved following consultation with the Directors and Senior
Management. All Board meetings involve the active participation,
either in person or through other electronic means of communication,
of Directors. In 2018, the Board held five meetings including a special
Board meeting to review the remuneration of Senior Management and
succession plan.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated its authority to various committees to deal
with specific matters under written terms of reference, which set out
in detail their respective authorities and responsibilities. The Audit
Committee, Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and Risk
Management and Compliance Committee were established under the
authority of the Board. The composition and terms of reference of
these committees are reviewed and updated regularly to ensure that
they remain appropriate and in line with the regulatory requirements,
the Group’s business and changes in governance practices. All Board
Committees adopt the same governance processes as the Board
as far as practicable and report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations after each meeting.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee (“AC”) has the authority to review all matters
related to financial statements and disclosure, audit work performed
by internal and external auditors, internal control systems, risk
management system and compliance for the whole Group. The
AC reports to the Board following each AC meeting, drawing the
Board’s attention to significant issues or matters of which the Board
should be aware, identifying any matters in respect of which it
considers that action or improvement is needed, and making relevant
recommendations.

The AC meets at least three times a year with the Bank’s executives
including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive, Group
Financial Controller, Head of Group Risk Management, Group Head of
Internal Audit, and representatives from the Bank’s external auditor.
Special meetings of the AC are held when necessary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

As at the date of this Annual Report, the AC comprises three members
and all the members are Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INEDs”). The members of the AC are Messrs. Robert Tsai-To Sze
(Chairman), Seng-Lee Chan and Yuen-Tin Ng. In 2018, the AC held
four meetings, including a special meeting of the AC held jointly with
the Risk Management and Compliance Committee (“RMCC”) whereby
members of the AC participated in a session of the RMCC meeting
relating to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard No. 9.

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
and its major roles and functions are as follows:

o To ensure the objectivity and credibility of financial reporting

o To review the internal control system and compliance with
regulatory requirements

° To make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor

° To review and monitor the external auditors’ independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards

o To approve the appointment, resignation or dismissal of the
head of internal audit

o To approve audit plans

o To review the effectiveness of the internal audit function

° To review findings and reports of the internal and external
auditors

° To review and monitor the integrity of the Bank’s annual and
interim financial statements, including significant financial
reporting judgments used in producing the financial statements

° To review the Bank’s internal controls and reports its major
findings and comments to the Board
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee (“NRC?”) is responsible
for overseeing the remuneration matters of the Bank, and also to
review and endorse the nomination of candidates for appointment as
Non-Executive Directors (including INEDs), Executive Directors and
Senior Management, prior to the approval by the Board of the Bank.
The NRC reports to the Board regularly on its findings, decisions and
recommendations.

The NRC meets at least twice a year and at such other times as the
NRC deems appropriate.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the NRC comprises three
members, majority of whom are INEDs and is chaired by an INED.
The members of the NRC are Messrs. Seng-Lee Chan (Chairman),
Robert Tsai-To Sze and David Shou-Yeh Wong. In 2018, the NRC
held four meetings, including a special meeting of the NRC to
review and endorse remuneration of Executive Directors and Senior
Management.

The NRC was established with written terms of reference and its major
roles and functions are as follows:

° To review and endorse the nomination of directors and senior
management

° To assist the Board in discharging its responsibility for the
design and operation of the Bank’s remuneration system

o To review and make recommendation to the Board in respect of
the Bank’s remuneration policy and practices

° To review and endorse the specific remuneration packages of
directors and senior management

. To ensure that regular review of the Bank’s remuneration system
and its operation is conducted

o To review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board and also its committees at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board

° To regularly review the efficiency and effectiveness of the
functioning of the Board and also its committees, particularly in
respect of the composition of Board and committee members

° To advise and assist the Board in discharging its culture reform
and related responsibilities
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Risk Management and Compliance Committee

The Risk Management and Compliance Committee (“RMCC?”) is to
provide guidance and oversight on the Bank’s risk management
strategy and development, review risk management issues and the
resolution thereof, review risk management policies and major risk
limits prior to the approval by the Board, and review major regulatory
compliance issues and development, and exercise oversight on
the compliance function and activities of the Bank. It has the
authority to conduct any enquiry and review on matters related to
risk management and compliance with risk policy and regulatory
requirements. The RMCC reports to the Board following each RMCC
meeting, drawing the Board’s attention to significant issues or matters
of which the Board should be aware, identifying any matters in respect
of which it considers that action or improvement is needed, and
making relevant recommendations.

The RMCC meets at least four times a year with the Bank’s executives
including the Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executives, Head of
Group Risk Management, Group Head of Compliance and Group
Head of AML and Financial Crime Risk. Special meetings of the RMCC
are held when necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the RMCC comprised three
INEDs and the Chief Executive of the Bank and was chaired by an
INED. In 2018, the RMCC held four meetings, including a joint meeting
with the AC whereby the AC members participated in the session
relating to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard No. 9. As at the
date of this Annual Report, the RMCC comprises Messrs. Yuen-Tin
Ng, Blair Chilton Pickerell and David Wai-Hung Tam, who are INEDs of
the Bank and Mr. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong, who is the Chief Executive
of the Bank.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Risk Management and Compliance Committee (Continued)

The RMCC was established with written terms of reference and its
major roles and functions are as follows:

. To assist the Board in reviewing all major risk management
policies and risk limits, including capital management policy and
capital plan, as well as the recovery plan

o To assist the Board in reviewing all major compliance and legal
issues, including those relating to anti-money laundering

° To assist the Board in overseeing the implementation of the
stress-testing programme, reviewing the stress-testing results,
including the stress test against capital plan and ensuring that
suitable actions are taken to mitigate potential risks where
necessary

° To monitor and ensure that major risk management policies and
risk limits of the Bank and its subsidiaries comply with relevant
regulatory requirements, and follow up on non-compliance
issues and their resolutions

o To provide periodic update to the Board on its work, finding and
recommendations

° To review any risk and/or compliance issues raised by the
HKMA which are considered significant by the Head of Group
Risk Management, Group Head of Compliance, Group Head of
AML and Financial Crime Risk or Group Head of Internal Audit

o To oversee the resourcing for the risk management and
compliance functions of the Bank, including anti-money
laundering and counter-terrorist financing

o To interact with the AC to ensure consistency and compatibility
in actions and minimize any potential gaps in risk management
oversight

° To promote sound risk governance and a strong risk
management culture and provide guidance and oversight on the
development of risk management strategies as well as the risk
tolerance and risk appetite of the Bank
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RISK APPETITE FRAMEWORK

The Bank’s risk appetite is defined as the level of risk the Bank is
willing to take, having regard to its resources and financial capacity,
strategic objectives and regulatory constraints (e.g. capital and
liquidity requirements), with the expectation that the risk taken or
to be pursued is sufficiently compensated or at acceptable return
with reasonable confidence level. Against this background, the risk
appetite framework is comprised of a Risk Appetite Statement (“RAS”)
and a set of risk tolerance is established. The RAS covers four key
dimensions of the risks and returns of the Bank, namely the target
returns to shareholders, earnings volatility, solvency and others while
more granular risk types including credit risk, market risk, liquidity
risk, interest rate risk and other less quantifiable risks (e.g. operational
risk, reputation risk, strategic risk, cyber risk, legal risk and conduct
risk, etc.) are controlled under different risk limits and risk mitigation
measures that constitute the risk tolerance of the Bank.

The RAS is a high level statement which sets out the risk-return
requirements as well as the risk taking capacity of the Bank, taking
into account its financial and capital strength and covers a wide range
of metrics including return on equity, liquidity maintenance ratio,
leverage ratio and measures of impact on profitability and capital
adequacy ratio under selected stress scenarios, etc. Moreover, to
ensure that the Bank’s operations and risk taking activities are in line
with the RAS, the Bank has adopted a set of risk tolerance levels to
govern and control specific categories of risk, which is made up of
major quantitative risk limits as well as some qualitative measures.

As for the process of risk appetite setting, the Board determines the
optimal risk appetite having regard to the Bank’s capital, risk and
strategy. In addition, the Board is responsible for overseeing the
development and monitoring of the Bank’s risk appetite to ensure
that the Bank is able to achieve sustainable growth in pursuing its
business strategy, operating within its tolerance levels. The RAS is
designed to be consistent with the Bank’s business strategy, risk
and return balance and market outlook, for the medium to longer
term and it is not intended to be changed frequently, unless there are
significant changes in the Bank’s strategy and operating environment.
Furthermore, during the annual and other ad hoc reviews of the RAS
framework, risk scenarios covering different courses of development
of the global economies including highly stressed scenarios are
developed for the purpose of conducting the firm-wide stress test.
The results together with regulatory developments will be taken as
one of the key considerations in the review of risk appetite.
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RISK APPETITE FRAMEWORK (Continued)

Compliance with the RAS and risk tolerance is monitored and
reported to the Board and the RMCC respectively on a quarterly
basis to ensure that the businesses of the Bank are conducted within
the requirements of the risk appetite framework. Moreover, the risk
appetite framework and major risk appetite limits are subject to the
review by the RMCC and the Board on an annual basis, when the
annual budget and medium term plan of the Bank are reviewed and
approved, or new business and risk strategies are to be approved.

RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD

The Bank uses a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
the appointment of new Directors. The proposed appointment will first
be reviewed by the NRC, taking into account the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience on the Board. Upon recommendation of
the NRC, the proposed appointment will then be reviewed and, if
thought fit, approved by the Board after due deliberation.

In accordance with the requirement under the Banking Ordinance,
approval from the HKMA will need to be sought prior to the
appointment of any person as a Director of the Bank.

The Bank issues appointment letters to each of the INEDs, setting
out the terms and conditions of their appointments. For proposed
appointment as INEDs of the Bank, the factors as laid down in the
HKMA'’s Guidance on Empowerment of INEDs will be considered to
assess the independence of a proposed INED of the Bank. The same
factors will be revisited to reassess the independence of any INED
who has served the Board of the Bank for more than 9 years, where
applicable.
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RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION OF MEMBERS OF THE
BOARD (Continued)

Pursuant to the Board Appointment and Succession Policy of the
Bank, the Board or NRC should satisfy itself that the candidate
nominated for appointment is a fit and proper person for appointment,
taking into account the following features and attributes of the
candidate:

o age
° education background and professional qualification

° experience, especially working and commercial experience
° stature and reputation in the community

o capability

° professional and/or business management skills

° track record

° independence of mind (particularly in the case of non-executive
directors and INEDs)
° any financial or other interest in the business of the Bank

° other directorship
o intellectual strength
° fitness and propriety

Candidates as proposed Board members should not have any
conflict of interest that may impede their ability to perform their duties
independently and objectively or subject them to undue influence
from:

° personal, professional or other economic relationships with
other members of the board or management (or with other
entities within the group)

° other persons including shareholders

o relationship arising from or connected to past or present
positions held

A Board director candidate has to confirm that there is no conflict
of interest prior to his/her appointment, apart from clearance under
section 83 of the Banking Ordinance relating to connected lending.
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REMUNERATION INFORMATION

Remuneration information in line with the requirements set out
in CG-5 is disclosed in the Regulatory Disclosure Statement at
the Bank’s website at www.dahsing.com and is accessible at the
following direct link:

http://www.dahsing.com/html/en/about_us/regulatory_disclosures.html

MAJOR SHARE OWNERSHIP AND VOTING RIGHTS AND
RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dah Sing Banking Group
Limited. The ultimate holding company of the Bank is Dah Sing
Financial Holdings Limited. Both Dah Sing Banking Group Limited and
Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited are listed companies in Hong
Kong.

The Bank’s related party transactions are set out in Note 42 of the
Notes to the Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

OTHERS

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Bank did not engage in
any material and complex or non-transparent structure that is difficult
for supervisors and stakeholders of the Bank to reasonably assess the
risks to which it is exposed.
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The Directors submit their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (the “Bank”) are
the provision of banking, financial and other related services. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries are shown in Note 26 to the
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2018 are set out in the consolidated income

statement on page 36.

The Directors declared an interim dividend of HK$2.95 per share,
totalling HK$182,900,000, which was paid on 19 September 2018.

The Directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK$7.3
per share, totalling HK$452,600,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW
No business review for 2018 is prepared as the Bank is exempted
under section 388(3)(b) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance since

it is a wholly owned subsidiary of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Bank during the year are shown in
Note 37 to the financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$1,286,000.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Bank during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Hon-Hing Wong (Derek Wong)
Vice Chairman

Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
Vice Chairman, Managing Director and Chief Executive

Robert Tsai-To Sze*
Seng-Lee Chan*
Yuen-Tin Ng*
Blair Chilton Pickerell*
Lon Dounn* (resigned with effect from 31 December 2018)
Paul Michael Kennedy* (appointed with effect from 4 December 2018)
David Wai-Hung Tam* (appointed with effect from 18 March 2019)
Gary Pak-Ling Wang
Executive Director, Deputy Chief Executive and Group Chief

Financial and Operating Officer

Nicholas John Mayhew
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive

Eddie Shing-Tat Lau
Executive Director and Alternate Chief Executive

Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong
Executive Director and Alternate Chief Executive

Cliff Wai-Kin Chan (appointed with effect from 18 March 2019)
* Independent Non-Executive Directors

There being no provision in the Bank’s Articles of Association for
retirement by rotation, all Directors continue in office.
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DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the names of all the directors who have served on the
boards of the subsidiaries of the Bank during the year and up to the
date of this Report of the Directors is provided in the “Directors of
Subsidiaries” section which follows this Report of the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Pursuant to the Share Option Schemes (the “Schemes”) as approved
by the shareholders of Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited (“DSFH”)
and Dah Sing Banking Group Limited (“DSBG”), the Bank’s ultimate
and immediate holding companies respectively, eligible participants
may be granted options at a consideration of HK$1 per option to
subscribe for shares of DSFH or DSBG. The exercise price per option
share is varied by tranches of grant, which is concluded on the basis
no less exacting than the requirement set out in Rule 17.03(9) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) being determined as no less
than the higher of (i) the closing price of the relevant shares traded
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) on the
date of grant; and (ii) the average closing price of the relevant shares
traded on the SEHK for the 5 business days immediately preceding
the date of grant. For options granted before the commencement of
the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) on 3 March 2014, the nominal
value of the shares in the capital of DSFH and DSBG had been taken
into account in determining the exercise price per option share. The
options granted can be exercised in varying amounts between the first
and fifth anniversaries from the date of grant in general.

The following were arrangements which subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year which enabled the Directors of the
Bank to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in its
holding companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

Directors’ interests in the Schemes during the year are described

below:

(@)  Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited Share Option Schemes (the
“Old DSFH Scheme” and the “New DSFH Scheme”)

(i)

(ii)

Old DSFH Scheme

The share option scheme of Dah Sing Financial Holdings
Limited (“DSFH”), the Bank’s ultimate holding company,
adopted on 28 April 2005 (the “Old DSFH Scheme”)
had expired on 28 April 2015. No further options can be
offered under the Old DSFH Scheme after its expiration
but the provisions of the Old DSFH Scheme remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
exercise of all options granted prior to the expiration of
the Old DSFH Scheme but not yet exercised at the time of
expiration.

During the year, the options granted to Mr. Harold Tsu-
Hing Wong, Director of the Bank, under the Old DSFH
Scheme which were outstanding were redeemed and
cancelled by DSFH and cash compensation was made
to Mr. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong for the cancellation in
accordance with the provisions of the Old DSFH Scheme.

New DSFH Scheme

At the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2015, the
shareholders of DSFH approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme of DSFH (the “New DSFH Scheme”).
During the year, no options were granted to Directors of

the Bank under the New DSFH Scheme and no Directors
had outstanding options under the New DSFH Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Dah Sing Banking Group Limited Share Option Schemes (the
“Old DSBG Scheme” and the “New DSBG Scheme”)

(ii)

Old DSBG Scheme

The share option scheme of Dah Sing Banking Group
Limited (“DSBG”), the Bank’s immediate holding
company, adopted on 12 June 2004 (the “Old DSBG
Scheme”) was terminated at the annual general meeting
of DSBG held on 27 May 2014. No further options can be
offered under the Old DSBG Scheme after its termination
but the provisions of the Old DSBG Scheme remain in full
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
exercise of all options granted prior to the termination of
the Old DSBG Scheme but not yet exercised at the time of
termination.

During the year, Messrs. Harold Tsu-Hing Wong, Gary
Pak-Ling Wang, Nicholas John Mayhew and Eddie Shing-
Tat Lau and Ms. Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong, Directors of
the Bank, who had outstanding options granted under
the Old DSBG Scheme, had acquired shares in DSBG
by exercising their options granted under the Old DSBG
Scheme.

New DSBG Scheme

At the annual general meeting held on 27 May 2014,
the shareholders of DSBG approved the adoption of a
new share option scheme of DSBG (the “New DSBG
Scheme”).

During the year, options were granted to Messrs. Gary
Pak-Ling Wang, Nicholas John Mayhew and Eddie Shing-
Tat Lau and Ms. Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong, Directors of the
Bank, under the New DSBG Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

(Continued)

(b) Dah Sing Banking Group Limited Share Option Schemes (the
“Old DSBG Scheme” and the “New DSBG Scheme”) (Continued)

(i)  New DSBG Scheme (Continued)

During the year, save for Messrs. Gary Pak-Ling Wang,
Nicholas John Mayhew and Eddie Shing-Tat Lau and Ms.
Phoebe Mei-Chun Wong, no other Directors of the Bank
had outstanding options granted under the New DSBG
Scheme and none of the Directors had acquired shares in
DSBG by exercising options granted under the New DSBG
Scheme.

Apart from the above, at no time during the year was the Bank, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors of the Bank to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Bank or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors do not have any service contracts with the Bank.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT
IN RELATION TO THE BANK’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation
to the Bank’s business to which the Bank, its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which a
Director of the Bank or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors of the Bank is
currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year ended
31 December 2018.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Bank were entered
into or existed during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of transactions with related parties of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 have been set out in Note 42 to the financial
statements.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, the Bank has fully complied with the requirements set out in
the Banking (Disclosure) Rules issued by the Hong Kong Monetary
Authority under section 60A of the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance.
The Bank has fully complied with such disclosure requirements.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Bank.

On behalf of the Board
David Shou-Yeh Wong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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HERRIZES
DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of the directors who have served on the boards of the
subsidiaries of the Bank during the year ended 31 December 2018 and
up to 26 March 2019, being the date of the Report of the Directors of
the Bank for the year, are set out below:

(in alphabetical order)

CHAN Hoi-Kit Frederick
CHAN Wai-Kin Cliff

CHANG Pui-Yuk Vanessa
CHENG Yu-Chung (Patrick CHENG)
CHIU Yuk-Fai Alick

HO Ka-Yeung Eric

KONG Yiu-Fai (Eddie KONG)
LAU Ka-Wai Frederick

LAU Shing-Tat Eddie

LI Hau-Tak (Gary LI)*
Nicholas John MAYHEW

NG Yuen-Tin

POON Clement

POON Wing-Fai Jimmy

SZE Tsai-To Robert

WANG Pak-Ling Gary
WONG Hon-Hing (Derek WONG)
WONG Mei-Chun Phoebe
WONG Shou-Yeh David
WONG Tsu-Hing Harold
YAU Ho-Wing Vincent

YUEN Yat-To (Henry YUEN)

*

Those who have resigned/ceased as a Director of the relevant
subsidiary(ies) of the Bank.
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i CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

#HZ=2018F 12 A 31 HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LAB® T ILA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

L
Note 2018 2017
MEMA Interest income 6,712,125 5,655,685
FBEXH Interest expense (2,559,303) (1,762,976)
ER B A Net interest income 7 4,152,822 3,892,709
R E RASUA Fee and commission income 1,477,833 1,328,752
fRi5E ke H Fee and commission expense (316,604) (276,345)
FREERASBKA Net fee and commission income 8 1,161,229 1,052,407
FEERA Net trading income 9 14,697 23,136
Hin&E A Other operating income 10 72,145 75,245
EERA Operating income 5,400,893 5,043,497
BB Operating expenses 11 (2,710,488) (2,528,162)
HBRBEE A 2 & EHEF Operating profit before impairment losses 2,690,405 2,515,335
EEREEE Credit impairment losses 13 (233,441) (270,882)
HNBRETRERBEEEZ Operating profit before gains and losses
W R B8 A 2 & E iR A on certain investments and fixed assets 2,456,964 2,244,453
HE H A EE & E 2 FEE Net loss on disposal of other fixed assets (1,932) (1,006)
TEMENTEARE 2 F R Net gain on fair value adjustment of
investment properties 57,488 136,643
HEA AT E 2 B EZFHTA Net gain on disposal of financial assets
Hith 2 EW SR E E 2 F W at fair value through other
comprehensive income 1,682 -
& I B 5 2 F N E Net gain on disposal of
available-for-sale securities - 280,312
P N a1 E Z BIEEE Impairment loss on the investment
in an associate 23 (633,000) (815,000)
FE(EEEE N A 2 ¥4 Share of results of an associate 659,708 628,449
FEAG RGBS 2 ¥ 4E Share of results of jointly controlled entities 27,234 22,485
BR B AR A Profit before taxation 2,568,144 2,496,336
A Taxation 14 (427,485)  (412,653)
ZR 4R 1T IR 3R PE Ak F B 0a A Profit for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Bank 2,140,659 2,083,683
FA2EEF 234 B 2 xR GE B RER 2 — The notes on pages 42 to 234 are an integral part of these
ZB5y o consolidated financial statements.
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e £ EWER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE2018F 12 A 31 H LLF Z For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LA T 74157~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
FERA Profit for the year 2,140,659 2,083,683
FEHM2E KRS Other comprehensive income for the year
AgEEEms BERE Items that may be reclassified
IaBRAMIER ¢ to the consolidated income statement:
BHIEE Investments in securities
A ERE BEESE) T AEKAM Net loss on debt instruments at fair value
2HEENES TR ZFEE through other comprehensive income (415,578) -
RN Em 2 AIMREERSF 2 Net gain on available-for-sale securities
U S recognised in equity - 164,350
FU R IR R R Net gain realised and transferred to
income statement upon:
—HENAFEFEBEHE - Disposal of debt instruments at fair value
STAEMEEBEZEF TR through other comprehensive income (1,682) -
—LEIREEERES — Disposal of available-for-sale securities = (280,312)
BE il 2 BEFIA Deferred income tax related to the above 73,537 1,874
(343,723) (114,088)
HE G IME B TSR Exchange differences arising on translation of
HIRE =R the financial statements of foreign entities (306,372) 385,150
TEEHMHBEEGRE WERMIER ¢ Items that will not be reclassified to the

consolidated income statement:

AT A2 B &8 AHAM Net gain on equity instruments at fair value
2EBEERETE 2 )F s through other comprehensive income 1,608 -
B Ll 2 BT IE Deferred income tax related to the above (265) -
1,343 -
MRTIER 2 FEHAM Other comprehensive (loss)/income
2 (518) e for the year, net of tax (648,752) 271,062
HNBRBEE 2 FEE2ERGAE Total comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax 1,491,907 2,354,745
FA2BEF 234 B 2T IR GEE MRz 2 — The notes on pages 42 to 234 are an integral part of these
2L o consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

20184 12 A 31 H As at 31 December 2018

(LAB® T LA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

BaE
Note 2018 2017

BE ASSETS
e RERITHAERR Cash and balances with banks 17 16,352,429 17,343,673
ERT1E12EAR Placements with banks maturing between

F| HAR9 7 3K one and twelve months 10,241,980 11,856,241
FHEEERENES Trading securities 18 7,621,184 8,837,554
ARFEFEBEET ABR Financial assets at fair value

MNEmMEE through profit or loss 18 327,483 353,347
TESRTE Derivative financial instruments 19 727,043 897,967
FHEERKEMERR Advances and other accounts 20 136,186,907 126,736,970
AT EF 2 A &8 AHAM Financial assets at fair value through

2HEBENEREE other comprehensive income 21 41,654,436 =
A EE S Available-for-sale securities 21 - 38,223,189
LA ARSI BR M S R & = Financial assets at amortised cost 22 9,132,720 =
S LliEE Held-to-maturity securities 22 - 6,233,704
R NFIRE Investment in an associate 23 3,620,597 4,134,651
HEZEHIEEIEE Investments in jointly controlled entities 24 87,691 81,157
Bl Goodwill 25 811,690 811,690
mEEE Intangible assets 25 58,252 58,252
TEREMETEEE Premises and other fixed assets 27 2,923,147 2,948,252
B Investment properties 28 1,236,930 1,179,442
BVERATH IR & B Current income tax assets 1,563 137
BEEFIBEE Deferred income tax assets 34 154,354 81,492
BEA Total assets 231,138,406 219,777,718
=N LIABILITIES
HRITIER Deposits from banks 3,797,556 2,277,391
PTESRTE Derivative financial instruments 19 473,273 682,784
FHEEERENEE Trading liabilities 30 5,758,954 8,668,508
EPER Deposits from customers 31 173,910,012 162,726,496
BEITHIFRE Certificates of deposit issued 32 6,535,076 7,183,706
BEES Subordinated notes 33 5,449,082 5,487,366
HEmiRE RTER Other accounts and accruals 8,237,099 6,096,111
BNEATR 1B & & Current income tax liabilities 593,997 451,650
BELEFIBAE Deferred income tax liabilities 34 17,508 86,578
aEa85 Total liabilities 204,772,557 193,660,590
FEm EQUITY
&N Share capital 37 6,200,000 6,200,000
HAb @ (BREEREREF) Other reserves (including retained earnings) 38 19,267,262 19,018,541
BRRES Shareholders’ funds 25,467,262 25,218,541
BEIMERMTA Additional equity instruments 39 898,587 898,587
EmET Total equity 26,365,849 26,117,128
ExkaEa Total equity and liabilities 231,138,406 219,777,718
EEEN2019F 3 A 26 b R o Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26

March 2019.

Esp¥ FHHE David Shou-Yeh Wong Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
- EE g Director Managing Director

FRAEF2B4AZMEDNANGAMBERER 2 —

B -

The notes on pages 42 to 234 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE2018F 12 A 31 H LLF Z For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LA T 74157~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

RRITRRELER
Attributable to the shareholders of the Bank
B
BHEMETR
BRA HitfkeE REBAF  Additional BEAE
Share Other Retained equity Total
capital reserves earnings  instruments equity
201841 A1 HE# Balance at 1 January 2018 6,200,000 1,368,751 17,649,790 898,587 26,117,128
iaEAB B SRS & Changes on initial application
FORE of HKFRS 9 - 50,626 (380,254) - (329,628)
iR IE A ARS8 Impact of initial application of
FIRRIEMEE AR HKFRS 9 on share of
ZHE an associate - 25,445 (284,490 - (259,045)
&E522018%1 818 Restated balance at
o323 1 January 2018 6,200,000 1,444,822 16,985,046 898,587 25,528,455
FEER Profit for the year - - 2,140,659 - 2,140,659
FEHEMEZEEE Other comprehensive loss
for the year - (648,752) - - (648,752)
PARRE S S AR 1E B Provision for equity-settled
ERERI 2 B4 share-based compensation = 1,420 = = 1,420
BIMEEMT A2 Distribution payment of
IEEE A additional equity instruments - - (39,033) - (39,033)
PR LR RS - EFTHE Reclassification of net change in
DFEFEAHEHA fair value of equity instruments
Hin2EN a1 at fair value through other
TREZATFEZSFE comprehensive income upon
(Brire) derecognition, net of tax - 14,531 (14,531) = =
2017 EREIR A 2017 final dividend - - (434,000) - (434,000)
2018 GF R EARR S 2018 interim dividend - - (182,900) - (182,900)
201812 A 31 B8R Balance at 31 December 2018 6,200,000 812,021 18,455,241 898,587 26,365,849
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i CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

#ZE20184 12 A 31 HILFE (4) For the year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(LAB® T 7LA517R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

AT E(E
Attributable to the shareholders of the Bank

e
EatTA
R Hfth A REEH Additional @ a st
Share Other Retained equity Total
capital reserves earnings  instruments equity
20171 A1 B&#% Balance at 1 January 2017 6,200,000 1,097,188 16,058,002 - 23,355,190
FEGH Profit for the year - - 2,083,683 - 2,083,683
FEH 2 Ak Other comprehensive income
for the year - 271,062 - - 271,062
PARRRE 2 15 BARR (1 % Provision for equity-settled
ER R < 1 share-based compensation - 501 - - 501
FATRIMERILTA Issue of additional equity
instruments - - - 898,587 898,587
BIMERIET A Distribution payment of
IKEFIA additional equity instruments - - (2,651) - (2,651)
MEZENHE Reclassification of properties = = 62,556 = 62,556
2016 FARERR S 2016 final dividend - - (390,600) - (390,600)
2017 FH AR E 2017 interim dividend - - (161,200) - (161,200)
201712 A 31 B Balance at 31 December 2017 6,200,000 1,368,751 17,649,790 898,587 26,117,128
FA2EEF 234 B2 IANGE M EHREK 2 — The notes on pages 42 to 234 are an integral part of these
25 o consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE2018F 12 A 31 H LLF Z For the year ended 31 December 2018
(LA T 74157~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2 A Ol
/\‘/\ Eﬁi//lbil%m#

L
Note 2018 2017
RETFH2HERE Cash flows from operating activities
KETER (TR TRAREFRE Net cash (used in)/from operating activities 40(a)  (2,870,440) 1,523,128
RETBHZHERE Cash flows from investing activities
BEHMETEEE Purchase of other fixed assets (173,833) (129,101)
6 M [ TE B E P S 5K 1E Proceeds from disposal of
other fixed assets 134 122
WEEEFTRAR TR Net cash used in investing activities (173,699) (128,979)
RETBHZRERE Cash flows from financing activities
BRIEEER Repayment of subordinated notes 40(c) - (1,660,074)
BITRRIMERET A Issue of additional equity instruments - 897,891
BIMERSIE T B 7 IR FE Distribution payment on additional
equity instrument (39,033) -
S EETREER RER Interest paid on subordinated notes
’“5’%2 FE and debt securities issued 40(c) (293,730) (332,236)
k3 E AR S Dividends paid on ordinary shares (616,900) (551,800)
BEEBATAR R Net cash used in financing activities (949,663)  (1,646,219)
ReREFRLSEE NI FHE Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,993,802) (252,070)
FYHeMERHEEIER Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 19,545,608 19,621,212
fEREE 7 & Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (134,202) 176,466
FERESRERRESER Cash and cash equivalents at end
of the year 40(b) 15,417,604 19,545,608
FA2EEF 234 B 2 M ARNGE M HRE 2 — The notes on pages 42 to 234 are an integral part of these
5 o consolidated financial statements.
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B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

1. —RER
RFBITERAR ([ARF1T]) BEFBE AR (F
HIAERE]DERS  BFKPEREEZER
17 EEIRIT R EM AR S BARTS o

AERIT T —FEIE B S A & mhidds - bt
BEBBFELTITE 1085 AR O 3642 ©

RRTZEREEBRRBDAHEREEERA A
(TRFEr ) /REE—HLMAT -

BB AERIN 0 IR A B R IRER LA EE T ThL
FI/R - WER2019F3 A26 HES T2t %
% o

2. FEETHBREE

AT RREAMBREAFEN ERSHBR
BB AR - EBE M FEPTRARE B -

2.1 mEE%E

REBZ RGN BHREIEBEASTMAE ([B
BERMAE ) FMBEH 2B EREAN RS
HA([ BBV ERESER] - AEEMEERE
ROESMBREER - BEGTER([BEE
SEAIDUREREBZHE) A LTBEMNZ
G RBIRERE R AHESIFE 622 EimARE o

ERAMBRRTDBBEELKATRERE - A
RIREYME ARAFEAEEREHTFAEME
ARENEMEE  FEREERZZEREER
SREBEMNATEFEAEESHHABRRENS
MEENREREBE(BEITAETIR) ZEMELH
B WRAFHETR -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Dah Sing Bank, Limited (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) provide retail banking, commercial banking and related
financial services in Hong Kong, Macau, and the People’s Republic of
China.

The Bank is a financial institution incorporated in Hong Kong. The
address of its registered office is 36th Floor, Everbright Centre, 108
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The ultimate holding company is Dah Sing Financial Holdings Limited
(“DSFH”), a listed company in Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands
of Hong Kong dollars (HK$’000), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 26 March 2019.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the reporting years presented,
unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs” is a collective term which includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investment properties, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets and financial liabilities held
for trading, and financial assets and financial liabilities (including
derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in applying the
Group’s accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have
a significant impact on the financial statements in the period the
assumptions changed. Management believes that the underlying
assumptions are appropriate and that the Group’s financial
statements therefore present the financial position and results fairly.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new and amended standards have been adopted
by the Group for the first time for the financial year beginning on
or after 1 January 2018:

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 9 issued by the HKICPA
with effect from 1 January 2018, which resulted in
changes in accounting policies and adjustments to
the amounts previously recognised in the financial
statements.

As permitted by the transitional provisions of HKFRS 9,
the Group elected not to restate comparative figures. Any
adjustments to the carrying amounts of financial assets
and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in
the opening retained earnings and other reserves of the
current period.

Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential
amendments to HKFRS 7 disclosures have also only been
applied to the current period. The comparative period
notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the
prior year.
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B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FESHHEBE@m) 2.
21 mBEEXE @) 2.1

(FF) REEEFRZHTRASIEETER) (8

(1) BEPBEREENFEIF(EH
TEMN %)

RATEM B HREERE IREHA
SEEFHeRmEELSRAGBZE
R DERFENSRMEEZHEDN
SRTBREE - BAMBHRELF
ORMEAMEBRT T FREMTALZ
H At 2= RI| (A0 8 B 75 3 5 RSB 7 5%
(ERITE : HFE)) -

TR T X RBRRAETEMEREE
AIEQSRBARE 2 FENRE

SREERABIEESSAERIZE39
SRH 2017 12 A 31 A RIRH BT
HREAERIZE O 7R 201841 A1 HHE
Mz st 255 KR E LR R R 0
™

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The adoption of HKFRS 9 has resulted in changes in
our accounting policies for recognition, classification
and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities and impairment of financial assets. HKFRS
9 also significantly amends other standards dealing
with financial instruments such as HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”.

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the
adoption of HKFRS 9 on the Group.

The measurement category and the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities in accordance with HKAS 39
on 31 December 2017 and HKFRS 9 at the opening of 1
January 2018 are compared and shown as follows:



B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FEEHHEBEm 2.

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 wmEE%Em)
(FF) KEFRNZFRAEIEE

21
ZEAl (4#)

(1) BAEYBREEFOF(ER

N

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group

(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

TEY &)
BB ERI%E39 5 BRMBRELENE
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
2R fREE TEER fREE
CTREE Measurement Carrying Measurement Carrying
Financial assets category amount category amount
ERITHER R BERpY AR 29,199,914 BRRk R 29,195,899
Balances and placements (EFR R EYGR) Amortised cost
with banks Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)
BREF LM Bk A 126,736,970 BRRR 126,442,891
Advances and other (BERRREWER) Amortised cost
accounts Amortised cost
(Loans and receivables)
FEEBERGENES NATEHSR 8,837,554 UATEHEE 8,837,554
Trading securities HEE ABa HEE A Ba
(HEEEAR) Fair value through
Fair value through profit or loss
profit or loss
(Held for trading)
EHEE WATEHEER 38,223,189 IAFEFER 33,581,014
Investment securities HEsar A2 EkE HES T AHA
(ATEEHE) 2EME
Fair value through Fair value through
other comprehensive income other comprehensive
(Available-for-sale) income
BoRpR (FE2IH) 6,233,704 BRR R 10,910,299
Amortised cost Amortised cost
(Held-to-maturity)
AR = A 28,429 AAFEFER 28,429
HEPHARR HEBH ABR
($85€) (RBERABRELEL
Fair value through FEOHRZEBEMHE)
profit or loss Fair value through
(Designated) profit or loss
(Categorised based
on requirements
of HKFRS 9)
NAFEFSE 324,918 NRFHESE 324,918
HEFHAER HEHH ABR
(ER#HITELR) (FRB BTSSR
Fair value through FIRZHEMHE)

profit or loss

(With embedded derivative)

Fair value through
profit or loss
(Categorised based
on requirements

of HKFRS 9)

SHEMEL SRR BLBMEE -

There were no changes to the classification and measurement
of financial liabilities.
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B FS R Y o
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FEEHBEBEm

2.1 wmEE%Em)
(FF) KEFRAZFRACIEETER (18)

M

FARYBERELERF O H(E R
TEM#)

AEERESRTAZ D RIREBYH
WERERNE W 2 EEFBERENM &
2.6 ERZERKRIIBZEFH A
R EXRREMNAT -

MEXRBHRHEE TEBHES
MBI AR ERIWE - R
HEM I E LR EISRA -
AEBFDOBR/AHEE -
BAZERFAHE AL
BHHERBESRERN -
AEBRRZEEF AR EW
BMAENBREERF/BERZEBE
AMBAE - ZEEEETEY
BHEENFE IR T AR
B AGE -

RABEMBRSEAF MR
Al BETEBEFEAHREE
BRHREAFEEH D RER
ERMER - MBI
SEREANFORE  RFEEZ
FREEE (F B E AR R
EEAVBRELENEIRT
BNEEREEET B EVAE
R IR R AN AR ©

AEBEFTBMBEREER
FIRART FEEETAIHE
HWIEE S IEE B MEmMER
B E o RREESEA R
ARFEFEREESFAE
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The Group’s accounting policies on the classification
of financial instruments under HKFRS 9 are set out in
Note 2.6. The application of these policies resulted in the
reclassifications set out in the table above and explained
below.

a. Certain debt securities are held by the Treasury
Division in a separate portfolio for long-term yield.
Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, these securities
were classified as available-for-sale. These
securities may be sold, but such sales are not
expected to be more than infrequent. The Group
considers that these securities are held within a
business model whose objective is to hold assets
to collect the contractual cash flows. These assets
are classified as measured at amortised cost under
HKFRS 9.

b. Before the adoption of HKFRS 9, certain debt
securities were reclassified out of the available-
for-sale categories to held-to-maturity at their fair
values. On the adoption of HKFRS 9, the carrying
amount of those assets was adjusted so that their
amortised cost under HKFRS 9 was as if those
assets were accounted for at amortised cost from
their inception.

© The Group has elected to irrevocably designate
strategic investments in a portfolio of non-trading
equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) as permitted
under HKFRS 9. These securities were previously
classified as available-for-sale. The changes in fair
value of such securities under HKFRS 9 will no
longer be reclassified to profit or loss when they are
disposed of.
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2.1 wmEE%Em)
(FF) KEFRAZFRACIEETER (18)
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AEBFEBEEENATE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group

(Continued)

1)

HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

The Group holds hybrid debt instruments which had
previously been designated at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL”). As part of the transition to
HKFRS 9, these securities are part of an “other”
business model and so required to be classified as
FVPL, instead of designated FVPL.

In addition to the above, the following debt
instruments have been reclassified to new
categories under HKFRS 9, as their previous
categories under HKAS 39 were ‘retired’, with no
changes to their measurement basis:

(i) Those previously classified as available-
for-sale and now classified as measured at
FVOCI; and

(i) Those previously classified as held-to-
maturity and now classified as measured at
amortised cost.
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B FS R Y o
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FESTHEHEHEm 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
21 wREE%E @) 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(FF) ZEEFRNZF RAGIEETER (58) (a New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)
(1) BAETBHEENEIF(SR (1)  HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)
TEMN %)

REBH O BEEERNARR 2 2/ E
ZE - TRIIREMNR2018F12 A31H
ZRHERMEZSFEELAREHD
BOMERRBEZEBMBRMESE
RIS 95 2 B ) M /BRER 2 A FEWK

For financial assets that have been reclassified to the
amortised cost category, the following table shows their
fair value as at 31 December 2018 and the fair value gain
or loss that would have been recognised if these financial
assets had not been reclassified as part of the transition to

K ETE HKFRS 9:
2018
BN BEAHEE (FRASTER Reclassifications from available-for-sale
F3HE D) BEERR A (HKAS 39 classification) to amortised cost
W12 A31 BZAFE Fair value as at 31 December 4,579,920
WEEMEEWRENHDLEMA Fair value loss that would have been
RERNER 2 A TEEE recognised during the year if the
financial asset had not been reclassified (57,500)

M20184F1 A1 H (BB EE
BB 2 VIR ER BER) - AE@EE
BEETEKERARASEREG 2
MEENEBRAVEKEMIAS
EERE 2 BB SRS ERIZE 95
R - RMTEHEEEE ((FEHREE
BB D EESIBASBARE SR
BEELEINBELES -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

On 1 January 2018 (the date of initial application of
HKFRS 9), the Group’s management has assessed which
business models apply to the financial assets held by
the Group and has classified its financial instruments
into the appropriate HKFRS 9 categories. The adoption
of expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach resulted in
an increase in impairment allowances required to be
provided on the Group’s financial assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

@

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)

Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact, net of
tax, of transition to HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial
position of the Group.

EETl
HERFEN EifE
AVEHEAE  THHER
REMALMRE  RENEERR
WENeREE  ZuBBAK
Reclassfication  SIEMERER

FEReH flom  Reclassifcation RERIRES

BHENE avallable-for-sale from BELT EHZ0%

RtT & secuitiesto avallable-or-sale BARE Bend Hotg &

128382 BIEH  financial assets and FERZ K& 1B1R2Z

ERgn EEHE  atfarvalue heldo-matuity  Recognition Eing g

Closing balance Recognition ~ through other ~ securties to of expected  Reclassification ~ Opening balance

under HKAS 39 at of expected  comprehensive financial assetsat  creditlossby  of investments under HKFRS 9 at

31 December 2017 credit loss income  amortised cost  anassociale by anassociate 1 January 2018

RERERNER Cash and balances vith banks 17343673 131 - - - - 113
TRt 212 A Placement ith banks maturing between

MEIEEES one and twelve months 11,856,241 (3284) - - - - 118507

REESRAMER Advances and other accounts 126,736,970 (294.079) - - - - 1540801

WATEERERSAL  Financia assets at fai value through

2EhEMEREE other comprehensive income - - 30N - - - 30N

TitERS Avallable-for-sale securties 38,223,189 - (RS0 dedim - - -

DERAATENEHEE Financia assets at amortised cost - (36 - 1091591 - - 10910299

BEYEES Held-to-maturity securies 6,233,704 - - (6,233,704 - - -

BeNARE Investment in an associate 4,134,651 - - - (259211) 167 3875607

EithEAE Deferred income tax assets 81,492 81530 - - - - 163,022

EHEARER Other accounts and accruals 6,006,111 140456 - - s - 6,236,567

EERERR Defered income tax abites 86,578 - - 7028 - - 93,506

RaEx Retained eamings 17,649,790 (380254) - - (284,490) - 1698506

REEIGE Investment reveluation eserve 318,204 17602 - 33,004 25219 17 394,296
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T ITAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2.

2.1

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

EETBRBEm® 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
RBLEXE () 2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
() KEEFRP < T RANSETER (%) (a) New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)
(1) BBEYBREEREZIF(ER (1)  HKFRS 9, “Financial instruments” (Continued)
TEMN %)
TRAEEB BRI 395 2 B 2% The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing
EERIRE S 2 FEARBREE RS impairment allowance measured in accordance with the
HIR BB SIS R FE 998 2 THH HKAS 39 incurred loss model to the new impairment
EEEAGT 2 2018F1 A1 A2 allowance measured in accordance with the HKFRS 9
REZER 2 HER expected loss model at 1 January 2018:
BEBET BEBHERSE
ERE398 EREIH
HEEE HEEE
Impairment Impairment
allowance allowance
under i under
TEER Measurement category HKAS 39 Remeasurement HKFRS 9
B & RERTHER Cash and balances with banks - 731 731
EHT1 E12 HARZH Placements with banks maturing between
B one and twelve months = 3,284 3,284
WATEFEBEZEFA Financial assets at fair value through
EfzmianeREE other comprehensive income = 17,602 17,602
DB SRR AT S BB E Financial assets at amortised cost = 5,632 5,632
EUES Trade bills 14,229 (11,945) 2,284
RPER Advances to customers 659,046 299,354 958,400
JERH IS R EAbER B Accrued interest and other accounts 11,431 6,670 18,101
BHRERIBER Loan commitments and financial guarantees = 140,456 140,456
CH Total 684,706 461,784 1,146,490
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the Group
(Continued)

(2) HKFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with

customers”

The HKICPA has issued HKFRS 15 as the new standard
for the recognition of revenue, which has become effective
for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018.
This replaces HKAS 18 which covers contracts for goods
and services and HKAS 11 which covers construction
contracts. The new standard is based on the principle that
revenue is recognised when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer. The standard permits either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach for the
adoption.

The adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have any material
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

(b)  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after
1 January 2018, and have not been early adopted in preparing
these consolidated financial statements. Key changes of the
new standards are summarised as follows:

(1) HKFRS 16, “Leases”

HKFRS 16 will result in almost all leases being recognised
on the balance sheet, as the distinction between operating
and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial
liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only exceptions
are short-term and low-value leases. Some of the
commitments may be covered by the exception for short-
term and low value leases and some commitments may
relate to arrangements that will not qualify as leases under
HKFRS 16.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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2.1

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
(Continued)

(1) HKFRS 16, “Leases” (Continued)

The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
Group’s operating leases. The implementation is expected
to increase assets and liabilities by approximately HK$500
million.

The new standard is mandatory for financial years
commencing on or after 1 January 2019. The Group also
intends to apply the simplified transition approach and will
not restate comparative amounts for the year prior to first
adoption.

There are no other HKFRSs or interpretations that are effective
from 1 January 2018 or not yet effective that would be expected
to have a material impact on the Group.

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Bank and all its subsidiaries made up to 31

December.

(@) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
(@) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously
held interest measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the statement
of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required
upon receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the
investee’s net assets including goodwill.
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2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
(b)  Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
as transactions with equity holders of the Bank. For purchases
from non-controlling interests, the difference between any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint
venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are

reclassified to profit or loss.

(c) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control. Investments in associates are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting and
are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s investment in an
associate includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment

loss) identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits
or losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds
its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)
(c)  Associates (Continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to “share of results of an associate” in the
income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses in associate are recognised in the

income statement.

In the Bank’s statement of financial position, the investments
in associates are stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses. The results of associates are accounted for by the Bank
on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(d)  Jointly controlled entities

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties undertake an economic activity, which is
subject to joint control and none of the participating parties has
unilateral control over the economic activity.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are accounted for using equity method of accounting. The
consolidated income statement includes the Group’s share
of the results of jointly controlled entities for the year, and
the consolidated statement of financial position includes the
Group’s share of the net assets of the jointly controlled entities.
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FEEHBEBEm

2.3 FBEKRAKRZH

PRE R A RIARFEFER LT AR
fEEmREEEBTARAHEEE SN
B R 32 75 e B BRI RORTE R U Bk
A o

i

ERF R R EANTECREEXTHEA
S HERRAS I B AR R HA PO D ) B A SR
BXHWITE - BRANXEA K ST AERG
BRI BRI (AER) Rz At AR RER S
WXHRAZEMEEIERABZREFELZ
EARRIRE - EHEERNXE  AREZSR
TAZAARNIGR WRFBEZITER) ME
AERESRE  BTERARBLEZEERL I
AEBRAEARNARSET TR T REE
KRERERFNECERRMEEE RHEUNAR
FrE E MR BRI -

T

FHeRAES —HepEENBERREE
BERIE - BN S ARREE A R ERBIER
P& FARR IR AR R 2 M 8 2 MR R B HER -

24 BREBERASWARIH

REBTPANZIRKEEMAERAREPEHNNA
SIRZ KB & - AEERE P RS IRES 2 1EHl
RS RERUIA -

'y

s

EREHMEASERETHE ZRPERE - 8
BR#% % 2 AR5 B I B A AR 75 2 X AR 7S HA R 1R R 4
{EEERER -

BRARZEZZHEBIINEE  EERBRAD
S ARTS ) 2 WARR 5B ERFFER ©

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recognised in the income statement
for all debt instruments measured at amortised cost and fair value
through other comprehensive income and available-for-sale securities
using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the
interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash
flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit
losses. The calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been
written down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is
recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.4 Fee and commission income and expense

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is
measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a
customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control
over a service to a customer.

Fees for ongoing account management, custody services and other
servicing fees that are continuously provided over an extended period
of time are recognised on systematic basis over the period the service
is provided.

Revenue related to transaction-based arrangements such as
interchange, broking services and import or export services is
recognised at the point in time when the transaction takes place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Dividend income

Dividends are recognised in the income statement when the Group’s
right to receive payment is established.

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities
Effective from 1 January 2018
Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus the principal
repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the
effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any
loss allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any impairment
allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The
calculation does not consider expected credit losses and includes
transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid
or received that are integral to the effective interest rate, such as
origination fees. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial
assets (assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition) the
Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which is
calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset instead
of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of expected
credit losses in estimated future cash flows.

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial liability
is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original
effective interest rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Measurement methods (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial
liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset
or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs that are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an ECL allowance
is recognised for financial assets measured at amortised cost and
investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI which results in
an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is
newly originated.

When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the
transaction price on initial recognition, the Group recognises the
difference as follows:

(@)  When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active
market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1 input)
or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from
observable markets, the difference is recognised as a gain or
loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of
recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is determined
individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument,
deferred until the instrument’s fair value can be determined
using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.
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(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets

() Classification and subsequent measurement

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and
classifies its financial assets in the following measurement

categories:
o Fair value through profit or loss;
° Fair value through other comprehensive income; or

o Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments
are described below:

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition
of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as
loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables
purchased from clients in factoring arrangements.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depend on:

° the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and
° the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments
into one of the following three measurement categories:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”), and that
are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised
cost. The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted
by any ECL allowance recognised and measured as
described in section (ii) below. Interest income from these
financial assets is calculated using the effective interest
rate method.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

° FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that
are not designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive income (“OCI”), except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and foreign
exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised
cost which are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to
profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is
calculated using the effective interest rate method.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL
and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss and presented in the income statement in the
period in which it arises.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is,
whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual
cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual
cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If
neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for
trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as
part of “other” business model and measured at FVPL. Factors
considered by the Group in determining the business model for
a group of assets include past experience on how the cash flows
for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance
is evaluated and reported to key management personnel,
how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are
compensated. Securities held for trading are held principally for
the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of
financial instruments that are managed together and for which
there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking. These securities are classified in the “other” business
model and measured at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and
sell, the Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest (the
“SPPI test”). In making this assessment, the Group considers
whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement (i.e. interest includes only consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending
risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending
arrangement). Where the contractual terms introduce exposure
to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and
measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting
period following the change. Such changes are expected to be
very infrequent and none occurred during the period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that do
not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a
residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of equity
instruments include basic ordinary shares.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (Continued)
Equity instruments (Continued)

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss, except where the Group’s
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably
designate an equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Group’s policy is to designate
equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are
held for strategic purposes. When this election is used, fair
value gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal.
Dividends, when representing a return on such investments,
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in
the “Net trading income” in the income statement.

(i)  Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at amortised
cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Group
recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting
date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

° An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;

° The time value of money; and

o Reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
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2. FEEHBEBE@® 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

26 SREEREE @ 2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

E 2018 1 A1 HELER &) Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

SREE (#) Financial assets (Continued)
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(i)  Impairment (Continued)

Impairment allowance of financial assets measured at amortised
cost is presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount
of the assets. Impairment allowance of loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts is recognised as a provision as
part of “Other accounts and accruals”. The carrying amount of
debt instruments measured at FVOCI is their fair value. Their
impairment allowance is recognised as part of “Investment

revaluation reserve”.

Note 3.2.2 provides more detail of how the ECL allowance is
measured.

(iii)  Modification of loans

The Group sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies
the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this
happens, the Group assesses whether or not the new terms are
substantially different to the original terms. The Group does this
by considering, among others, the following factors:

° If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the
modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to
amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

° Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such
as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially
affects the risk profile of the loan.

. Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower
is not in financial difficulty.

° Significant change in the interest rate.

° Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

° Insertion of collateral, other security or credit
enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)  Modification of loans (Continued)

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises
the original financial asset and recognises a “new” asset at fair
value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset.
The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to be the
date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes,
including for the purpose of determining whether a significant
increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group
also assesses whether the new financial asset recognised is
deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially
in circumstances where the renegotiation was driven by the
debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments.
Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised in profit
or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or
modification does not result in derecognition, and the Group
recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised
cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification
gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount
is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the
original effective interest rate (or credit-adjusted effective
interest rate for purchased or originated credit-impaired
financial assets).

(iv)  Derecognition other than on a modification

Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when
the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets
have expired, or when they have been transferred and either
(i) the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the
Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows
to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as “pass
through” transfers that result in derecognition if the Group:
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
(iv)  Derecognition other than on a modification (Continued)

o Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects
equivalent amounts from the assets;

° Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

o Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the
assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under
standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and
borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the
basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria
for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to
certain securitisation transactions in which the Group retains a
subordinated residual interest.

When the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the
assets have been transferred, and the Group neither transfers
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership,
and the Group has retained control of the transferred assets, the
Group applies continuing involvement approach.

Under this approach, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement
and recognise the associated liability, to reflect the rights and
obligations retained by the Group. The net carrying amount of
the transferred asset and associated liability is: (a) the amortised
cost of the rights and obligations retained by the Group, if the
transferred asset is measured at amortised cost; or (b) equal to
the fair value of the rights and obligations retained by the Group
when measured on a stand-alone basis, if the transferred asset
is measured at fair value.
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2. FEEHBEBME@® 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

26 SREEREE @ 2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

E 2018 1 A1 HELER &) Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)

cRIaE Financial liabilities
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(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are
classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except
for:

° Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
this classification is applied to derivatives, financial
liabilities held for trading (e.g. short positions in the
trading booking) and other financial liabilities designated
as such at initial recognition. Gains or losses on financial
liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are
presented partially in other comprehensive income (the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that
liability, which is determined as the amount that is not
attributable to changes in market conditions that give rise
to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is
unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an
accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses
attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are
also presented in profit or loss;

. Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial
assets which did not qualify for derecognition, or when
the continuing involvement approach applies. When the
transfer of financial asset did not qualify for derecognition,
a financial liability is recognised for the consideration
received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the
Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial
liability; when continuing involvement approach applies;
and

° Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective from 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

(i)  Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished
(i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of
debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well
as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial
liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
The terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any
fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the
original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the
discounted present value of the remaining cash flows of the
original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors,
such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in,
changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features
attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also
taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or
modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment,
any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain
or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification
is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are
amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.
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2. FEEHBEBME@® 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

26 SREEREE @ 2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

20184 1 A1 HAT4£3 Effective prior to 1 January 2018

SRIEE Financial assets
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(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition, except for subsequent reclassification
meeting specified definition of relevant asset reclassification.

(@ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets
held for trading, and those designated at fair value through
profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short
term or if so designated by management. Derivatives
are also categorised as held for trading unless they are
designated as hedges.

The Group designates a financial asset upon initial
recognition as designated at fair value through profit or
loss (fair value option) if the following criteria are met:

. It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement
or recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to
as “an accounting mis-match”) that would otherwise
arise from measuring assets or recognising the
gains and losses on them on different bases;

o A group of financial assets is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and this is the basis on which
information about the assets is provided internally to
the key management personnel such as the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer; or

o Financial assets with embedded derivatives where
the characteristics and risks of the embedded
derivatives are not closely related to the host
contracts.



2. E

S HEEBE @

26 SREEREE @
20184 1 A1 HAT£X (&)
SREE (#)

()

DHE (&)

(F) UATEIEARS
RS BEE (@)

AR

ERARFEIREREZ CBEERN
IR REER S [HEE AR FERT
EREEHTABRRNERMEE]

(2) EFREKRIA

ER R UG RR B ERTSME
WA BEEHRA EERAEBAIENTE
eREE  BR(F)ZSAEEFEN
RN EHARNEEL DB AFHEEE
REnemEE  RaSFAKEEY
BRRERARBEERAATFEFELRE
P ABENEREE ¢ (2)%FR
SEEVRRERREE R HEEN
EREE  X(MZELEERER
B R TREASNZ RE T AU = A1 5A
RETEEMD -

() AIfEE

AHHESREEDRIEE SIEE
IR ATV E IR 2 E0TES
BEE - IHHERETIEEBIFE
HRFHEAEEREE TR
R ERYREEREFTAHED
RE -

(T) H=2H

2R B E TH AR E kA R K
BMLEERHA - MASEEEER
RESANMENFEIRZITES
BEEE

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Classification (Continued)

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets for which the fair value option is applied
are recognised in the statement of financial position as
“Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss”.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market, other than: (a) those that the Group
intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which
are classified as held for trading, and those that the
Group upon initial recognition designates as at fair value
through profit or loss; (b) those that the Group upon
initial recognition designates as available-for-sale; or (c)
those for which the Group may not recover substantially
all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration.

(c) Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated in this category or not classified in
any of the other categories. Available-for-sale investments
are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of
time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity
or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity
prices.

(d)  Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity.
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2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Reclassification

The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading
financial asset out of the held-for-trading category if the
financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in
the near term. Financial assets are permitted to be reclassified
out of the held-for-trading category only in rare circumstances
arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely
to recur in the near term. In addition, the Group may choose to
reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans
and receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-sale
categories if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these
financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the
date of reclassification. The Group may also reclassify financial
assets that no longer qualify for recognition as loans and
receivables to available-for-sale if the financial assets become
quoted in active market.

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification
date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost
as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses
before reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective
interest rates for financial assets reclassified to loans and
receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at
the reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash
flows from the financial assets will require adjustment to the
effective interest rates prospectively.

On reclassification of a financial asset out of the “at fair value
through profit or loss” category, all embedded derivatives are
re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)  Recognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the
trade date — the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the income statement.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

The bases for the determination of fair value of financial assets
are set out in Note 3.5(a).

(@) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated at fair value at inception are included directly
in the income statement and are reported as part of “Net
trading income”. Interest income and expense derived
from and incurred on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are included under “Net interest income” in
the income statement.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost less
any impairment loss. For loans and receivables that are
subject to fair value hedge arrangements, the hedged
elements of the loans and receivables hedged are carried
at fair value.
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. FEEHBEBEm 2.

26 EREEREFEm@

20184 1 A1 HAT£3% ()

TREE @)
(iii) SRARETE (B)

(R) AIEHE

AR EeREERMAMNEZE®

(BREMRZKA) 2 X FHEEDS
R - BRARHERE  RNEME

@W\EE£Q$EW§&%E®ﬁ
BEEEBRAERAHEHEEREEY
BE 5 W ms SR EHERR AN ) - WM RS AR
RNEE BEEBMSRMEEWKILE
RALE o RIETERE  CHERNEZ
IR B ET D EE R -

WA ESREEREE SRE
R ERRA R 2 WaE s EIRE
Mo EE R

MEERBERMN AT EAL N iR
HBR - DBR/AAHHEZERIEEE
Z B 5 Wees e BRI S AR FERR © AT
HHERATAZ IR BRAE BRI
IR 2 R ) e S B M s B TR
BEWA I HTHER

(T)

REIMRE(BRERNRIIER S
AR A FEENHER - L& E
REBRANSRIRBRKAGE - 52
B B R WERIR £ & Z BT AR
B AEH o

FZ 55

MBINAM =R - W28 DFEME
WAL o fii 45 2 5 IR B 1R EE AR
B ZREZRA/REKREEZHN
B WRIRERERRFEZIRE
ZIR(EEER o

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iii)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Recognition and measurement (Continued)
(c)  Available-for-sale

Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised
at fair value which is the cash given including any
transaction costs. They are measured subsequently at fair
value with gains and losses (except for impairment losses
and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary
assets classified as available-for-sale) recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity until the financial assets are derecognised. Upon
derecognition, the gains and losses previously recognised
in equity are reclassified into the income statement.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in equity is reclassified into the income
statement.

Interest is calculated using the effective interest method and
recognised in the income statement. Foreign currency gains
and losses on monetary assets classified as available-for-
sale are recognised in the income statement. Dividends on
available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the
income statement under “Other operating income” when the
Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(d)  Held-to-maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are initially recognised at fair
value including direct and incremental transaction costs
and are measured subsequently at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. They are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows have expired.

Interest is included in the income statement and is
reported as “Net interest income”. If a held-to-maturity
investment is determined to be impaired, the impairment
is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the
investment and recognised in the income statement as

impairment charge on held-to-maturity investments.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”)
and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group

of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that there is
objective evidence of an impairment loss include:

° Delinquency in contractual payments of principal or
interest;
° Cash flow difficulties experienced by the borrower

(for example, high debt-to-equity ratio, low net
income as a percentage of sales);
° Breach of loan covenants or conditions;
° Deterioration of the borrower’s competitive position;
° Deterioration in the value of collateral; and
o Downgrading below investment grade level.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
101010010101130011
010001101011001071]

0011101091 0000101

010100107101730071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 700710

73



100111010001007110
110100111 00010 10100
J011011001110100010
101110101009110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
)0111010100111006100
110011811001110100

74

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence of
impairment exists individually for financial assets that
are individually significant, and individually or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes that asset
in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is or
continues to be recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the income statement. If a loan or
held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss
is the current effective interest rate determined under
the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair
value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated
future cash flows of a collateralised financial asset reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs
for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment,
financial assets are grouped on the basis of similar credit
risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Group’s
grading process that considers asset type, collateral
type, overdue status and other relevant factors). Those
characteristics relevant to the estimation of future cash
flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the
debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the assets are considered.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are
collectively evaluated for impairment are estimated on
the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in
the group and historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to those in the group.
Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of
current observable data to reflect the effects of current
conditions that did not affect the period on which the
historical loss experience is based and to remove the
effects of conditions in the historical period that do not
currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of
assets should reflect and be directionally consistent with
changes in related observable data from period to period
(for example, changes in unemployment rates, property
prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of
changes in the probability of losses in the group and their
magnitude). The methodology and assumptions used for
estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the
Group to reduce any differences between loss estimates
and actual loss experience.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(iv)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(@) Assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against
the related allowances for loan impairment. Such
loans are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off decrease the amount of the
allowances for loan impairment in the income statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The amount
of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

(b) Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or
a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity
investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below
its cost is considered in determining whether the assets
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any
principal repayment and amortisation) and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement, is removed
from equity and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on
equity instruments are not reversed through the income
statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a
debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases
and the increase can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit
or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through the income
statement.



2. FEEHBEBEm

26 EREEREFEm@
20184 1 A1 HAT£3% (#)
TREE @)
(V) ZHEERE &)
(R) FJFMERZER

iR A RET AR E B EAR B EHR
BEERIZBXR - TEEE Ea8m
RWRBMOER - AR - i
R ERBEBAIgEFaRER
BalB J R R o

TRAE

TRAEEREAMERL  AAFEHERRE
P ABENERBEREMEREE A
MAEBORELRDE - LHFARFEER
EZEECHE - BUBSRMEF R ERER

(FF) U FlaqtE AR EEF A Bz
#EE

i %

LRI D mMENER - HIEEE RS
ZEMBEMRELEREEARFERE
BEZFF A BRNEREE -

HEMBEIEARBBAEELRE
AREAREIEREERZ - WO B AR
BRAFEHR - MAEREAFEZSmE
7 Wk R BRI WS AR A RERR

AT ZERBE—REB/NE
R AR AR 2 B ABB)ET AER

()  BEERRSARBHIREATRIERG S
HEREE - AEREBEHBRS
—HzBER (GBI SHE]) X

B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
() Renegotiated loans

Loans that are either subject to collective impairment
assessment or individually significant and whose terms
have been renegotiated are no longer considered to be
past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent
periods, the asset if past due again is considered to be
and disclosed as past due loans.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified into two categories: financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial

liabilities. All financial liabilities are classified at inception and

recognised initially at fair value and are derecognised when the

obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires.

@

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial liabilities held

for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or

loss at inception.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is incurred

principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the short term. It

is carried at fair value and any gains and losses from changes in

fair value are recognised in the income statement.

A financial liability is typically classified as fair value through

profit or loss at inception if it meets the following criteria:

@)

It eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency (sometimes referred to as “an
accounting mis-match”) that would otherwise arise from
measuring liabilities or recognising the gains and losses
on them on different bases; or
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets and liabilities (Continued)

Effective prior to 1 January 2018 (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

(@) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

(i) A group of financial liabilities is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy, and this is the basis on which
information about the liabilities is provided internally to
the key management personnel such as the Board of
Directors and Chief Executive Officer; or

(iii)  Financial liabilities with embedded derivatives where the

characteristics and risks of the embedded derivatives are

not closely related to the host contracts.

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
include the Group’s own debt securities in issue and deposits
received from customers that are embedded with certain
derivatives. Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are carried at fair value and any gains and losses
from changes in fair value are recognised under “Net trading
income” in the income statement.

(b)  Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently carried
at amortised cost. Any difference between proceeds net of
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognised in the
income statement over the period of the other financial liabilities
using the effective interest method.

If the Group purchases its own debt, it is removed from the statement
of financial position, and the difference between the carrying amount
of a liability and the consideration paid is accounted for as a gain or

loss in the income statement.

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.7 Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due,
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial
guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and others on
behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking
facilities.

From 1 January 2018, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and
financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently measured at the higher of:

° The amount of the loss allowance; and
° The fee received on initial recognition less income recognised in
accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.

Loan commitments provided by the Group are measured as the
amount of the loss allowance. The Group has not provided any
commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that
can be settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial
instrument.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for contracts that
include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Group
cannot separately identify the expected credit losses on the undrawn
commitment component from those on the loan component, the
expected credit losses on the undrawn commitment are recognised
together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the
combined expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount
of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a provision.

2.8 Derivative and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-measured
at fair value. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is
positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Certain derivatives are embedded in hybrid contracts, such as
the conversion option in a convertible bond If the hybrid contract
contains a host that is a financial asset, then the Group assesses the
entire contract as described in the financial assets section above for
classification and measurement purposes. Otherwise, the embedded
derivatives are treated as separate derivatives when:
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Derivative and hedging activities (Continued)

Their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related

to those of the host contract;

o A separate instrument with the same terms would meet the
definition of a derivative; and

° The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit

or loss.

These embedded derivatives are separately accounted for at fair
value, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement
unless the Group chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair
value through profit or loss.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gain or loss
depends on whether the derivative is designated and qualifies as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of the fair value
of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value
hedges).

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship
between hedged items and hedging instruments, as well as its risk
management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting
changes in fair values of hedged items.

(@)  Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income
statement under “Net trading income — Net gain/(loss) arising
from financial instruments subject to fair value hedge”, together
with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset that are
attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for
which the effective interest method is used is amortised to
profit or loss over the period to maturity. The adjustment to
the carrying value of a hedged equity security and remains in
retained earnings until the disposal of the hedged item.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Derivative and hedging activities (Continued)
(b)  Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge
accounting. Changes in the fair value of any derivative
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income statement under
“Net trading income”. For derivatives that are managed in
conjunction with designated financial assets or financial
liabilities, the gains and losses arising from changes in their fair
value are included under “Net trading income — Net gain/(loss)
on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.

2.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or
bankruptcy of the Bank or the counterparty.

2.10 Sale and repurchase agreements

The liability to counterparties in respect of securities sold subject
to repurchase agreements (“repos”) is included in amounts due to
other banks, deposits from banks, or other accounts and accruals,
as appropriate. Securities purchased under agreements to resell
(“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and advances to other banks
or customers, as appropriate. The difference between the sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the life of
the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent to
counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

Securities borrowed are not recognised in the financial statements,
unless these are sold to third parties, in which case the purchases and
sales are recorded with the gain or loss included in trading income.
The obligation to return them is recorded at fair value as a trading
liability.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Repossessed assets

Loans on which collateral assets have been repossessed are not
derecognised and are carried in the statement of financial position
with appropriate amounts of impairment allowances made. In the case
of delinquent loans on which collateral assets have been foreclosed
and repossessed by the Group pursuant to legal arrangements or
court orders, and with the legal title of the assets having been passed
to the Group, such loans are derecognised. The foreclosed assets
held for resale are included in “Advances and other accounts — Other
assets”.

2.12 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The
chief operating decision maker is the person or group of persons that
allocates resources to and assesses the performance of the operating
segments of an entity. The Group has determined the Chief Executive
and members of the Executive Committee (“EC”) as its chief operating
decision maker.

All transactions between operating segments are conducted on
an arm’s length basis, with inter-segment revenues and costs
being eliminated on consolidation. Income and expenses directly
associated with each segment are included in determining operating
segment performance.

Based on the requirements of HKFRS 8, the Group has the following
segments: Personal Banking, Commercial Banking, Treasury,
Overseas Banking and Others.

2.13 Foreign currency translation
(@)  Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK dollars, which is the Group’s presentation
currency and the functional and presentation currency of the
Bank and major part of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the relevant entity using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement.

All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the income
statement are presented net in the income statement within
the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses
on other comprehensive income items are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income within the corresponding
item.

In the case of changes in the fair value of foreign currency
denominated monetary assets classified as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income, a distinction is
made between translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the assets and other changes in the carrying
amount of the assets. Translation differences related to changes
in the amortised cost are recognised in the income statement,
and those related to changes in the carrying amount, except for
impairment, are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as
investments in equity instruments held at fair value through
profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on certain other non-monetary items,
such as equities classified as financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income, are included in the
investment revaluation reserve in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial position;

(i)  income and expenses for each income statement are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising from the above processes are
reported in shareholders’ equity under “Exchange reserve”.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to
shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the income statement
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.14 Premises and other fixed assets

Premises comprise mainly offices and shops. Leasehold land
classified as finance lease and all other fixed assets are stated at
historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are expensed in the income statement
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease commences amortisation
from the time when the land interest becomes available for its
intended use. Amortisation on leasehold land classified as finance
lease and depreciation on other assets is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:
- Premises Over the remaining period
of lease

- Furniture, fittings, equipment ~ Over the estimated useful lives
and motor vehicles generally between 3 and 10
years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each end of the reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.17).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the

proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in the income
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.15 Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the companies in the
consolidated Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related
transaction costs.

After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.
Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary,
for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific
asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses alternative
valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or
discounted cash flow projections. These valuations are performed in
accordance with the guidance issued by the International Valuation
Standards Committee. These valuations are reviewed annually by
external valuers. Investment property that is being redeveloped for
continuing use as investment property, or for which the market has
become less active, continues to be measured at fair value.

The fair value of investment property reflects, among other things,
rental income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in the light of current market conditions.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
expensed in the income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as premises and other fixed assets, and its fair value at the date of
reclassification becomes its cost for accounting purposes.

If an item of premises and other fixed assets becomes an investment
property because its use has changed, any difference resulting
between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the
date of transfer is recognised in equity as a revaluation of premises
and other fixed assets under HKAS 16. However, if a fair value gain
reverses a previous impairment loss, the gain is recognised in the
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.16 Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the acquiree as at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is
carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested annually for impairment. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the
carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination on which the goodwill arose.

Intangible assets arising from an acquisition are recognised
separately from goodwill when they are separable or arise from
contractual or other legal rights, and their value can be measured
reliably. They include core deposits, contracts and customer
relationships intangible assets, and trade names. Intangible assets
are stated at cost less amortisation, and/or accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated based on estimated useful life
ranging from 5 to 12 years using a diminishing balance method.

2.17 Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and non-
financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or are not yet available
for use are not subject to amortisation, but are tested annually for
impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels (cash-generating units) for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.17 Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and non-
financial assets (Continued)

In the Bank’s financial statements, impairment testing of the
investment in a subsidiary or an associate is also required upon
receiving dividend from that entity if the dividend exceeds the Bank’s
share of the total comprehensive income of that entity concerned in
the period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of that
entity in the Bank’s statement of financial position exceeds the Bank’s
share of the carrying amount of that entity’s net assets including
goodwill in its consolidated statement of financial position.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
In such case, the tax is recognised in other comprehensive income
within the corresponding item.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax
laws enacted or substantially enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the Bank and the subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period
and that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised. The tax effects of income tax
losses available for carry forward are recognised as an asset when it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
these losses can be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference
is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax related to investment properties is measured
according to the tax consequence on the presumption that they are
recovered entirely through sale.

Deferred income tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-
for-sale investments, which is charged or credited directly to equity,
is also credited or charged directly to equity and is subsequently
recognised in the income statement upon the realisation of relevant
investments.

2.19 Employee benefits
(@)  Pension obligations

The Group offers a mandatory provident fund scheme and a
number of defined contribution plans, the assets of which are
generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. These
pension plans are funded by payments from employees and by
the relevant Group companies.

The Group’s contributions to the mandatory provident fund
schemes and defined contribution retirement schemes are
expensed as incurred. Other than mandatory provident fund
contribution, the Group’s contributions may be reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who leave prior to
vesting fully in the contributions.

(b)  Share-based compensation

The Group has the choice to pay the intrinsic value of the share
option or to issue new shares to a grantee at the date of exercise
under the share-based compensation plans. The total amount to
be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference
to the fair value according to settlement type.

For cash-settled share-based compensation, the total cost is
the fair value of the options granted, with re-measurement at
each reporting period with any change in the cost recognised
in the income statement, with a corresponding credit or
adjustment to the “Liabilities”.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b)  Share-based compensation (Continued)

For equity-settled share-based compensation, the total cost is
measured and recognised based on the fair value of the equity
options at the grant date, with a corresponding credit to the
“Shared-based compensation reserve” in the shareholders’
funds. The total cost, which is fixed based on the fair value at
the grant date, is charged to income statement in accordance
with the terms of the vesting of the options over time. When
the options are exercised, the holding company will issue new
shares to settle its obligation, and transfer applicable amount
from the “Share-based compensation reserve” to the “Share
capital” account.

(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave
are recognised when they accrue to employees. An accrual is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and long service
leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
end of the reporting period.

(d) Bonus plans

Liabilities for bonus plans due wholly within twelve months after
the end of the reporting period are recognised when the Group
has a present or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised
when: the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease
termination penalties and employee termination payments. Provisions
are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an
outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.
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2.21

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases
(@) Operating lease

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of
ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are expensed in the income
statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor under operating leases, assets
leased out are included in fixed assets in the consolidated
statement of financial position. They are depreciated over their
expected useful lives on a basis consistent with similar owned
fixed assets. Rental income (net of any incentives given to
lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

(b)  Finance lease

Leases of assets where the Group has substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at
the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is
allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are
included as liabilities. The investment properties acquired under
finance leases are carried at their fair value.

Where the Group is a lessor under finance leases, the amounts
due under the leases, net of unearned finance income, are
recognised as a receivable and are included in “Advances and
other accounts”. Finance income implicit in rentals receivable is
credited to the income statement over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment
outstanding for each accounting period.

2.22 Fiduciary activities

The Group commonly acts as trustees and in other fiduciary

capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of

individuals, trusts and other institutions. These assets are excluded

from the Group’s financial statements, as they are not assets of the

Group.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

2.23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the
financial statements in the period in which they are approved by
shareholders.

2.24 Cash and cash equivalents

In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
balances with less than three months’ maturity from the date of
acquisition, including: cash, balances with banks and other financial
institutions, treasury bills, other eligible bills and certificates of deposit
and investment securities which are readily convertible to known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

2.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognised
as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the
control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the financial statements when an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. When such inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognised.
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(LAS®EF AL/~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and those
activities involve the analysis, evaluation, acceptance and management
of some degree of risk or combination of risks. Taking risk is core to the
financial business, and operational risks are an inevitable consequence
of being in business. The Group’s aim is therefore to achieve an
appropriate balance between risk and return and minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and
analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and
to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and
up-to-date information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk
management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets,
products and emerging best practice.

Risk management is carried out pursuant to the overall strategy and
policies approved by the Board of Directors. The Risk Management
and Compliance Committee (“RMCC”) under the authority delegated
by the Board oversees and guides the management of different risks
which are more particularly managed and dealt with by the Group
Risk Division (“GRD”) and different functional committees. In addition,
Internal Audit is responsible for the independent review of risk
management and the control environment.

To further enhance the risk governance and risk management
standards, the Board has approved a Risk Strategy framework that
also covers the Group’s Risk Appetite framework. The Risk Strategy
sets out the core values and high level risk management direction
of the Group, taking into account of the overall business strategy
and direction, under which a robust Risk Appetite framework is
established to guide the strategic planning process and strengthen
the risk-return management. Fundamentally, the Risk Appetite
framework sets out the types and amount of risk that the Group is
willing to take in order to achieve its business plan. The Group’s
risk appetite metrics are composed of key indicators for measuring
capital, risks, return and liquidity and this is supplemented by a
set of risk tolerances made up of major risk limits of the Group. In
order to ensure that business is conducted within our established
risk appetite, monitoring on the compliance with the risk appetite
limits and risk tolerance is undertaken on a quarterly basis. In this
connection, the Group has set out its Risk Appetite Statement that
covers five key dimensions of the risks and returns of the Group,
namely, the target returns to shareholders, earnings volatility,
solvency, liquidity and other key risk measures. The GRD is
responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the compliance with the
Risk Appetite Statement and the regular reporting of the status to the
RMCC and the Board. Moreover, the Risk Appetite framework and
major risk appetite limits are subject to review by the RMCC and the
Board on an annual basis.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk, market
risk and operational risk. Market risk includes currency risk, interest
rate risk and other price risks.

3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments

The Group accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating
rates, and for various periods, and seeks to earn positive interest
margins by investing and lending these funds in a wide range of
assets. The Group seeks to increase these margins by consolidating
short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates, while
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Group also seeks to apply its interest margins through its
lending to commercial and retail borrowers and to charge customers
appropriate fees and commission, taking into consideration credit risk
and market conditions. Such exposures involve not just on-balance
sheet loans and advances, as the Group also enters into guarantees
and other commitments such as letters of credit, performance bonds
and other bonds.

The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions
in exchange-traded and over-the-counter (“OTC”) instruments,
including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term market
movements in equities and bonds and in currency and interest rate.
The Board places trading limits on the level of exposures that can
be taken in relation to market positions. Apart from specific hedging
arrangements, foreign exchange and interest rate exposures are
normally offset by entering into counterbalancing positions (including
transactions with customers or market counterparties), or by the
use of derivatives, thereby controlling the variability in the net cash
amounts required to liquidate market positions.

The Group also uses interest rate swap and other interest rate
derivatives to mitigate interest rate risk arising from changes in
interest rates that will result in decrease in the fair value of fixed rate
assets or increase in the fair value of fixed rate liabilities. Part of
these financial instruments are designated as fair value hedges, and
the terms of hedge including hedged item, amount, interest rates,
hedge period and purpose are determined and documented at the
inception of each fair value hedge. Hedge effectiveness is assessed
at inception on a prospective basis and is reassessed, on an ongoing
basis, based on actual experience and valuation. Fair value hedge
relationships that do not meet the effectiveness test requirement
of hedge accounting are discontinued with effect from the date of
ineffectiveness of the fair value hedge.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes
in the fair values of fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt
securities held in respect of a benchmark interest rate (mainly LIBOR
and HIBOR). Pay-floating/receive-fixed interest rate swaps are
matched to specific issuances of fixed-rate liabilities or pay-fixed/
receive-floating interest rate swaps are matched to fixed-rate debt
securities held with terms that closely align with the critical terms of
the hedged item.

Only the interest rate risk element is hedged and therefore other
risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged by the Group.
Interest rate risk to which the Group applies hedge accounting arises
from fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt securities held,
whose fair value fluctuates when benchmark interest rates change.
The Group hedges interest rate risk only to the extent of benchmark
interest rates because the changes in fair value of a issued liability or
debt security are significantly influenced by changes in the benchmark
interest rate. Hedge accounting is applied where economic hedge
relationships meet the hedge accounting criteria.

Before fair value hedge accounting is applied by the Group, the Group
determines whether an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument exists based on an evaluation of the
qualitative characteristics of these items and the hedged risk that is
supported by quantitative analysis. The Group considers whether the
critical terms of the hedged item and hedging instrument closely align
when assessing the presence of an economic relationship. The Group
evaluates whether the fair value of the hedged item and the hedging
instrument respond similarly to similar risks.

The Group establishes a hedge ratio by aligning the par amount of the
fixed-rate debt security or issued liabilities and the notional amount of
the interest rate swap designated as a hedging instrument. Possible
sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

(i) changes in market liquidity and bid-ask spread of the debt
securities;
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge

accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges of interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

(i)

the fair value changes related to the benchmark rate before next
fixing date and on the fixed spread over the benchmark rate of
the interest rate swap;

changes in interest rate sensitivity at different fair value level;

(ivy RBEFRAE IZISE(ZFEJ_L TE | (iv) the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk
HHAFEZFE  WARMESFRE on the fair value of the interest rate swap, which is not reflected
FEZHHREEATE & in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the change in
interest rate; and
(V) BEZEESSFRBETZ2FEAELENERE (v)  differences in maturities of the interest rate swap and the debt
Bz FHIZR o securities held or the certificates of deposit issued.
M20184F 12 A31 8B ' AEBFA N7IF| Rz 4 At 31 December 2018, the Group held the following interest rate
BHERBRAFEE R 2EHFTAH - swaps as hedging instruments in fair value hedges of interest risk.
BEA
Maturity
150R 5FHE
Lessthan 1FHULEESE More than
BER - FEER Risk category - interest rate risk 1 year 1-5 years 5 years
BT BE-FRE Hedge of issued liabilities - certificates of deposit
mE Nominal amount 3,779,924 655,000 -
T E = Average fixed interest rate 2.15% 2.10% -
BT AB-REER Hedge of issued liabilities - subordinated notes
[l Nominal amount 1,761,930 3,719,630 -
T EE = Average fixed interest rate 5.25% 5.38% =
AR AE-RE Hedge of issued liabilities - borrowing
mfE Nominal amount 587,310 822,234 =
THEEF = Average fixed interest rate 1.94% 3.25% -
HHHE  EBES Hedge of debt securities held
[ElE Nominal amount 631,946 7,454,921 9,405,654
T E = Average fixed interest rate 5.45% 4.22% 3.67%

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Fair value hedges

The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments and
hedge ineffectiveness were as follows.

2018
BR:tE
HERREAEE  2018EHRANLZ
HW18 2R ATEES
Line item in the Changein  BERRMUEE
KEE statement of financial ~fair value used for ZHRRY
Carrying amount position wherethe  calculating hedge  Ineffectiveness ~ MERABEHHANZER
A BE 8  hedginginstrument ineffectiveness  recognisedin  Line item in profit or loss that
Nominal amount Assets Liabilities ~is included for2018  profitorloss includes hedge ineffectiveness
EEL
Interest rate risk
TS - S Tt 4,434,924 383 1662 (TEERIA 3,949 (B4 RATESIOEBSRIA
Interest rate swaps - hedge of Derivatives financial LN/ (E8)
certificates of deposit instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
financial instruments
subject to fair value hedge
FIEE S-Sk B 5,481,560 18,952 58121 {1HEHIA (51,369) (1814 AATESMEBSHIE
Interest rate swaps - hedge of Derivatives financial LA/ (E8)
subordinate notes instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
financial instruments
subject to fair value hedge
FlkRA-HHEE 1,409,544 1 4751 HESRIA 3,833 (249) RATEHAEESRIA
Interest rate swaps - hedge of Derivatives financial L/ (B8
borrowing instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from
financial instruments
subject to fair value hedge
TlkRA-Hnih L RS 17,492,521 418,358 51686  fTHSRIE 154,707 1314 BATEHHOEEERIA
Interest rate swaps - hedge of Derivatives financial L/ (B8
debt securities held instruments Net gain/(loss) arising from

financial instruments
subject to fair value hedge
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3. UHEREEE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 ERALBMIERK@m 3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)
311 BERBEERAFTEBEEZITE 3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
T A &) accounting (Continued)
RN () () Fair value hedges (Continued)
BREEREAIER 2SR o The amounts relating to items designated as hedged items were as
follows.
2018
REEHBRRRAR
BLERHHRERER
LR 2 AP E
BEREERREE bip S EiL
ZHWER 2 ATE Accumulated amount
HhziEaecs of fair value
Accumulated hedge adjustments
amount of far value HERRRAREHN remaining in the
hedge adjustments EE %R BRGTEHRAN  statement of financial
on the hedged item Line item in the PANTL L] position for any
] included in the carrying statement of Changein  hedged items that
Carrying amount amount of the hedged item financial position in value used for ~ have ceased to be
1] 8k 1] &F  whichthe hedged calculating hedge  adjusted for hedging
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities item is included ineffectiveness gains and losses
FaE BEHRE
Certificates of deposit 4,422,293 (12,631)  Certificates of deposit issued (4,083) -
) [RERR
Subordinated notes 5,449,082 (32,478)  Subordinated notes 49549 -
£ L
Borrowing 1,405,035 (4,509) Deposits from banks (4,082) -
FRLERES 17,282,443 (367,375 WATEHEEARIARH2E (163,393) -
Debt securities held hanepEE

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.1 Strategy in using financial instruments (Continued)

3.1.1 Derivatives held for risk management and hedge
accounting (Continued)

Comparative information under HKAS 39

The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge its exposure to changes
in the fair values of fixed-rate issued liabilities and fixed-rate debt
securities held in respect of a benchmark interest rate (mainly LIBOR
and HIBOR). Pay-floating/receive-fixed interest rate swaps are
matched to specific issuances of fixed-rate liabilities or pay-fixed/
receive-floating interest rate swaps are matched to fixed-rate debt
securities held with terms that closely align with the critical terms of
the hedged item.

BEERATEEHZITETIAZ ATFENT ° The fair values of derivatives designated as fair value hedges were as
follows.
2017
HE BE =N
Nominal Assets Liabilities
T AR Instrument type
ISR Interest rate swaps 26,856,746 288,484 179,769
BIEENFIAAFES AR TR TR % Included within “Net gain/(loss) arising from financial instruments

Wz (EH8) | BEEZ2ERAFEEFEEREZ
PTAET BN F(EWZ45,785,000/8 7T @ K EHhiE
B FE (k¥ R b 2 A B %R 4> 89,332,000 78

JG ©

3.2 FERAR

AEBEZFEEERBRAERASIR S FRE

BOEHAEEZEREME - BHEEATREASE
EzERREEED UREMIACZES(H
EHTETAR) o

rEERAEEEEZES([SEEEZEE
BEHMREANGERRKRAD - FEERE
g((EEEEZBE ) EMERKRERREZR
2((MEMMXERBRZESR]) IR AIBEHET
ERRMEXBZ EERREEREBEAZEER
g REZBEAAFROTEEER AR (K
RITREDITRAZRETERFTHE Fﬁtﬁ%%
MafEBREEASEX - EERRE @ &
R~ HEMER Z REMHAINNEEREA °

]

~

WA I8
il

IJ

subject to fair value hedge” in Note 9 are fair value gains of
HK$45,785,000 on derivatives held in qualifying fair value hedging
relationships, and HK$39,332,000 representing net decreases in the

fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.

3.2 Credit risk

The Group’s main credit risk is that borrowers or counterparties
may default on their payment obligations due to the Group. These
obligations arise from the Group’s lending and investment activities,
and trading of financial instruments (including derivatives).

The Group has a Group Credit Committee (“GCC”) for approving major
credit exposures. The Credit Management Committee (“CMC”) and the
Treasury & Investment Risk Committee (“TIRC”) are the committees
responsible for credit policy formulation and portfolio monitoring of
the loan and treasury businesses respectively. These committees are
all chaired by the Chief Executive of Dah Sing Banking Group Limited
(“DSBG”) with certain Executive Directors and senior business and
credit officers as members. Credit risk measurement, underwriting,
approval and monitoring requirements are detailed in credit policies.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

The Group manages all types of credit risk on a prudent basis.
Credits are extended within the parameters set out in the credit
policies and are approved by different levels of management based
upon established guidelines and delegated authorities. Credit
exposures, limits and asset quality are regularly monitored and
controlled by management, credit committees and GRD. The Group’s
internal auditors also conduct regular reviews and audits to ensure
compliance with credit policies and procedures, and regulatory
guidelines.

The Group has established policies and processes for the approval
and review of new products and activities, and credit policies
with details of the loan grading, or credit scoring, processes and
impairment policies.

3.2.1 Credit risk measurement
Credit risk grading

The Group uses internal credit risk grading that reflect the credit
quality of the borrowers. The Group uses internal credit grading
scorecards tailored to the various categories of counterparty. The
credit grading scorecards take into consideration borrower and
loan specific information collected at the time of application (such
as disposable income, and level of collateral for retail exposures;
and financial indicators and qualitative indicators for corporate
exposures). For retail exposures, this is supplemented with internal
data such as delinquency status and external data such as credit
bureau scoring information on individual borrowers. In addition, the
scorecards enable expert judgement from the credit risk officer to
determine the final internal credit grade for each exposure. This allows
for considerations which may not be captured as part of the other
inputs into the scorecards.

The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio
held by the Group:

Retail

After the date of initial recognition, for personal unsecured lending
of retail business, the likelihood of default is monitored on a periodic
basis by behavioural score. This score is mapped to a Probability of
Default (“PD”).
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.1 Credit risk measurement (Continued)

Credit risk grading (Continued)

Corporate

For corporate business, the credit grade is determined at the borrower
level. A relationship manager will incorporate any updated or new
information/credit assessments into the credit grading scorecard
on an ongoing basis. In addition, the relationship manager will also
update information about the creditworthiness of the borrower every
year from sources such as financial statements. This will determine
the updated internal credit grading.

Using the internal observed default rate supplemented with external
default data, and by applying statistical methods, PD master scales
are calibrated to arrive at the PD for each credit grade.

Treasury

For debt securities and interbank exposures under the Treasury
portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are used. These
published grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PDs
associated with each grade are determined based on default rates
published by the rating agencies.

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement

HKFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment based on
changes in credit quality since initial recognition as summarised
below:

o A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in “Stage 1” and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group.

o If a significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since initial
recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to

“Stage 2” but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired.

° If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
101010010101130011
010001101011001071]

0011101091 0000101

010100107101730071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 700710

101



100111010001007110
110100111 00010 10100
J011011001110100010
101110101009110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
)0111010100111006100
110011811001110100

102

B FS Rk P ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. UHEREEE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 EERE @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

322 HHISEERE @) 3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

. fEER1 @R T Az BHEEEEBRES N E . Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an
RIR12ME AN AT e B 2 BN EHEI82 amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
2HBHEEBEBMNERETS - B2 that result from default events possible within the next 12
SR 3 2 T EBRIE2 R ST S HIEH months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured
EEEBE - based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

o BB REERFIFETBHEE o A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with
EEn—EZEM S ENEZE BRI HKFRS 9 is that it should consider forward looking information.
Bk} o

. BANREZEERECREERZSZRN . Purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets
VIEERAECREERBEZESREE - are those financial assets that are credit impaired on initial

5B R Bt 12 8 B 7 R s A B
RE(BATREZEERESREERIN)

HEHEEERE BER2HELEFE(H

E&3) -

F 9 ZRE

(Stage 3).

under HKFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated credit-impaired

financial assets):

recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements

BYGERREZEEEREE
Change in credit quality since initial recognition
- _a
BEER 1 PEER 2 REER 3
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
(FIaHER) (EERR B 7ia iR A EE M) (FEREEE)

(Initial recognition)

12 & A B TR e B IE1E
12-month expected credit losses

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

(Significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition)

EHEREREER

Lifetime expected credit losses

(Credit-impaired assets)

ZHTEAE B AR
Lifetime expected credit losses
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Group in
addressing the requirements of the standard are discussed below:

32.2.1 Significant increase in credit risk

The Group considers a financial instrument to have experienced a
SICR when one or more of the following criteria have been met:

o when there is significant adverse external credit rating
transition, migrating from investment grade to non-investment
grade, for bond portfolio

° when there is internal credit rating transition, ranging from one
notch to five notches, for corporate portfolio

° when the day past due (“DPD”) exceeds 30 days

o when the borrower is reported as “Early Warning” for corporate
portfolio

° when the borrower is reported as criticised account according
to the loan classification of the Hong Kong Monetary Authority
(“HKMA”). The decision to classify the loans is based on
the borrower’s repayment ability and likelihood of individual
counterparties being default.

The assessment of SICR is performed on a monthly basis at a portfolio
level for all retail financial instruments held by the Group. In relation to
corporate financial instruments, where an Early Warning list is used to
monitor credit risk, this assessment is performed at the counterparty
level and on a monthly basis. The criteria used to identify SICR are
revised as when appropriate by the respective credit departments of
the portfolios.

The Group has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial
instruments in the year ended 31 December 2018.

3.2.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets

The Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which is aligned
with the definition of credit impaired (referred to as ‘Stage 3 financial
assets’), when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3.2.2.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable data:

° significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

° a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

o the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms
that the Group would not consider otherwise;

° the borrower is bankrupt;

o it is reported as substandard, doubtful or loss according to
the loan classification of the HKMA. The decision to classify
the loans is based on the borrower’s repayment ability and
likelihood of individual counterparties being default; and

° the disappearance of an active market for a security because of
financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the
borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired
unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash
flows has reduced significantly and there are no other indicators of
impairment. In addition, a retail loan that is overdue for 90 days or
more is considered credit-impaired.

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month (“12M”) or Lifetime basis
depending on whether a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit
losses are the discounted product of the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined
as follows:

° The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on
its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default and credit-
impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (“12M PD”), or
over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime PD”) of the obligation.

° EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed
at the time of default, over the next 12 months (“12M EAD”) or
over the remaining lifetime (“Lifetime EAD”). For example, for a
revolving commitment, the Group includes the current drawn
balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn
up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, should
it occur.



3. WXEERERE @
3.2 SER@m
322 BRIGEEEE @)

3223 FIBEHAIEEER — 28 RRRIEES
VA (&)

o  RBAOBRKREKARAKBEBEFEELNE LA
BZBRRIEE - BOBKERZZUFE
A REBAMPEF RERmREMEE
XEZAMMEME - BENBERETRED
B FEERRAEEM ZBRBD LR
o BABKEIZ121E A BBk 2 B
A 12EABRENBRXRTIMERD
B R T— (@128 A MR EEZ FHRTEL
ZHERASHEREHBOBREMEE
B RER BT 2 BR B HAME LR
ZIEFTEEBRKBDL -

BEHMEREBERIHSEREA DK @5 R A
EREAEEENRIRE BOBRXREHRR
HAYEMEETE o 1t =(EAARMK AR HE AR AL LA A 7]
BEIE(E I SR 2 (AN A B A N R A B 9 X R4
BEFRHEN) - HAMGIERRE Aty 2 FAH
EEBRE  ANEBERREZHRANER - ARG
HIRBEEBRRCMRXTIRE BRI ERHE
HIER °

EEENHARTERAZIHA S MHEE 12184
HREMS - 28 A MR Ae A TR ES
BN NEITZBGE X o 218 D MR BB E AT
REBERBREAEREERIIBRAZMBEES
MR - EXEBESMATFS -

12 (B A HifE & 2 B0 2 B A BB A T IR TR A A
DIETE - HiREmBERImE

s HEREMRIRAERERME  Hiz
ERAR12EABEREHEERNS 26
KRR - L ERERAZEGTBEERE
HAE - REERBREZBRETMAA

S e
:-|» (=]
al >+ °

o  HIFBEREmMME - BAORRAETER
EIHAE R Nk [MEEHERH ] &t
B EMABNRRISRERE 2 AR -

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 757K (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques (Continued)

o LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type
and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit
support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of
exposure at the time of default. LGD is calculated on a 12-month
or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss
expected to be made if the default occurs in the next 12 months
and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the
loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for
each future month and for each individual exposure. These three
components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier
month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month,
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed.
The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original effective
interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the
current 12M PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on
a portfolio from the point of initial recognition throughout the lifetime
of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data
and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and
credit grade band. This is supported by historical analysis.

The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the
expected payment profile, which varies by product type.

° For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is
based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a 12-month or lifetime basis. This will also be adjusted
for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early
repayment/refinance assumptions are also incorporated into the
calculation.

° For non-revolving products, the exposure at default is
predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a “credit
conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of
the remaining limit by the time of default.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3223 Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques (Continued)

. For revolving products, the EAD is estimated by taking the
maximum between the on-balance sheet exposure and the
estimated utilized amount at default based on utilisation rate.

The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors
which impact the recoveries made post default. These include
collateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts to
market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and
recovery costs observed.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining
the 12-month and lifetime PD, EAD and LGD. Refer to note 3.2.2.4 for
an explanation of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL
calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation, such as how the
maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral values change etc., are
regularly monitored and reviewed.

3.2.24 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate
forward-looking information. The Group has performed historical
analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and expected credit losses for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD,
EAD and LGD vary by financial instrument. Expert judgment has also
been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables
(the “base economic scenario”) are provided by some economic
research institutions twice a year and provide the best estimate view
of the economy over the next five years. For the economic variables
out of the forecasting periods (i.e. after the next five years), the point-
in-time default risk level at the last forecasting period is referenced
to estimate the lifetime default risk level of each instrument. The
impact of these economic variables on the PD, EAD and LGD has
been determined by performing statistical regression analysis
to understand the impact changes in these variables have had
historically on default rates and loss rates.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

In addition to the base economic scenario, the Group’s economist
and the Group Risk function also provided other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings. At 1 January 2018 and 31 December
2018, the Group concluded to have two additional scenarios to
capture possible outcomes beyond those under the base economic
scenario, namely the good and the bad scenarios. The good and bad
scenarios are set with reference to the historical observations of the
macro-economic factors and the Group’s loan loss experience for a
period over 20 years. The scenario weightings are determined by a
combination of statistical analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen scenario is
representative of.

The assessment of SICR is performed by considering either the
change in credit quality, expert credit judgement and backstop
indicator. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is in
Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or lifetime
ECL should be recorded. Following this assessment, the Group
measures ECL as either a probability weighted 12-month ECL (Stage
1), or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages 2 and 3). These
probability-weighted ECLs are determined by running each scenario
through the relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate
scenario weighting.

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of
occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent uncertainty and
therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those
projected. The Group considers these forecasts to represent its best
estimate of the possible outcomes that the chosen scenarios are
appropriately representative of the range of possible scenarios.

Economic variable assumptions

In its models, the Group relies on a broad range of forward-
looking economic information as inputs, such as the forecasts of
macroeconomic factors like property price indices, GDP growth rates,
unemployment rates, and interest rates. A range of macroeconomic
factors is maintained based on statistical data tests and expert
judgement to ensure that relevant factors could be taken into
consideration in the ECL models.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
101010010101130011
010001101011001071]

0011101091 0000101

010100107101710071
01000110104 10010111
100111010110000101

100010110101 700710

107



100111010001007110
110100111 00010 10100
J011011001110100010
101110101009110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
)0111010100111006100
110011811001110100

108

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HMBEBRERE @

3.2 FERM @

322 RHEEERE @

3224 MAFBHISEERIRE 2 GIEILEN (&)

LR 7 R E ()

(&R [RiF] R TR BEIRTIRE M2
HERREMETE - LHZ @ [Ei) | BR2BTH
REEITTEE 2 — RO REEETRA & [ REF | A
TR BHEERAEEHRZEEREEH 2B
RIEBEEESE SERRBRHEEERIRE
RENBER  MeSEREHEEBRIRES
PHEE « st EE AR RERLBEBHSE
RAEAZ 35 EMENE L BURAERIGR TR E
1B

B BERZERRE

i AR ZBRERRRERBEE
B BEE2HD - ARIGHE
TR B & BB T s (K
B E B B 2 B B XA RER
KR TERIERBH) 2 —F
S BB ETRR -

RF ZEEERREEERARE ZKE
FE (81995 F#E) ZEEMAA
BEARKEHEEBBZF G -

TR ZIEEEREEERZBERLHE
(B 1995 18) ERBAAT
BEERsmRREEBRZFN

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)

The scenarios “base”, “good” and “bad” were determined based on
the underlying assumptions described in the below table. In particular,
the “base” scenario makes reference to a set of macroeconomic
forecasts from different economic research institutions and the
“good” and “bad” scenarios depends on the simulated ECL using a
designated period of historical macroeconomic variables. The year of
the lowest simulated ECL was assumed good scenario whereas the
year of the highest simulated ECL was assumed the bad scenario. A
designated period of historical data that covers peaks and troughs
of economic cycles were selected for this exercise to ensure the
selection of scenarios stays unbiased.
Scenario Underlying assumptions of the scenario
Base Forward-looking macroeconomic factors are a key
component of the macroeconomic outlook. The
base scenario is based on a set of macroeconomic
forecasts sourced from reputable economic research
institutions which formulate a “base case” view of the
most probable future direction of relevant economic
variables.
Good This scenario is determined as the year of having
lowest ECL by applying a full set of applicable historical
economic variables to the entire portfolio starting from
1995.

Bad This scenario is determined as the year of having
highest ECL by applying a full set of applicable
historical economic variables to the entire portfolio
starting from 1995.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)

Significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at
31 December 2018 are set out as below.
¥4
Average
(2019-2023)

BEBA M EEREERE Hong Kong GDP Growth Rate (%) Hif Base 2.2%
(BHL) R Good 2.9%
TR Bad 1.3%

B EEMEER Hong Kong Residential Property Price B Base 2.2%
BHEEFH(AHL) Index Change (%) Rif Good 12.1%
TR Bad -15.5%

BEBEKREX(ADL) Hong Kong Unemployment Rate (%) Hpp Base 3.2%
Riuf Good 3.1%

TR Bad 6.0%

RESHEBRZIAMEE  AEEETRE
EELEARA G TN REELE 2 A XEE
ZISBERCB DM » Wk aZ 0 T ER AN PR S A
BESE R EA 2 E L BUR AR E 2 R =%
(R

PR BB A Bl A 1T T 2 5 1B L g 8 P SR 3R
EERANIEIRRZNAMEE  ARKEL
EOMBAEZ A IERZRE BT S REER
IR AR o

1K2018F 12 A31 HA B T R&LEBH [ & -
[RiF I R [TR] ZNEEDBIAT70%  10% &
20% °

To derive the probabilities weighting for the selected scenarios, an
economic state analysis that covers a full economic cycle to estimate
the range of probabilities in different economic states is performed.
The use of historical data that covers peaks and troughs of economic
cycles is adopted for the analysis ensures that calculated probabilities

stay unbiased.

To supplement the economic state analysis for more forward looking
elements and to capture latest developments of the market and
economy, assessments are performed by the in-house economist
and the Group Risk function with expert judgement exercised for the
determination of the probability weightings application to the three
scenarios.

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario, “base”, “good”
and “bad” as at 31 December 2018, were 70%, 10% and 20%
respectively.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
(Continued)

Economic variable assumptions (Continued)
Significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 1

January 2018 are set out as below.

T
Average
(2018-2022)

BN A EBELRE Hong Kong GDP Growth Rate (%) Bt Base 2.3%
(BDH) R Good 2.9%
TR Bad 1.3%

BEREEMEERS Hong Kong Residential Property Price i Base 1.3%
EHEH (Anth) Index Change (%) Rif Good 12.1%
TR Bad -15.5%

BBRER(ANLL) Hong Kong Unemployment Rate (%) Hig Base 3.4%
Rt Good 3.1%

TR Bad 6.0%

R2018F1 A1H PR FEEBEBE &M -
[RIF| B[R] ZhEEH B AT70%  15% &
15% o

BN AR AR AT A LA 155 2 B A ATRE 1
ZRAR(PIMEREE @ AIBORESH 2 ¥
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HE®EE -
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The weightings assigned to each economic scenario, “base”,
“good” and “bad” as at 1 January 2018, were 70%, 15% and 15%
respectively.

Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated
within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any regulatory,
legislative or political changes, have also been considered, but are
not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no adjustment
has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and
monitored for appropriateness on a quarterly basis.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

(Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as

follows:

Retail portfolios

(i) Unemployment rates, given its impact on secured and

unsecured borrowers’ ability to meet their contractual

repayments;

(i) GDP growth rates, given the significant impact on companies’

performance and collateral valuations; and

(i)  Property price indexes, given the significant impact it has on

mortgage collateral valuations.

Corporate portfolios

(i) Unemployment rates, given its impact on secured and

unsecured borrowers’ ability to meet their contractual

repayments;

(i)  GDP growth rates, given the significant impact on companies’

performance and collateral valuations; and

(i)  Property price indexes, given the significant impact it has on

mortgage collateral valuations.

Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December

2018 that would result from reasonably possible changes in these

parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Group’s

economic variable assumptions:

=E Retail
EHEE
BENTE
ECL Impact
REX Unemployment rates +1% 15,369
-1% -999
FEAEERE GDP growth rates +0.5% -1,706
-0.5% 1,734
MFEEBIEH Property price indexes +5% -69
-5% 319
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.2 Expected credit loss measurement (Continued)

3224 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models

(Continued)
BURE AT () Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
1 Corporate
BREEBRNE

ECL Impact
REX Unemployment rates +1% 104,173
-1% -54,159
FEAEERE GDP growth rates +0.5% -12,761
-0.5% 13,878
MFEEBIEH Property price indexes +5% -17,242
-5% 20,202
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3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Group has an established framework to manage and control
concentrations risk with respect to individual borrower or
counterparty group, industry or country. Exposure limits by borrower
or counterparty group, industry or country are in place and their
exposures are monitored and reported to credit committees regularly.

The large exposure limits to borrower or counterparty groups are
capital based while the limits for industry are relative to the size of the
overall credit portfolio. Country limits are also set up with reference to
the sovereign credit rating from international credit rating agencies. All
these limits aim to achieve a more balanced portfolio.

To mitigate credit risk and where appropriate, the Group will obtain
collateral to support the credit facility granted. To control credit
risk exposure to counterparty arising from derivative positions,
the Group limits its derivative dealings with approved financial
institutions, and uses established market practices on credit support
and collateral settlement to reduce credit risk exposure to derivative
counterparties. Overall credit risk limit for individual financial institution
counterparty, including valuation limit for derivatives, is approved
by the GCC with reference to the financial strength and credit rating
of individual counterparty. The acceptable types of collateral and
their characteristics are established within the credit policies, as are
the respective margins of finance. Enforceable legal documentation
establishes the Group’s direct, irrevocable and unconditional recourse
to any collateral, security or other credit enhancements provided.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Continued)

In relation to lending commitments that are unconditionally
cancellable without prior notice, the Group would assess the
necessity to withdraw the credit line in case where the credit quality
of a borrower deteriorates. Accordingly, these commitments do not
expose the Group to significant credit risk.

Irrespective of whether collateral is taken, all credit decisions are
based upon the customer’s or counterparty’s credit profile, cashflow
position and ability to repay.

(@ Loans and advances

The Group has guidelines on the acceptability of specific
classes of collateral for securing loans and advances. The
principal collateral types are:

° Mortgages over properties;

° Charges over business assets such as premises and
accounts receivable;

° Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities
and equities;

° Charges over deposits; and

. Charges over shares.

In addition, in order to minimise credit loss, the Group will,
where possible, seek additional collateral from the borrower as
soon as impairment indicators are noticed on relevant individual
loans and advances.

(b)  Debt securities

Debt securities and treasury bills are generally unsecured,
with the exception of asset-backed securities and similar
instruments, which are secured by portfolios of financial
instruments or underlying assets.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.3 Risk limit control and mitigation policies (Continued)
(c) Derivatives

All counterparty credit risk for derivatives trading are managed
as part of the credit risk control and monitoring process in
respect of the counterparty including credit controls such as
setting individual limit for valuation risk, daily settlement limits
and performing periodic credit assessment. Moreover, the
Group requires derivative contract counterparties to enter into
International Swaps and Derivatives Association Agreement or
analogous master agreement in order to follow the standardised
market practice of close-out netting arrangement in the event
of default or early termination and in accordance with the
regulatory requirements.

Collateral arrangements with most counterparties are also
in place to limit our unsecured derivative exposures to these
counterparties.

3.2.4 Write-off policy

The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has
exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has concluded there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement
activity and (ii) where the Group’s recovery method is foreclosing
on collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering in full.

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to
enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual amounts of such
assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018 was
HK$46 million.

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements

At 31 December 2018

The following tables contain analysis of the credit risk exposure
of financial instruments. The gross carrying/notional amount of
financial assets below also represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on these assets.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held

or other credit enhancements (Continued)
At 31 December 2018 (Continued)

(1)  Financial assets subject to impairment

FEE/£448
Gross carrying/notional amount
RBZHAT BHEE

i3 WA Sub-standard &t it et
Pass  Special mention or below Total  ECL allowance Net
BINEBRER Balance and placements with banks 26,598,116 - - 26,598,116 3,707 26,504,409
~B&1 - Stage 1 26,598,116 - - 26,598,116 3,707 26,594,409
—Keo - Stage 2 - - - - - =
-E&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - -

WATEE BEEHHA Debt instruments at fair value through
A 2EkEREETA other comprehensive income 41,804,806 - - 41,894,806 22,870 41,871,936
~Fg1 - Stage 1 41,894,806 - - 41,894,806 22,870 41,871,936
-E&2 - Stage 2 - - - - - -
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - -
HERRASIRAER T Debt instruments at amortised cost 9,137,667 - - 9,137,667 4,947 9,132,720
~F&1 - Stage 1 9,137,667 - - 9,137,667 4,947 9,132,720
-E&2 - Stage 2 - - - - - -
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - -
EFER Advances to customers 126,888,960 771,153 970,166 128,630,279 913928 121,716,356
~F&1 - Stage 1 123,150,162 1,893 - 123,152,055 423,650 122,728,405
-B&2 - Stage 2 3,738,798 769,260 - 4,508,058 127,284 4,380,774
-B&3 - Stage 3 - - 970,166 970,166 362,989 607,177
8958 Trade bills 4,677,262 - - 4,677,262 2,128 4,675,139
~F&1 - Stage 1 4,663,269 - - 4,663,269 2,100 4,661,169
-B&2 - Stage 2 13,993 - - 13,993 23 13,970
-K&3 - Stage 3 - - - - - -
ErFlE R Accrued interest and other accounts 3,744,149 2,806 65,242 3,812,197 16,785 3,795,412
~F&1 - Stage 1 3,735,272 - - 3,735,272 6,651 3,728,621
B - Stage 2 8877 2,806 - 11,683 491 11,192
-B&3 - Stage 3 - - 65,242 65,242 9,643 55,599
EIEREREBER Loan commitments and financial quarantees 76,786,797 43,501 13716 76,844.104 146,267 76,697,837
~F&1 - Stage 1 74,789,140 - - 74,789,140 139,657 74,649,483
-B&2 - Stage 2 1,997,657 43,591 - 2,041,248 6,592 2,034,656
-B&3 - Stage 3 - - 13,716 13,716 18 13,698
A Total 289,727,757 817,550 1,049,124 291,504,431 1,110,622 290,483,809
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3.2

3.2.5

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(1)  Financial assets subject to impairment (Continued)

For the purpose of this disclosure, notional amount of debt
instruments at FVOCI and the associated ECL allowance

maintained in investment revaluation reserve are presented.

The credit ratings are broadly categorised as follows:

Retail

Class 1 “pass”, which covers loans that are current or within 30
DPD.

Class 2 “special mention”, which generally covers loans with
31-90 DPD.

Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which generally covers loans
that are more than 90 DPD.

Corporate

Class 1 “pass”, which covers Grade 1 to 9 of the Group’s
internal loan grading system, represents loans for which
borrowers are current in meeting commitments and for which
the full repayment of interest and principal is not in doubt.

Class 2 “special mention”, which covers Grade 10 of the
Group’s internal loan grading system, represents loans with
which borrowers are experiencing difficulties and which may
lead to credit losses to the Group if the deterioration in loan
quality cannot be contained.

Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which covers Grade 11 to 13
of the Group’s internal loan grading system, represents loans
in which borrowers are displaying a definable weakness that is
likely to jeopardise repayment; or collection in full is improbable
and the Group expects to sustain a loss of principal and/or
interest; or loans that are considered uncollectible after all
collection options have been exhausted.
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3.2
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(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2018 (Continued)
(1)  Financial assets subject to impairment (Continued)

Treasury

Class 1 “pass”, which covers exposures to counterparties of
with internal credit rating of BB- or above.

Class 2 “special mention”, which covers exposures to
counterparties of with internal credit rating of B+ to B-.

Class 3 “sub-standard or below”, which covers exposures to
counterparties of with internal credit rating of CCC+ or below.

@

Financial assets not subject to impairment

BREE
Gross carrying
amount
BIEEERZMNES Trading assets

—EBESH - Debt securities 7,621,184
—PTETA - Derivatives 289,399
HHOTET R Hedging derivatives 437,644

AT EFEBHEBABENEMEE Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
—EBESH - Debt securities 327,483
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.5 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held
or other credit enhancements (Continued)

At 31 December 2017
BeiEERRE

Maximum exposure
to credit risk

EHREERBRANBEZEREARENT :

I & MIEIRITH A A
HERT1E12AA
EIHITF R

HEEERRNES

UAFEFEBEESFABENEREE

TESRTA
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—EBES
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HARRGTRHEEFRAN (2017 F -
4%) ;
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Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance
sheet assets are as follows:

Cash and balances with banks 17,343,673
Placements with banks maturing between

one and twelve months 11,856,241
Trading securities 8,837,554
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 358,347
Derivative financial instruments 897,967
Loans and advances to customers 119,264,658
Trade bills 4,065,401
Other assets 4,091,617
Available-for-sale securities

— Debt securities 38,086,863
Held-to-maturity securities 6,233,704

211,031,025

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance

sheet items are as follows:
Loan commitments and financial guarantees 76,672,730

288,703,755

The results of credit performance of the Group can be further
assessed with reference to the following:

° 3% of the loans and advances portfolio are categorised in
the top grade of the internal rating system (2017: 4%);

° Mortgage loans, which represent the biggest group in the
portfolio, are backed by collateral;

° Loans and advances to customers that are credit-
impaired constituted 0.75% (2017: 0.65% under HKAS 39)
of the total loans and advances to customers; and

° 80% (2017: 82%) of the investments in debt securities and
other bills have at least an A- credit rating.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.6 Loans and advances

Loans and advances to customers are summarised as follows:

2018
BRI AR Gross loans and advances 128,630,279
Mk REEEERE Less: total impairment allowances (913,923)
HER Net 127,716,356
EEEREZERRER Credit-impaired loans and advances 970,166
Bk : PEER S MBS Less: Stage 3 impairment allowances (362,989)
HER Net 607,177
BEEERAFE" Fair value of collateral held * 503,728
EEEREERRBRLEEFER K Credit-impaired loans and advances as a
B BREAE DL % of total loans and advances to customers 0.75%
o HBGATEBRERBRSTERER R EELS * fair value of collateral is determined at the lower of the market value of

#% METREEEE

20181 A1 HZEERBERZRFEFRRER(E
[RBR B 5 B RRNE B REZERE9 57) 248
{8/ 1,243,227,000 77T X 2 EEREER
L& 51.04% o

EBRERBEE2017F12 831 HIE © EHLER
2B EEEHEERIRE R R 2 HA R BRE
BT AERZE 39 LA EEBIFEERRE
EERBZTRER([TRER]) WREBRE
B - ERBUBMELREI KT - ZZFTR
ERRTELEHERRERDNAEEREER
285 o

collateral and outstanding loan balance.

Gross impaired loans and advances to customers as at 1 January
2018 to reflect the adoption of HKFRS 9 from that date amounted to
HK$1,243,227,000 and the corresponding credit-impaired loan ratio
was 1.04%.

In the past and up to 31 December 2017, retail restructured unsecured
loans with regularised account conduct and non-performing loans
(“NPLs”) which were fully secured and on which no individually
assessed loan impairment allowances were made under HKAS 39
were not counted as impaired loans. Under HKFRS 9, such NPLs and
retail restructured unsecured loans form part of the Group’s impaired
loans.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

The disclosures below were included in the Group’s 2017 financial

statements and do not reflect the adoption of HKFRS 9. As source

of the tables are not directly comparable to the current 2018 tables,

which are disclosed on a HKFRS 9 basis, these 2017 disclosures have

been shown and not adjacent to 2018 tables.

2017
FEi HA R (B8 S E B R E Neither past due nor individually impaired 116,279,239
BB R E R EIEERRE Past due but not individually impaired 2,230,155
(ERIIVERIE Individually impaired 755,264
FEEE Gross 119,264,658
Mk REEE Less: allowance for impairment (659,046)
it Net 118,605,612
MEERKBR Impaired loans and advances
—ERRE (FE(F)) — Individually impaired (Note (a)) 755,264
—fFaRE(E(2)) — Collectively impaired (Note (b)) 19,033
774,297
B Impairment allowances made
— [ERIFEE (FE(FR)) — Individually assessed (Note (c)) (280,641)
— e (GE(2)) - Collectively assessed (Note (b)) (17,447)
(298,088)
476,209
BHEHRAFE Fair value of collaterals held* 563,247
WEEREBREEFER K Impaired loans and advances as a
B BREAE DL % of total loans and advances to customers 0.65%

* EfmAFEDREEFEDERERRERS
B MEPREEEE

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

collateral and outstanding loan balance

fair value of collateral is determined at the lower of the market value of
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Note:

(@)

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

Loans and advances (Continued)

Individually impaired loans are defined as those loans having objective
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred
after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”) and that loss
event has an impact on the estimated cash flows of the loans that can be

reliably estimated.

Collectively impaired loans and advances refer to those unsecured loans
and advances assessed for impairment on a collective basis and which
have become overdue for more than 90 days as at the reporting date.
The collective impairment allowance for these impaired loans, which is a
part of the overall collective impairment allowances, is shown above.

The above individual impairment allowances were made after taking into
account the value of collaterals in respect of such advances as at 31
December 2017.

The table below shows the percentage of impairment allowance as a

percentage of loans and advances for each of the three broad internal

rating classes.

2018 2017
MBS B
I E AT IEERERE
ERRB Bak ERERBHK Aol
B2tE  Impairment Btk Impairment
Loans allowance Loans allowance
and as a % of and as a % of
advances loan balance advances loan balance
% % % %

N1l Class

1—IE® 1 - pass 98.6 0.4 98.1 0.2
2—FRIEEE 2 — special mention 0.6 11.2 0.8 6.2
— RBSLAT 3 — sub-standard or below 0.8 37.4 1.1 25.0
100.0 0.7 100.0 0.6
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HMBEBRERE @
3.2 FERR®@
326 BB &)
(1) e R A (a5 h (8.2 Bl R0

ERRBFECTEERERAEBHNE
BB E TS — AR IEF £ 3.2.5 48 K #93 K
SRS -

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

(@) Loans and advances neither past due nor individually
impaired

The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances that
were neither past due nor individually impaired is normally
assessed based on the three broad gradings mentioned in Note

3.2.5.
2t %
Retail Corporate
fEA R At EHER HEER BHRE it At
01712A318 At 31 December 2017 Credit cards Mortgages Others Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
a7l Class:
1-F% 1 - pass 3,785,173 31,964,692 12,248,742 35,225,004 14,513,548 8,697,347 9,172,809 115,607,405
2-RAlET 2 - special mention - - - 162,926 280,408 129,393 44,487 617,214
3-REHT 3 - sub-standard
or below - 5,246 2,829 33,580 9,719 2,805 44 54,620
it Total 3,785,173 31,969,938 12,251,571 35,421,600 14,803,675 8,829,545 9217,731 116,279,239

ERESA TR 2 ZBEREEREE
2 MR ERKTER/RRE

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

Mortgage loans in the sub-standard or below class were assessed as
not impaired after taking into consideration the value and recovery of
collaterals.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS %

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HBREBRERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FEERK @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
326 BEFRB (&) 3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)
(Z) BEHEKAESREZ B RE % (b)  Loans and advances past due but not individually impaired
£ &%
Retail Corporate
i REEH At EHER fERER EUEL ) =H
017412318 At 31 December 2017 Credit cards Mortgages Others Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total
a1 EAZAT Past due up to 1 month 37,650 741,399 156,538 9,323 258,296 111,394 391,802 1,706,402
AE1ERNE Past due more than
Z3fiA 1 month and up
to 3 months 12,724 111,733 31,823 2,122 118,142 19,912 53,768 350,824
WHIEANE Past due more than
Z6fiA 3 months and up
to 6 months 6,659 3,950 7,381 866 13,574 1,370 2,392 36,192
BE6EANE Past due more than
6 months 4122 37,481 5 40,578 11,858 21,181 21,512 136,737
At Total 61,155 894,563 195,747 53,489 401,870 163,857 469,474 2,230,155
REAMRATE"  Fairvalue of collaterals * - 893,815 11,442 41,909 400,887 130,824 414,358 1,893,235
* HASZATENEREBEBEGTERER * Fair value of collaterals is determined as the lower of the market
REELE  MEPREEME ° value of collateral and outstanding loan balance.
VBERAER LA - KRR ZA Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the associated
FENMREEFGEBEEZGEEM collateral is valued based on valuation techniques for the
o R ZEBERRZAFENRZRE particular assets. In subsequent periods, the fair value of such
hinERKRIEEERLEMELT collateral is updated by reference to market price or indexes of

similar assets.

(A) 1B BREREERZE IS (EEE R (c) Loans and advances to customers that are credit-impaired
1Bt BB 51 2E B 395 (1B 5 6 under HKFRS 9 or individually impaired under HKAS 39
B2 EFEZRZH%

AREBRTAKREFEBERZESRA The credit-impaired loans and advances to customers of the

ZIEERERFEMR KR A970,166,000 Group before taking into consideration the cash flows from

P 7T (2017 F : fERIR{E S X 755,264,000 collateral held is HK$970,166,000 (2017: individually impaired

BIT) ° loans HK$755,264,000).

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018 123
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HMBEBRERE@ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 ZERE@m 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
326 BEFRB (&) 3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)
() BEEBHREENEINIEEER (c) Loans and advances to customers that are credit-impaired
(Bt B B B a1 2E R 395 tE1E 518 under HKFRS 9 or individually impaired under HKAS 39
B EFEHRZ (&) (Continued)
CEREXEANREERRBRZ EER The analysis of the gross amount of credit-impaired or
RE BT EER 2 BRI @A FER individually impaired loans and advances by class, along with
RIS the fair value of the related collateral held by the Group as

security, is as follows:

BFEEAR
ERAEE HEEE IREE NS
Gross Impairment Carrying  Fair value of
2018%12A31H At 31 December 2018 exposure allowance amount collateral held
EEREZER Credit-impaired loans
AAER Loans to individual:
—fERAFR - Credit cards 15,134 12,449 2,685 -
—RIBER - Mortgages 44,351 4,643 39,708 43,169
—HAth - Others 283,493 132,913 150,580 2,198
EER Loans to corporate entities:
—BHER - Term loans 251,403 79,206 172,197 175,496
—EBER - Mortgages 101,429 8,827 92,602 99,069
—BImE - Trade finance 154,078 73,630 80,448 94,333
—HAth - Others 120,278 51,321 68,957 89,463
EERBEZERERE Total credit-impaired loans 970,166 362,989 607,177 503,728

124  KEFRITEAR AT 20184 F 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WEEKRERE @) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 EEEE@m 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

326 BHRB (&)

3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

(A) BB EREEREIFEIZEH (c) Loans and advances to customers that are credit-impaired
Bt B B B a1 2E R E 395 (E 18518 under HKFRS 9 or individually impaired under HKAS 39
B EFEHRZ(48) (Continued)
AR~
{ARIA
TE P Impairment
Retall Corporate allowances -
RRER At BHER fZIBET EUET () At individual
MTE12A31E At 31 December 2017 Mortgages Others Term loans Mortgages  Trade finance Others Total assessment
[ERIREE Individually impaired loans 12,554 7,881 198,137 132,553 258,901 145,218 755,264 280,641
FEEARZATE  Fairvalue of collaterals® 6,961 3,988 142,067 125,175 184,241 100,015 563,247
* B AFEDBREERRTERER * Fair value of collaterals is determined as the lower of the market value of
REREH  MEFRREEME ° collateral and outstanding loan balance.
(T) B3 187U Lz EFH RS (d)  Loans and advances overdue for more than 3 months
() WEHREEENERSE ()  Gross amount of overdue loans
2018 2017
BHREE BHAIREE
ERERE BERaass
Gross Gross
amount of {5#8%  amount of ek
overdue Btk overdue Btk
loans % total loans % of total
REERFPENERE Gross advances to customers
EHA which have been overdue for:
—3MEAALE=61EA — six months or less but
over three months 99,729 0.08 91,458 0.08
—6 AL E=E1F - one year or less but
over six months 51,812 0.04 126,354 0.11
—1F Lk — over one year 429,568 0.33 582,967 0.49
581,109 0.45 800,779 0.68
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iEE:  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HBREBRERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FEERK @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
326 BF KRB (&) 3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)
(T) #BEI31EFULEZ BRI (%) (d) Loans and advances overdue for more than 3 months
(Continued)
iy BWHEREEER R IE (i)  Value of collateral held and impairment allowances
A= N P 4R uu@ against overdue loans and advances

ERREH EHR
FEEHE B il BERR At & [T2E]
Outstanding Current  FrAEHH REREDH ERESHEE HEERE

amount of market Portion Portion Other Stage 3

loans and value of covered  not covered creditrisk  impairment

20181258 31R At 31 December 2018 advances collateral by collateral by collateral mitigation  allowances
BEREEEPESREF  Overdue loans and advances

to customers 581,109 565,273 392,626 188,483 - 227,431

ERREH B HEEE-

AEREH B Bfm Bfm AffEE {EI5IIHE
Outstanding Curent  FrAdEHD ReeAEDH ERFERZRE  Imparment

amount of market Portion Portion not Other  allowances -
loans and valueof  coveredby  covered by credit risk individual
2017612431 H At 31 December 2017 advances collateral collateral collateral mitigation ~ assessment
BEAERESERRER  Overdue loans and advances
to customers 800,779 798,711 593,375 207,404 - 258,988
EEZEELTE AT BB LKA Collateral held mainly represented pledged deposits, mortgages over
HWETEEEWRRE - properties and charges over other fixed assets such as equipment.

126  KERITAR AT 20184 F 5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. HMBEBRERE @
3.2 FERR®@
32.6 B RB5 4
(X) #EHE (B A B Fat.2 8

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.6 Loans and advances (Continued)

() Rescheduled advances net of amounts included in

HE) overdue advances shown above

L4858 ks
BAL B
2018 % of total 2017 % of total
EFEER Advances to customers 311,262 0.24 344,868 0.29

BEZERE Impairment allowances 115,877 1,640

327 EZEE 3.2.7 Trade bills

2018 2017

HE5%E Al
—6EAAEE15F
—1F0E

REER

3.2.8 W #m
RERFE 2 WEERRLOT :

Trade bills which have been overdue for:

- one year or less but over six months - 4,397
— over one year - 10,868
- 15,265

Impairment allowances = -

3.2.8 Repossessed collateral

Repossessed collateral held at the year-end is as follows:

2018 2017

BEENE Nature of assets
ldEkyES Repossessed properties 153,639 282,643
HAh Others 8,336 21,343
161,975 303,986

WEHERRZATERERIE - BUKIEAMN
WIER B BERAREERR

& 51 7] & IR 48 {H /560,349,000 7% 7T (2017 & :
65,433,000 7T ) 2 £ B A EE T H MY
¥ DAL ERERBEAEREG Z AL MT
E AR B R B o 23K A 2 A FE 29
Z [HEE| ETRFIERHEZEE - HEZ
BB LR ©

Repossessed collaterals are sold as soon as practicable with the
proceeds used to reduce the outstanding indebtedness of the
borrowers concerned.

Certain other properties in the Mainland China with a total estimated
realisable value of HK$60,349,000 (2017: HK$65,433,000), which had
been foreclosed and repossessed by the Group pursuant to orders
issued by courts in the Mainland China, represent assets held by the
Group for resale and have been reported under “Other assets” in Note
29. The relevant loans had been derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WXEERERE @
3.2 SER@m
329 EEERE

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance

TREHRBBUBRESE

H‘J%Q%FE’\\2018¢$

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the Group’s ECL

EENIREBR I REERE - EREERE allowances for loans and advances to customers, loan commitments
YR 2 FEERE %}Eﬁ;%1ﬁﬁ’\j;¢jﬂﬁ ° and financial guarantees by stage under HKFRS 9 for 2018.
z2E Retail
PR 12 ] &t
BAGEE AHEE BHEE BHEE
BiEEE EiEEE BRER RS
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
allowance allowance allowance allowance
2018%181H At 1 January 2018 304,889 19,699 155,888 480,476
&% Transfers:
BRI BB ERE2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,500) 9,649 - 7,149
B 1 R EEES Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (11,307) - 210,442 199,135
R 2B E LR 1 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 405 (4,653) - (4,248)
BRER BB EEE 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - 4,311) 16,022 11,711
R 3EBERR2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 = = = =
EERE 2y Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 = = = =
HRFRE  BA New financial assets originated,
SRR purchased or derecognised
ZERAE during the period 58,127 (6,245) (16,789) 35,003
PDs/LGDs/EADs/ Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs/forward
AIEEM RS 2 28 looking assumptions 6,488 4,870 33,395 44,753
RIRALER Unwinding of discount 91 56 21 168
s Write-offs - - (248,973) (248,973)
HNE SR E fth £ &) Foreign exchange and other movements (400) (242) () (643)
2018%12A31H At 31 December 2018 355,793 18,823 150,005 524,621

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

¥ Corporate
PR g2 Pgr3 CE
RAEE BAHEE REEE BHEE
FRER ERER FREE ERER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
ECL ECL ECL ECL
allowance allowance allowance allowance
2018%181H At 1 January 2018 141,960 180,711 295,711 618,382
& Transfers:
P 1 B R 2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (1,915) 5,692 - 3,777
BRI BB ERERS Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (159) - 28,797 28,638
B2 BB 21 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 12,218 (28,951) - (16,733)
e 2 B EAER 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (1,599) 3,957 2,358
B 3EBERR2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - 10 (10) -
R 3EBERE 1 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 = = = =
HRIRE  BA New financial assets originated,
SREHRER purchased or derecognised
ZERAE during the period 69,233 (55,332) (69,225) (55,324)
PDs/LGDs/EADs/ Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs/forward
R R fRER 2 2 looking assumptions (13,571) 13,210 56,977 56,616
RBRBATR Unwinding of discount 466 1,426 13 1,905
s Write-offs - - (102,957) (102,957)
SN J Efth Foreign exchange and other movements (718) (114) (261) (1,093)
20184128310 At 31 December 2018 207,514 115,053 213,002 535,569
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iEE:  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HBREBRERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FEERK @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
329 EEERE®) 3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)
TREHEREBV B RE LD FIFAREFRN The tables below provide a reconciliation of the Group’s gross
2018 F HYILPE Bt 2 B M 4858 (BL R P B s 4 3K exposure (in terms of aggregate carrying amount of loans and
CEMHEEERERAERYBERNEES advances to customers and notional amount of loan commitments
#E) AR o and financial guarantees) by stage under HKFRS 9 for 2018.
Z2E Retail
P& £ 1 g2 BER 3
EpAE ek Bk &t
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross exposure Gross exposure Gross exposure Gross exposure

2018%181H At 1 January 2018 101,935,074 212,315 362,725 102,510,114
B Transfers:
P 1 B R 2 Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (176,170) 176,170 - -
BRI BEERERS Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (227,025) - 227,025 -
B 2B 21 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 55,192 (55,192) - -
B2 8B ERE 3 Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 - (26,274) 26,274 -
PR3 BB ERE2 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 - = = =
R 3EBERE 1 Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 - - = =
BREMINZ Changes of gross exposure other than

N k) modifications 4,090,793 (76,994) (20,647) 3,993,152
isH Write-offs = = (248,973) (248,973)
HNGE Jo B fth Foreign exchange and other movements (55,218) 2,159) (2,725) (60,102)
201812831 H At 31 December 2018 105,622,646 227,866 343,679 106,194,191

130  KREFBITARAT 2018FF4H
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329 EEERFE @)
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B RS ER AR M L
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

Corporate
PR Mgz 2 P 3
ket EiEE Jafie ki CHS
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross exposure Gross exposure Gross exposure Gross exposure

20181 A1H

B

RE 1 BEERR?
BE 1 HBERES
RE BB ERA
RE 2 BHERES
REIHBERR?
RE BB ERA
s
2EREEEY
t

N B

2018%12H31H

At 1 January 2018

Transfers:

Transfer from Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3

Changes of gross exposure other than

modifications
Write-offs
Foreign exchange and

At 31 December 2018

MEMSBRRE RAERITH B RIABRKA

FIREANFEFERR

Bt AEME2EKE

WEBIE  DEERER1RRF AL ER RS

% o

83,419,077 9,098,002 910,195 93,427,274
to Stage 2 (698,059) 698,059 - -
to Stage 3 (85,133) - 85,133 -
to Stage 1 928,512 (928,512) - -
to Stage 3 - (15,003) 15,003 -
to Stage 2 - 691 (691) -
to Stage 1 - - - -

8,823,819 (2,499,640) (254,871) 6,069,308

- - (102,957) (102,957)

other movements (69,667) (32,157) (11,609) (113,433)
92,318,549 6,321,440 640,203 99,280,192

Treasury portfolio, which consists of cash and balances with banks
and debt instruments at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, are classified in Stage 1 with no stage
transition during the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WEEKRERE @) 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 SER@m
329 EEERFE @)

BB BEEERIE9H 22017 FEF EH KRB
AREZZE 2 EIREER A SR %

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances
to customers and trade bills under HKAS 39 for 2017

B — BRI

132

Impairment allowances - Individual assessment

REER Hith A&t
Mortgages Others Total
REEE22D-ZE Movement in impairment
allowances - retail
20171 A1 B&ER Balance at 1 January 2017 255 5,531 5,786
REE B Impairment losses charged 2,728 1,618 4,346
ReEEEF MR Loans written off as uncollectible - (1,849) (1,849)
WEBREFHE L ER Recoveries of advances written off
in previous years 353 1,445 1,798
B R E A Exchange and other adjustments - 113 113
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 3,336 6,858 10,194
HEEE - RETE
Impairment allowances - Collective assessment
HERS BEER Hith &t
Credit cards Mortgages Others Total
HEEEZ2E-ZE Movement in impairment
allowances - retail
201751 A1 BRV&H Balance at 1 January 2017 29,485 16,748 69,309 115,542
REBERE/(EE) Impairment losses charged/(reversed) 41,827 (7,672) 154,899 189,054
ReEBRETMEE Loans written off as uncollectible (63,730) - (186,921) (250,651)
WEEREEMIE 2 BT Recoveries of advances written off
in previous years 16,628 - 25,389 42,017
BE 5 R A FR Exchange and other adjustments - 885 21 906
2017412 A31 A At 31 December 2017 24,210 9,961 62,697 96,868

RFEBEITER AT 2018F F 5k
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. WEEKRERE @)
3.2 SER@m
329 EEERFE @)

BB BEIERIFE39H F.22017F 2 EFEH KR
B E G2 R E R R (8)

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)

Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on loans and advances
to customers and trade bills under HKAS 39 for 2017 (Continued)

IR - R

Impairment allowances - Individual assessment

BHER REER UL At At
Term loans Mortgages Trade finance Others Total
REERZEE- 0% Movement in impairment
allowances - corporate
201751 A1 Bs Balance at 1 January 2017 127,008 307 241,757 60,352 429424
REBRRE/(25) Impairment losses charged/(reversed) 38,991 16 (4,424) 52,124 86,707
REFER ST Loans written off as uncollectible (106,176) - (82,655) (77,209) (266,040)
KEEREEREER Recoveries of advances
written off in previous years 2,907 - 8,111 8,203 19,221
B R A A% Exchange and other adjustments 773 - 362 - 1,135
20175128318 At 31 December 2017 63,503 323 163,151 43,470 270,447
REER-FaT
Impairment allowances - Collective assessment
BHER REER E5RE it fi
Term loans Mortgages Trade finance Others Total
AEERZEE- 0% Movement in impairment
allowances - corporate
201751 B 1 RMES Balance at 1 January 2017 120,718 62,450 63,698 72,715 319,581
REGE(RR) /1R Impairment losses (reversed)/charged (3,318) (12,591) (644) 6,602 (9,951)
ReEERE M Loans written off as uncollectible - - - (17,404) (17,404)
KEBREFHEZER Recoveries of advances
written off in previous years = = = 76 76
B R E At Exchange and other adjustments 2,609 - 232 623 3,464
2017512A318 At 31 December 2017 120,009 49,859 63,286 62,612 295,766
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iE:  NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. HMBEBRERE@ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.2 FEREM @ 3.2 Credit risk (Continued)
329 BRERF = 3.2.9 Loss allowance (Continued)
BB BEEERIFE39% 22017 2 B FIE K Reconciliation of allowance account for losses on accrued interest and
E ik B .2 EEE AR B £k & other accounts under HKAS 39 for 2017
FEst RS R iR B

Accrued interest
and other accounts
WEEE - REEE-
RETE 18 Bl FE Ay

Impairment Impairment

allowances - allowances -
Collective Individual
assessment  assessment

EstREREMEER Movement in impairment
WEEE2EE allowances on accrued

interest and other accounts

20171 A1 BM#R Balance at 1 January 2017 625 9,351
AR Impairment losses charged 713 13
BEE 5, N2 HL i A B Exchange and other adjustments - 729
2017912 A31H At 31 December 2017 1,338 10,093

134  KERITARARATE 20184 F R
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.10Debt securities

The table below presents an analysis of debt securities by rating

B RS R AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

agency designation at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

NAYE
UAFEFE FEEHSH
BH®EH GtAHt2E
ABE KEHEREE BER A
MERMEE Financial 5 By
Financial assets at SREE
RIFEE assets at fair value Financial
REEE fair value  through other assets at
Trading  through profit comprehensive amortised ait
20181231 H At 31 December 2018 assets or loss income cost Total
AAA AAA - - 2,949,490 168,273 3,117,763
AA- £ AA+ AA- to AA+ 7,621,184 - 10,962,405 1,139,026 19,722,615
A-EA+ A-to A+ - 327,483 19,729,482 4,189,870 24,246,835
B RBERA- Rated but lower than A- - - 4,823,834 685,147 5,508,981
RBEER Unrated - - 3,075,986 2,955,351 6,031,337
CH Total 7,621,184 327,483 41,541,197 9,137,667 58,627,531
HEER BEL  AHEERE  HEISRE
REBE AVERE Available- Held-to-
Trading Designated for-sale maturity G
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 assets at fair value investments investments Total
AAA AAA - - 3,429,380 - 3,429,380
AA- £ AA+ AA- to AA+ 8,837,542 - 9,660,897 273,344 18,771,783
A-EA+ A-to A+ 12 324,918 18,948,907 2,212,136 21,485,973
B RIBERA- Rated but lower than A- - 26,973 3,683,608 772,408 4,482,989
RETR Unrated - 1,456 2,364,071 2,975,816 5,341,343
G Total 8,837,554 353,347 38,086,863 6,233,704 53,511,468

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
101010010101130011
010001101011001071]

0011101091 0000101

010100107101730071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 700710

135



100111010001007110
110100111 00010 10100
J011011001110100010
101110101009110010

110100111000101010
1011011001110100010
)0111010100111006100
110011811001110100

136

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WXEERERE @
3.2 SER@m

B2 FEEEERBRZEMEESEEE
HEE

(FF) 1Z1

BEPERZBRESTTIRIEDE BARE
BRZERAFELDE - —RMF &
EFRMERTENEERATRZ EE
B - ERASIRES -

TRABEFPEREBRIREHAIN -

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure

(@ Geographical sectors

Advances to customers by geographical area are classified
according to the location of the borrowers after taking into
account the transfer of risk. In general, risk transfer applies
when an advance is guaranteed by a party located in an area
which is different from that of the borrower.

The following table analyses gross advances to customers by
geographical area.

2018 4 2017 4
12A31H 12 431 H
At At
31 December 31 December
2018 2017

EEERMEE Gross advances to customers
— BB - Hong Kong 105,025,978 95,759,022
— - China 7,442,961 8,229,210
—BFg — Macau 14,459,024 13,203,133
—Hfh — Others 1,702,316 2,073,293

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

128,630,279 119,264,658
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure (Continued)

(b)  Industry sectors

Gross advances to customers by industry sector classified
according to the usage of loans

2018 2017
EBEBERAMNER Loans for use in Hong Kong
THEeR Industrial, commercial and financial
I ES Y - Property development 5,411,554 3,927,651
—MERE — Property investment 15,930,681 14,933,223
— SRR - Financial concerns 5,229,101 3,814,050
—REBLAL — Stockbrokers 1,711,512 2,141,027
— PR T E R — Wholesale and retail trade 6,584,127 7,202,373
—BlEZE - Manufacturing 1,702,636 1,900,894
— B B R — Transport and transport equipment 3,691,151 3,932,189
—R&EE) — Recreational activities 103,057 96,881
—EE — Information technology 70,890 68,986
— Hofth - Others 3,537,199 4,114,396
43,971,908 42,131,670
EA Individuals

—BE [EERHEEE]
[AZEEEE &
[EEEEES] BFER

—BEEEMETYEER

—ERARER
—Efh

EEBERIER
BH58EAE (E(1))
EEBAIMERNER (F£(2))

— Loans for the purchase of flats in
Home Ownership Scheme, Private
Sector Participation Scheme and

Tenants Purchase Scheme 632,804 687,074
— Loans for the purchase of other

residential properties 26,609,223 22,988,102
— Credit card advances 3,721,632 3,613,411
— Others 12,927,451 12,308,030

43,891,110 39,596,617

Loans for use in Hong Kong 87,863,018 81,728,287
Trade finance (Note (1)) 9,265,660 8,766,204
Loans for use outside Hong Kong

(Note (2)) 31,501,601 28,770,167

128,630,279 119,264,658
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WXEERERE @
3.2 SER@m

211MEECEEREBZEHEES EMRE
HEEE (&)

(Z) 7% %)
2

(1) LR ZBESRERSERRESERHE
M2 BREESI Mo B AEEED - HOM
EONBE UAREmEBEIRESZE

e
A °

THEREBZEHMEER(BIEART
ZBINMRITHB AR FTZESRE) &
18.306,245,000 7&70(20174F12 31 H :
476,119,000 A7) AR [EEBAAIME
AMERIET °

(2 HEEEUIMERNESRBRER TEERR
BEEBAIMEBZER

3.3 WmHER

MG R T s BT i5 R R RERE(L TS| 2
BE  BEMEEABRIMNGRZEBRRAR -

BRXHZTZRAROBESEE  AREELE
REBERMERRERREZESREEER T
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IR AR A A B A NS 2 dn S T [RELBR 48 Bl 3%
ERERPGEEETTERRER  LARE
R ERM SRR EBE(MERREED 2
EE-MASERTERABNEEREFTEERR
MEARR o 5B R0z ke B R & B ab ([ =
B I N BE AR |) Jh— BB 2 [ TR e PR )
B BELRRERMEFMRE - LAHEA - 5
B EEREEZSRABRREZRARTHERR
FRBMBRHEIZEZKFEAR - EHATTERER
M AKBEARRAREFEEEEREE-VE
FERREZES  RREERSREESGRE
EEEERME -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Credit risk (Continued)

3.2.11Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk
exposure (Continued)

(b)  Industry sectors (Continued)

Note:

(1) Trade finance shown above represents loans covering finance of
imports to Hong Kong, exports and re-exports from Hong Kong
and merchandising trade classified with reference to the relevant
guidelines issued by the HKMA.

Trade finance loans not involving Hong Kong (including trade
finance extended by the overseas subsidiary banks of the Bank)
totalling HK$306,245,000 (31 December 2017: HK$476,119,000)
are classified under Loans for use outside Hong Kong.

2) Loans for use outside Hong Kong include loans extended to
customers located in Hong Kong with the finance used outside
Hong Kong.

3.3 Market risk

Market risk is the risk of losses in assets, liabilities and off-balance

sheet positions arising from movements in market rates and prices.

Market risk exposure for different types of transactions is managed
within various risk limits and guidelines approved by the Board, the
RMCC and the TIRC under the authority delegated from the Board.
Risk limits are set at the portfolio level as well as by products and
by different types of risks. The risk limits comprise a combination
of notional, stop-loss, sensitivity and value-at-risk (“VaR”) controls.
All trading positions are subject to daily mark-to-market valuation.
The Risk Management and Control Department (“RMCD”) within the
GRD, as an independent risk management and control unit, identifies,
measures, monitors and controls the risk exposures against approved
limits and initiates specific actions to ensure positions are managed
within an acceptable level. Any exceptions have to be reviewed and
sanctioned by the appropriate level of management of TIRC, RMCC or
the Board as stipulated in the relevant policies and procedures.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)

Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A. (“BCM”) and Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited (“DSB China”), which are subsidiaries of the Bank, run their
treasury functions locally under their own set of limits and policies
and within the overall market risk controls set by the Bank. The RMCD
of the Bank oversees and controls the market risk arising from the
treasury operations of BCM and DSB China.

The Group applies different risk management policies and procedures
in respect of the market risk arising from its trading and banking
books.

3.8.1 Market risk arising from the trading book

The following descriptions relate to the Bank and BCM.

In the Group’s trading book, market risk is associated with trading
positions in foreign exchange, debt securities, equity securities and
derivatives.

(@) Market risk measurement technique

In the management of market risk, the Group measures market
risks using various techniques commonly used by the industry
and control market risk exposures within established risk limits.
The major measurement techniques used to measure and
control market risk are outlined below.

(i) Value at risk

The Group applies a VaR methodology, which is a
statistically based estimate, to measure the potential loss
of its trading portfolio from adverse market movements. It
expresses as the maximum amount the Group might lose
given a certain level of confidence, which for the Group
is 99% for a one day holding period. There is therefore a
specified statistical probability that actual loss could be
greater than the VaR estimate. Hence, the use of VaR does
not prevent losses outside the VaR limits in the event of

extreme market movements.
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. WEEKRERE @) 3.
5 B K (8)
331 FEEERZ T 5ERE &)

(F) THRERETER % (%)

3.3

() THERREE

5 A e BUEE B RR R E R A 8
(RMAREBMER—R) EEHERE
B - MBERBETMKERS A ZHE
mE - mEARERBEE—(EEF
Bz HEBERNRE - 8 —&EE
SEEETTARE -

AEEFEZDBEAARER TSR
REBEAR  FHEERTSERRBE
AL Z AR - FrE BRI R E
FUHAERAREEEASER -

EAmBRREE AN EE 2 THBER
ERHEN—BERE EEGRH
BEZZESRMBEBERERET
RIS RBREMEREE RS BES XS
=Y WELEFEH - RAREER
ERRgREReEMSRREEZ
E R R R E L TR R o AR
ERFEAZ RS ED 2 THRRE
{EHH{E 42,887,000/ 7T (2017 4 :
2,014,000/ 7T) °

RFEBEITER AT 2018F F 5k

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(@

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.8.1 Market risk arising from the trading book (Continued)

Market risk measurement technique (Continued)
(i) Value at risk (Continued)

The VaR model assumes a certain “holding period” (one
day in the case of the Group) until positions can be closed.
It is calculated based on the current mark-to-market value
of the positions, the historical correlation and volatilities
of the market risk factors over an observation period of
one calendar year using a method known as historical
simulation approach.

The VaR model is continuously validated by back-testing
the VaR results for trading positions. All back-testing
exceptions are investigated and back-testing results are
reported to senior management.

As VaR constitutes an integral part of the Group’s market
risk control regime, VaR limits are established and
reviewed by the Board and its delegated committees
at least annually for all trading positions and allocated
to business units. Actual exposures, including VaR,
are monitored against limits on a daily basis by RMCD.
Average daily VaR for the Group for all trading activities
during the year was HK$2,887,000 (2017: HK$2,014,000).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.8.1 Market risk arising from the trading book (Continued)

(@

(b)

BZ2018%F12H31H

Market risk measurement technique (Continued)
(i)  Stress tests

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of
losses that could arise in extreme conditions. The stress
tests carried out by RMCD include: risk factor stress
testing, where stress movements are applied to each risk
category; and scenario stress testing, which includes
applying possible stress events to specific positions or
portfolios. Besides, the expected shortfall of the trading
portfolio is measured to evaluate the expected size of
extreme trading loss beyond a specified confidence level
and over a longer holding period. In addition, reverse-
stress tests are performed as a useful tool to evaluate the
maximum size of market stress that the Group can endure
before hitting the prescribed tolerable levels.

The results of the stress tests are reviewed by the Board

and its delegated committees regularly.

VaR summary of trading portfolio

HZE2017F12 A31H

WE121@A 1121 A
12 months to 31 December 2018 12 months to 31 December 2017
F15 B= BIE 15 &= K
Average High Low Average High Low
SN [ fix Foreign exchange risk 2,360 3,170 1,510 1,514 2,781 1,096
7 == @ Interest rate risk 1,429 3,769 744 1,332 2,259 660
el All risks 2,887 4,592 1,906 2,014 3,139 1,429
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book

In the Group’s banking book, market risk is predominantly associated
with positions in debt and equity securities.

(@)  Market risk measurement technique

Within the risk management framework and policies established
by the Board and its delegated committees, various limits,
guidelines and management action triggers are established to
control the exposures of the Group’s banking book activities
to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and price risk. In
particular, position and sensitivity limits and price triggers are
in place to control the price risk of the investment securities.
In addition, sensitivity analysis and stress testing (including
reverse-stress testing) covering shocks and shifts in interest
rates on the Group’s on- and off-balance sheet positions
and credit spreads on the Group’s investment securities are
regularly performed to gauge the market risk inherent in the
Group’s banking book portfolios and manage it against the
established control measures.

VaR methodology is not used to measure and control the market
risk of the banking book.

(b)  Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio
(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group has limited net foreign exchange exposure
(except for USD, Macau Pataca (“MOP”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”)) as foreign exchange positions and foreign
currency balances arising from customer transactions are
normally matched against other customer transactions or
transactions with the market. Foreign exchange exposure
of the non-trading portfolio in respect of MOP and RMB
arise mainly from the operation of overseas subsidiaries
in Macau and Mainland China. The net exposure positions
including the trading and non-trading portfolios, both by
individual currency and in aggregate, are managed by
the Treasury Division of the Group on a daily basis within
established foreign exchange limits.

Long-term foreign currency funding, to the extent that this
is used to fund Hong Kong dollar assets, or vice versa,
is normally matched using foreign exchange forward
contracts to reduce exposure to foreign exchange risk.
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(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book (Continued)

(b)

Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, if HK$ had weakened by 100 basis
points against RMB with all other variables held constant,
the profit after tax for the year and equity would have been
HK$15 million higher (2017: HK$6 million higher), mainly
as a result that the foreign exchange gain on translation of
RMB denominated financial assets outweighed the foreign
exchange losses on translation of RMB denominated
financial liabilities.

Conversely, if HK$ had strengthened by 100 basis points
against RMB with all other variables held constant, the
profit after tax for the year and equity would have been
HK$15 million lower (2017: HK$6 million lower).

(i) Interest rate risk

The framework adopted by the Group to measure interest
rate risk exposures arising from its banking book positions
is consistent with the guidelines set out by the HKMA in its
Supervisory Policy Manual (“SPM”) on Interest Rate Risk
Management. From an earnings perspective, interest rate
risk is the risk that the net income arising from future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. From an economic value
perspective, interest rate risk is the risk that the economic
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Group takes on
interest rate risk from both perspectives in the banking
book. As such, the interest margins or net interest income
and the economic value of the capital may increase or
decrease as a result of such changes or in the event that
unexpected movements arise. The Board and the Asset
and Liability Management Committee (“ALCQO”) set limits
on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that
may be undertaken and monitor the interest rate impacts
through scenario analysis and stress testing regularly.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.2 Market risk arising from the banking book (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis of non-trading portfolio (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)

At 31 December 2018, if HK$ and US$ market interest
rates had been 200 basis points higher with other
variables held constant, the profit after tax over the next
12 months and the equity would have been HK$17 million
higher (2017: HK$6 million lower) and HK$837 million
lower (2017: HK$975 million lower) respectively.

The method and assumptions used in the above sensitivity
analysis on foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are
on the same basis for both 2017 and 2018.

In addition to foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk, the Group’s investments in debt securities and
equity securities are also exposed to other price risks.
Consequently, the value of such investments could
change significantly depending on a variety of factors
including liquidity risk, market sentiment and other events
that might affect individual or portfolios of exposures.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.3 Currency risk

The table below summarises the Group’s financial assets and

liabilities as well as off-balance sheet net notional positions and credit
commitments translated into equivalent HK$ amounts, categorised by

currency.
BT En sk N Hitr £%
201851231 H At 31 December 2018 HKD usD MOP RMB Others Total
BE Assets
R RERITHEER Cash and balances with banks 7,492,929 2,040,777 564,096 4,104,391 2,150,236 16,352,429
ERT1E 12 AREIBNER Placements with banks maturing
between one and twelve months 5,770,010 1,033,418 344,512 2,484,508 609,532 10,241,980

RIEEERRNES Trading securities 7,621,184 - - - - 7,621,184
WATE 2R AEE Financial assets at fair value through

STABRNEHEE profit or loss - 307,483 - - - 327,483
TESRTA Derivative financial instruments 18,270 698,811 - 650 9,312 727,043
REERR AR E Advances and other accounts 102,324,851 17,321,329 7,926,967 7,076,113 1,537,647 136,186,907
DYNSEREIZES RN Financial assets at fair value through

Ht2 AN e REE other comprehensive income 974,414 31,777,920 37,107 29,876 68,119 41,654,436
DB AR SR AE Financial assets at amortised cost 900,470 5,710,969 1,940,984 580,297 - 9,132,720
SREEAT Total financial assets 133,869,128 58,910,707 10,813,666 14,275,835 4,374,846 222,244,182
8 Liabilities
BITER Deposits from banks 264,455 3,413,997 - 114,721 4383 3,797,556
fTASRIA Derivative financial instruments 25,519 396,477 = 433 50,844 473,273
FIEEERGENERE Trading liabilities 5,758,954 - - - - 5758954
BFER Deposits from customers 113,676,571 30,998,534 9,630,329 12523234 7,081,344 173,910,012
BRTHEE Certificates of deposit issued 5,517,708 1,017,368 = = = 6,535,076
RERER Subordinated notes - 5,449,082 = = = 5,449,082
HiofR B RER Other accounts and accruals 6,387,524 1,581,375 147,202 80,603 40,395 8,237,099
SRER&AH Total financial liabilities 131,630,731 42,856,833 9,777,531 12,718,991 7,176,966 204,161,052
BEERRAKATE Net on-balance sheet positions 2,238,397 16,053,874 1,036,135 1,556,844  (2,802,120) 18,083,130
BEEBRIMRBRRE" Off-balance sheet net notional

positions* 14,210,049  (16,507,108) (158,970) (146,760) 2,723,351 120,562

EERE Credit commitments 65,328,144 6,936,317 2,135,146 2,249,814 194,683 76,844,104

* BEBBERIMGAELRZFREIZANRBEARE
BINESEBRER ZIIMESRITETANERF

o

Off-balance sheet net notional positions represent the net notional

amounts of foreign currency derivative financial instruments which

are principally used to reduce the Group’s exposure to currency

movements.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.3 Currency risk (Continued)

BT e il ARE it At
20174512 A318 At 31 December 2017 HKD usb MOP RMB Others Total
BE Assets
Re RERITNES Cash and balances with banks 5,308,099 6,948,740 478,444 4,147,710 460,680 17,343,673
ERT1E 12 AREIBHER Placements with banks maturing
between one and twelve months 3,450,072 6,399,502 - 2,006,667 - 11,856,241
FIEEERGENES Trading securities 8,837,542 - - 12 - 8,837,554
NAFEEAES Financial assets at fair value
STABENEREAE through profit or loss - 353,347 - - - 353,347
fTASRIA Derivative financial instruments 20,104 791,237 - 643 85,983 897,967
XEEFREMRE Advances and other accounts 93,515,383 17,442,918 6,369,553 7,587,738 1,821,378 126,736,970
i EES Available-for-sale securities 5752,637 32,322,816 631 70,953 76,152 38,223,189
BEIHES Held-to-maturity securities 699,932 2,716,183 2,179,817 592,013 45,759 6,233,704
SREEAT Total financial assets 117,583,769 66,974,743 9,028,445 14,405,736 2,489,952 210,482,645
B Liabilities
FAER Deposits from banks 183,691 1,861,941 - 229174 2,585 2,277,391
fTASRIA Derivative financial instruments 27,637 643,710 - 319 11,118 682,784
HIEEERZNEE Trading liabilities 8,668,508 = = = - 8668508
REEHR Deposits from customers 114,067,597 20,268,439 9,140,994 13,082,034 6,167,432 162,726,496
BETNERE Certificates of deposit issued 6,558,602 625,104 - - - 7183706
BERS Subordinated notes - 5487366 = = - 5487,366
HifRE RBR Other accounts and accruals 4,270,922 1,246,693 146,403 347,269 84,824 6,096,111
cRBEAT Total financial liabilities 133,776,957 30,133,253 9,287,397 13,658,796 6,265,959 193,122,362
BEARRAFE TR Net on-balance sheet positions (16,193,188) 36,841,490 (258,952) 746940  (3,776,007) 17,360,283
BEEBRIGREZE TR Off-balance sheet net notional
positions* 31,647,521 (35,477,687) - 199,668 3,740,525 110,027
EEEE Credit commitments 69,049,742 4,754,368 665,648 2,056,376 146,596 76,672,730
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)
3.3.4 Interest rate risk

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risks. Included in the table are the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual
repricing or maturity dates.

3fEANE TEHRE

3f8A EiE E5%
T Over Over SENE e
3 months 3 months 1 year Over  Non-interest it
20185128318 At 31 December 2018 or less to1year to 5 years 5 years Bearing Total
&E Assets
ReRERINES Cash and balances with banks 14,749,040 - - - 1,603,389 16,352,429
ERT1E 120 AR B Placements with banks maturing
between one and twelve months 4,960,470 5,281,510 - - - 10,241,980
RIEEERROES Trading securities 1,884,793 5,715,679 20,712 - - 7,621,184
NATEEEERS Financial assets at fair value through
TABRNERAE profit or loss 327,483 - - - - 327,483
fTEERIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 727,043 727,043
BEETREMEE Advances and other accounts 101,092,630 9,384,242 12,478,745 8,123,154 5108136 136,186,907
WATEHE BEEFHA Financial assets at fair value through
ErANERNEBEE other comprehensive income 4,679,097 8,258,136 19,513,255 9,090,709 113,239 41,654,436
DBSRATIR N EREE Financial assets at amortised cost 1,067,285 2,501,538 5,559,163 - 4,734 9,132,720
cHEEST Total financial assets 128,760,798 31,141,105 37,571,875 17,213,863 7556541 222,044,182
8 Liabilties
BRH Deposits from banks 2,072,809 665,536 822,234 - 236,977 3,797,556
ke Derivative financial instruments - - - - 473,273 473,273
HEEERAMER Trading liabilties 4,077,451 1,471,633 9,870 - - 5,758,954
EPER Deposits from customers 137,727,558 26,268,947 2,784,995 113,866 7014646 173,910,012
BRINENE Certificates of deposit issued 4,335,736 1,552,299 647,041 - - 6,535,076
iEEH Subordinated notes 1,760,547 - 3,688,535 - - 5,449,082
Hi0iRE R Other accounts and accruals 15,522 - - - 8,221,577 8,237,099
SREEAT Total financial liabilities 150,189,623 29,958,415 7,952,675 113,866 15,946,473 204,161,052
NESBERAT (REHR) Total interest sensitivity gap (unadjusted)  (21,428,825) 1,182,690 29,619,200 17,009,997
HEfETEAN T2 Effect of interest rate derivative contracts 9,601,352 2,062,360 (2,258,058 (9,405,654)
NESRERA (£%) Total interest sensitivity gap (adjusted)* (11,827,473) 3,245,050 27,361,142 7,694,343

* RERBENSEREENREEABRRANEEMN
BENREEET - KRHENSHBREEEFTA
SRR T R @ T 1T A R OTE T A A KR

B

*

Unadjusted interest sensitivity gap is determined based on positions of
on-balance sheet assets and liabilities. Adjusted interest sensitivity gap
takes into account the effect of interest rate derivative contracts entered
into to mitigate interest rate risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Market risk (Continued)

3.3.4 Interest rate risk (Continued)

148

3{EAKE 1455k
3{EA E{E B56E
T Over Over 5ELF Nit8
3 months 3 months 1 year Over  Non-interest it
2017512318 At 31 December 2017 or less to 1 year t0 5 years 5 years Bearing Total
EE Assets
ReRERTES Cash and balances with banks 16,413,211 - - - 930,462 17,343,673
1 Z12[EAEIHBRER Placements with banks maturing
between one and twelve months 5,300,108 6,556,133 - - - 11,856,241
HEEERGIES Trading securities 3,162,696 5,662,478 12,380 - - 8,837,554
WATEEEEES Financial assets at fair value through
TABRRMEREAE profit or loss 324,918 - - - 28,429 353,347
TEERMIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 897,967 897 967
BEEHREMERA Advances and other accounts 102,001,151 7,412,034 9,701,725 1,934,467 5687593 126,736,970
ARLERS Available-for-sale securities 5,095,686 3,890,992 21,735,765 7,159,666 141,080 38,223,189
REEES Held-to-maturity securities 2,500,814 2,516,410 1,216,480 - - 6,233,704
SREEAF Total financial assets 134,998,584 26,038,047 32,666,350 9,004,133 7685531 210,482,645
af Liabilities
FER Deposits from banks 1,679,038 - 586,035 - 12,318 2,277,391
fTEEMIA Derivative financial instruments - - - - 682,784 682,784
REEERRYER Trading liabilties 7,198,678 1,449,608 20,222 - - 8,668,508
EEER Deposits from customers 135,396,166 19,368,226 989,207 - 6,972,897 162,726,496
BEINERE Certificates of deposit issued 4,157 875 1486,18 1539,613 - - 7,183,706
hEER Subordinated notes - - 5,487,366 - - 5,487,366
HfniA RER Other accounts and accruals - - - - 6,096,111 6,096,111
SRARA: Total financial liabilities 148,431,757 22,304,052 8,622,443 - 13764110 193,122,362
e MR ERAG (KAL) Total interest sensitivity gap (unadjusted)’ (13,433,173) 3,733,995 24,043,907 9,004,133
MEfETARHz 2 Effect of interest rate derivative contracts 4,054,355 1,505,421 1,414,431 (6,974,207)
HegEERas (SRE) Total interest sensitivity gap (adjusted)’ (9,378,818) 5239416 25,458,338 2,119,926
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to fund increases in
assets or meet its payment obligations associated with its financial
liabilities when they fall due without incurring unacceptable loss.

3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process

The Group manages its liquidity on a prudent basis with the objective
to comply with the statutory standard and to ensure that there is an
adequate liquidity and funding capacity to meet normal business
operations and to withstand a prolonged period of liquidity stress
of not less than a month. The Group has adopted the Liquidity
Maintenance Ratio (“LMR”) and the Core Funding Ratio (“CFR”)
as a regulatory standard specified by the HKMA for reporting on
the Group’s liquidity position. During the period, the Group had
maintained a sufficiently high LMR well above the statutory minimum
of 25% and a sufficiently high CFR to ensure that the Group can fund
its activities with sufficiently stable sources of funding.

Moreover, the Group has maintained a sound liquidity risk
management framework in accordance with the requirements set
forth in the SPM LM-1 on “Regulatory Framework for Supervision of
Liquidity Risk” and the SPM module LM-2 on “Sound Systems and
Controls for Liquidity Risk Management” revised by the HKMA in July
and November 2016 respectively. The SPM LM-1 is to provide the
approach adopted by the HKMA for supervising and assessing the
liquidity risk of banks while the SPM LM-2 is developed to implement
the liquidity sound principles formulated by the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision (“Basel Committee”) to strengthen the liquidity
risk management standards of banks.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (Continued)

Liquidity risk management is governed by the policy and framework
approved by the Board, which delegates to the Group’s ALCO to
oversee liquidity risk management. The ALCO regularly reviews the
Group’s loan and deposit mix and changes, funding requirements and
projections, and monitors a set of liquidity risk metrics, including the
LMR, CFR and maturity mismatch on an ongoing basis. Appropriate
limits or triggers on these risk metrics are set and sufficient liquid
assets are held to ensure that the Group can meet all short-term
funding requirements. The Treasury Division is responsible for the
day-to-day management of funding and liquidity position while the
RMCD is responsible for the measurement and monitoring of liquidity
risk exposures on a daily and monthly basis, and also conducting
liquidity analysis and stress testing. The Financial Control Division
(“FCD”) handles regulatory reporting in relation to liquidity risk, and
coordinates the regular forecast of loans and deposits, and LMR,
budget and analysis relating to liquidity and funding management.

The Group places considerable importance to establish a diversified
and stable funding. While customer deposits form the primary portion
of the Group’s funding, certificates of deposit and medium term notes
are issued at opportune time in order to lengthen the funding maturity
and optimise asset and liability maturities. Short-term interbank
deposits are taken on a limited basis with the aim of maintaining the
presence in the market and the Group is a net lender to the interbank

market.

The monitoring and reporting take the forms of cash flow
measurements and projections for different time horizons, including
the next day, week and month, which are key periods for liquidity
management. The starting point for those projections is an analysis
of the contractual maturity of the financial assets and liabilities as
well as the expected maturity of these assets and liabilities based
on historical observations. The cash flow projections also take into
account the historical behaviour of off-balance sheet items, including
undrawn lending commitments and contingent liabilities such as
standby letters of credit and guarantees. A liquidity cushion is held to
withstand unexpected shortfall in net cash flow. Eligible securities in
the cushion are mainly in high credit quality and have sufficient market
depth that can be realised within 1 month. Debt securities held are
marked to the market on daily basis to ensure their market liquidity.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.1 Liquidity risk management process (Continued)

EEREL
Eligibility criteria

BEEER

Asset classes

F14% 1EAR BT - ZB8BRBORDEEMETLZ 0% &% 20% 2 B S=
B ES
Level 1 Within 1 month Debt securities issued by government, 0% and 20% risk
multilateral development banks and weighted
public sector entities
FoM% 1{EAR FER R EBIT ZEFES EERA/A-SUA
Level 2 Within 1 month Debt securities issued by non-financial Credit rating with A- or
corporate entities above
MENEEE AR AR Size of the liquidity cushion
(B8%ET)
(in HK$ million)
A2 E Internal categorisation 2018 2017
ERF Level 1 18,920 15,870
B2k Level 2 11,127 10,230

AEETFHETENNSR - SFEERESEAH
B - — RIS RO E ME KR 77 AR
ERBUEARNERBZTSERTNEELE
AEERY R ARERER  BRELOR
SR E NS R AT E B R A E AN F LI
Rz ABMETHER - ARECHEEREE
8| FHYIREREBIEREE 2 RN E=IE)

TEHERESR IR ZERF (FINETEBHER
SEEBRFRERDUERREEREZEE) -
FETRBARANRZ ) BFENZZEE BN
BREDAREEEN - KEARRZRZEA
FRAETERREBERL T 2R RBRME -
MRBEME=FT2X5RE - AEEZMERQ
ARNEFERZEBERATAEEEREERSESHNIA
ENEFE - AEBEZITET AR HRZ RIME
BRRNEGH - AEEZITETARHGREZ R
SNER B RAMESL - WRAKEETETAR
SHFZERMBBIHGET - ERmcEFREE
ZEERT R -

The Group performs stress testing regularly, which includes an
institution-specific crisis scenario, a general market crisis scenario and
a combination of these crisis scenarios in order to assess the potential
impact on its liquidity position under stressed market conditions. The
Group maintains a set of early warning indicators, including qualitative
and quantitative factors and involving both internal and market
indicators that help in identifying any emerging risk at early stage. The
Group has formulated a contingency plan that sets out strategies for
dealing with liquidity problems and the procedures for making up cash
flow deficits (e.g. conducting repo transactions or liquidation of assets
held for liquidity risk management purpose) in emergency situations.
An annual drill test is conducted and the contingency plan is reviewed
at least annually to ensure it remains sound and effective. Intragroup
transactions are conducted on arm’s length basis and are treated the
same way as other third party transactions for the purpose of cash
flow projection under normal scenario. Subsidiaries of the Group are
required to manage their liquidity positions to meet their needs under
both normal and stressed conditions. Most of the Group’s derivative
transactions are exchange rate contracts and interest rate contracts.
Under the terms of our collateral arrangements with derivative
counterparties, collateral movements are not linked with the credit
ratings of the Group.
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3. HMBEBRERE @ 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 REBELEMRE@m 3.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

34.2 FHHDHT 3.4.2 Maturity analysis
TERAOMAEEIZRERREEBESHEIHASK The table below analyses the Group’s assets and liabilities into
HEREAERAH (NER) ZRGEHRE EZBE K relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
afiE- end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date or, where

applicable, the earliest callable date.

1EARE 3EANE

BIEAINT EE 1E0L
MHEE  1fARSMT  Smonthsor Over B5E
Repayable Upto lessbutover Imonths  Over1 year SENE #HAN ait

01812531 A At 31 December 2018 on demand 1 month 1 month to1 year to5years  Over5years Indefinite Total
gt Assets
ReRESAMER  Cashand balances with banks 2,723,966 13,628,463 - - = = = 16,352,429
EHT1Z12[AR  Placements with banks maturing

S| between one and twelve months - - 5,043,393 5,198,587 - - - 10,241,980
RIEEEREMER  Trading securities - 44,965 1,830,827 5,715,679 20,13 - - 7,621,184
fEeRIA Derivative financial instruments - 87,175 48,757 136,351 117,324 337,436 - 727,043
DATEF2AEES  Financial assets at fai value

SABRHEEEE  through profitorloss - 208,732 118,751 - = = = 307,483
BEERREMEE  Advances and other accounts TTM067 23504341 12279193 16566684 35399803 30,711,485 1014334 136,186,907
IWAFEFEBEZEA Financial assets at fair value through

Zf2ENENEHEE  other comprehensive income - 2,432,105 1,492,047 8,297,397 20,228,939 9,090,709 113,239 41,654,436
MBS ATIENEBEE Financial assets at amortised cost - 379,556 667,729 2,501,537 5,550,164 - 4,734 9,132,720
BENTRE Investment in an associate - - - - - - 3,620,597 3,620,597
LR EERE Investments in ointly controlled enties - - - - - - 87,691 87,691
58 Goodwil - - - - - - 811,690 811,690
apeE Intangible assets - - - - - - 58,252 58,252
AEREMETEE  Premises and other fixed assets - - - - - - 2,923,147 2923147
k&% Investment properties - - - - - - 1,236,930 1,236,930
L Current income tax assets - - - 1,563 - - - 1,563
EILHELE Deferred income tax assets - - - - 154,354 = = 154,354
BEAT Total assets 10,435,033 40,285,337 21,509,697 38,417,798 61,480,207 49,139,630 9,870,614 231,138,406
8f Liabilities
RO Deposits from banks 241,545 1,207,258 865,493 660,892 822,368 - - 3,797,556
fEeRIA Derivative financial instruments - 131,755 63,923 156,670 108,405 12520 - 47313
HERERENER Trading liabilities - 1,457,043 2,820,408 1,471,633 9,870 - - 5,758,954
RFEH Deposits from customers 66,137,021 34,826,336 43,779,052 26,268,802 2,784,935 113,866 - 173,910,012
BEAIENE Certficates of deposit ssued - 1,704,221 1,073,732 3,110,082 647,041 - - 6,535,076
EER Subordinated notes - 1,760,548 - - 368,534 = = 5,449,082
AR R Other accounts and accruals 43,247 3,814,768 572,236 1,245,562 693,732 1,411,217 456,277 8,237,099
Gl Current income tax liabiliies - - - 593,097 - - - 593,097
ERfERE Deferred income tax liabiiies - - - - 17,508 - - 17,508
B4+ Total liabilities 66,421,813 44,901,929 49,174,844 33,507,638 8,772,393 1,537,663 456,217 204,772,557
FRatEE Net liquidity gap (55,986,780) (4,616,592) (27,665,147) 4,910,160 52,707,904 47,601,967 9,414,337 26,365,849
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3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)

B RS ER AR M L
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

1EANE 3fAANE
B3EARNT 3£ 150k
PHEEE  1ERIUT  3monthsor Over EYf:2
Repayable Upto  less but over Smonths  Over{ year SEE EHERS A3

01712531 A At 31 December 2017 on demand 1 month 1 month to 1 year t05 years Over 5 years Indefinite Total
BE Assets
R RERINER Cash and balances with banks 2,129,449 15,214,224 - - - - - 17,343,673
FERTIZ12[EAR  Placements with banks maturing

HERER between one and twelve months - - 5,300,107 6,556,134 - - - 11,856,241
BEEEEEMES  Trading securiies - 2,594,763 554,397 5,652,032 36,362 - - 8837554
WATEHEELES  Financial assets at fair value through

FTABGMEREAE  profitorloss - 207,137 117,781 - - 28429 - 353,347
it eRIE Derivative financial instruments - 259,049 164,185 169,303 95,286 210,144 - 897,967
REEFREMES Advances and other accounts 7,375,087 19,074,016 10,835,482 16,524,456 34,266,957 36,516,527 2144445 126,736,970
RHERS Available-for-sale securities - 2,088,412 2,882,169 3,890,992 22,060,871 7,159,666 141,079 38,223,189
BEHERS Held-to-maturity securities - 1,512,316 988,497 2,516,411 1,216,480 - - 6,233,704
SENAIRE Investment in an associate - - - - - - 4,134,651 4134651
LR EERE Investments in jointly controlled entities - - - - - - 81,157 81,167
BE Goodwil - - - - - - 811,690 811,690
ayEE Intangible assets - - - - - - 58,252 58,252
AEREWETEE  Premisesand other fived assets - - - - - - 2948252 2948252
L Investment properties - - - - - - 1,179.442 1,179,442
il Current income tax assets - - - 137 - - - 137
BiHELE Deferred income tax assets - - - - 81,492 - - 81,492
HEAT Total assets 9,504,536 40,949,917 20,842,618 35,300,465 57,757,448 43,914,766 11498068 219,777,718
gf Liabiliies
HER Deposits from banks 45,977 450,519 1,202,023 - 578,872 - - 2,277,391
il 0! Derivative financial instruments - 196,414 150,127 150,604 148,339 37,300 - 682,784
BEEERRNEE  Trading liabilties - 580376 6,609,302 1,449,608 20,222 = = 8,668,508
EPEH Deposits from customers 67,867,396 3,877,889 41,623,966 19,368,160 989,085 - - 162726496
BEINENE Certificates of deposit issued - 849,938 2,062,267 1,076,889 2,094,612 - - 7,183,706
pEER Subordinated notes - - - - 5,487,366 - - 5,487,366
AR RER Other accounts and accruals 41,59 1,932,398 716,213 693,317 39,041 - 2,673,490 6,096,111
MEtEaR Current income tax liabilities - - - 451,650 - - - 451,650
ERfERE Deferred income tax labilties - - - - 86,578 - - 86,578
EH Total liabilities 67,954,965 36,896,534 52,563,958 24,090,228 9444115 37,300 2,673,490 193,660,590
FrgtER Net liquidity gap (58,450,429) 4,063,383 (31,721,340) 11,219,237 48,313,333 43877466 8,625,478 26,117,128
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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RBEMARFHERERZRBEEEELBRAN
FREZBRAER - REHNEIH B AT Z FHHIR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)

In respect of certificates of deposit held for investment purpose
and included in total assets as at the end of the reporting period,

DNTBHREAT ¢ the relevant balance, analysed based on the remaining period to
contractual maturity is shown as follows:
1EAME  3fEANL
{B3EAZNUT Bf 1E)E
PHEE  1EAIUT  3months or Over E5%
Repayable Upto  lessbut over 3months  Over1 year SENE  ENBRH it
on demand 1 month 1 month to1 year to5years  Over5years Indefinite Total
2018512831 At 31 December 2018
EREpan: Certificates of deposit held
included in:
MATEFEEEEE  Financial assets at far
MHMEH& i) value through other
SREE comprehensive income - 199,956 - 215,853 13,949 = = 429758
BRI B Financial assets at
SREE amortised cost - 299,895 222,759 409,640 193,838 - - 1,126,132
017412318 At 31 December 2017
FREpan: Certificates of deposit held
included in:
AfHHE u’f%'r Available-for-sale securities - - - 1,363,762 - - - 1,363,762
REEE Held-to-maturity securities - 100,000 - 499,932 146,881 - - 746,813

BERABEHRINENAEMZZNFELYSE

EEEETHER BRETHNERRZEESR

THEEMHR R AEER - $RTM 5

0 %%*E

FERIERLE N EE - THENSRETA RS

Mg - Bt mEERRE o

BEEBENE JHHEI&LA/\EEE’JEZZK A Z
MERENES  EFEEERBES RERF

$&E$x§bﬁﬁ7¥<f‘ﬂ R ERRE -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and
interest rates of assets and liabilities are fundamental to the
management of the Group. It is unusual for banks to be completely
matched, as businesses transacted are often of uncertain term
and of different types. An unmatched position potentially enhances
profitability, but also increases the risk of losses.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at
an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as they mature are
important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its
exposure to changes in interest rates and exchange rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)
3.4.2 Maturity analysis (Continued)

Liquidity requirements to support calls under guarantees and
standby letters of credit are considerably less than the amount of the
commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third
parties to fully draw funds under the agreement. The total outstanding
contractual amount of commitments to extend credit does not
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as many of these

commitments will expire or terminate without being funded.

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Group under
non-derivative financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities that
will be settled on a net basis and derivative financial instruments that
will be settled on gross basis by remaining contractual maturities at
the end of the reporting period. The amounts disclosed in the table
are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Group
manages the inherent liquidity risk based on expected undiscounted
cash inflows.

The Group’s derivatives that normally will be settled on a net basis
include:

° Foreign exchange derivatives: OTC currency options, currency
futures, exchange-traded currency options;

° Interest rate derivatives: interest rate swaps, forward rate
agreements, OTC interest rate options, interest rate futures and
other interest rate contracts; and

° Equity derivatives: equity options.

The Group’s derivatives that will be settled on a gross basis include:

° Foreign exchange derivatives: currency forward, currency
swaps;
° Interest rate derivatives: interest rate swaps and cross currency

interest rate swaps; and
° Credit derivatives: credit default swaps.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities

156

(Continued)
1fEAULE EANRL
BAHIUT BE 1ENUE
1fAZAT 3 months or Over B5E
Upto less but over 3months  Over 1 year 5N E &t
201812318 At 31 December 2018 1 month 1 month to 1 year to5years  Over5 years Total
FTETARER Non-derivative cash flow
=L Liabilities
ROFH Deposits from banks 1,454,055 872,197 667,035 822,664 = 3,815,951
EFREH Deposits from customers 101,251,790 44,592,302 26,714,649 3,081,414 144,996 175,785,151
FEEERRNAR Trading liabilities 1,458,500 2,828,500 1,480,402 10,238 - 5,777,640
BRTNERE Certificates of deposit issued 1,731,200 1,106,699 3,181,665 670,407 = 6,689,971
{&(ERE% Subordinated notes 1,807,667 57,067 141,242 3,944,308 - 5950374
AR Other liabilities 3,677,199 474,449 340,798 - 159,455 4,651,901
BERE Total liabilities
(R#EI#A) (contractual maturity dates) 111,380,411 49,931,214 32,525,791 8,529,121 304,451 202,670,988
fIETARSR Derivative cash flow
BEREETESRTE Derivative financial instruments
settled on net basis 25,953 281,251 1,294,200 968,461 - 2,569,865
ROBEETESRTIE Derivative financial instruments
settled on a gross basis
mHEE Total outflow 38,074,115 || 12,200,786 || 22,793,990 2,575,916 1,009,851 || 76,654,658
mARE Total inflow (38,011,675) | | (12,101,404) || (22,923,348) || (2,701,086) || (1,052,610) || (76,790,123)
62,440 99,382 (129,358) (125,170) (42,759) (135,465)

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.3 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual maturities
(Continued)

1EARERE  3EAME

SEAHLT BF 14 E
1EASMT 3 months or Over B5E
Upto less but over 3months  Over 1 year 5EE ast
2017512A318 At 31 December 2017 1 month 1 month to 1 year to5years  Over5 years Total
FETABSR Non-derivative cash flow
afE Liabilities
RITFER Deposits from banks 497,583 1,199,612 6,956 585,076 - 2289207
ZFEH Deposits from customers 101,087,790 42,292,518 19,670,382 1,084,506 - 164,085,196
FIEEERANERE Trading liabilities 589,500 6,619,127 1,455,349 20,283 - 8,684,259
BETNERE Certificates of deposit issued 672,719 2,508,622 2,336,735 2,160,500 - 7,678,576
#ERE Subordinated notes 45,637 57,914 186,762 5,939,817 - 6,230,130
AtafE Other liabilities 1,707,415 396,960 199,364 9,957 47,804 2,361,500
BEGE Total liabilities
(AthzIHA) (contractual maturity dates) 104,550,644 53,074,753 23,855,548 9,800,139 47,804 191,328,888
ITETARER Derivative cash flow
RERLEETESBTA Derivative financial instruments
settled on net basis (19,658) (20,383) (26,069) (16,598) (721) (83,429)

RRBESZTEeRTA

Derivative financial instruments

settled on a gross basis
Total outflow
Total inflow

15,656,870 || 28,890,070 |[ 12,301,692 |[ 2,369,387 728917 |[ 89,946,936
(45,714,184) || (28,839,295) || (12,331,812) || (2144,204) ||  (596,160) || (89,625,745)

(57,314) 50,775 (30,120) 225,003 132,757 321,191
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.4 Liquidity risk (Continued)

3.4.4 Off-balance sheet items

TREIEATIER : Included in the table below are the following items:

. EEREERETRFEE REMRK 2B FHE . Loan commitments by reference to the dates of the contractual
EREEAEBEEAGBERICRTAY amounts of the Group’s off-balance sheet financial instruments
EHAREHE) that commit it to extend credit to customers and other facilities;

o N E B BERIGRINE S 2 I & o Financial guarantees based on the conditions existing at the
12 reporting date as to what contractual payments are required;

o RNEE AFAM A Z T a] BUE R & FH 49 & o The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
RARBEI 7 ZIEREMNREEE & operating leases in respect of operating lease commitments

where a Group company is the lessee; and

J BBEREENRME 2 BRI - J Capital commitments for the acquisition of buildings and
equipment.
1EHR 1HUE 5 F
No later Z55 Over &t
2018F12 A 31 H At 31 December 2018 than 1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
BRI Loan commitments 73,613,454 629,131 522,363 74,764,948
R AER Guarantees, acceptances and
Hth & @b ARTS other financial facilities
—EREERERE - Guarantees and standby
letters of credit 968,569 143,591 - 1,112,160
—RERHEERE - Documentary and commercial
letters of credit 948,709 18,287 - 966,996
IR K I Operating lease commitments 226,425 657,244 410,863 1,294,532
BAE I Capital commitments 89,469 = = 89,469
At Total 75,846,626 1,448,253 933,226 78,228,105

1R 150 E 5FA

No later E5F Over =H)
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 than 1 year 1-5 years 5 years Total
BRI Loan commitments 72,796,905 2,284,903 116,741 75,198,549
ER ALK Guarantees, acceptances and
Hith & RUARTS other financial facilities
—EREkERERZE - Guarantees and standby
letters of credit 734,276 110,629 1,570 846,475
- BRENEECRE - Documentary and commercial
letters of credit 627,706 - - 627,706
TR AR Operating lease commitments 183,946 461,824 233,800 879,570
BREIE Capital commitments 55,462 - - 55,462
At Total 74,398,295 2,857,356 352,111 77,607,762

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
(@) Determination of fair value

Fair values are subject to a control framework that the Board is
held responsible for ensuring proper valuation governance and
control processes of the Group. It delegates the responsibility
for overseeing the valuation process for financial instruments to
the TIRC. Valuation is performed independently by RMCD and
where appropriate, by independent and professionally qualified
valuers and the valuation results are periodically verified to
ensure the integrity of the fair value measurement process.

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date under current market conditions regardless of whether
that price is directly observable or estimated using a valuation
technique.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or
regulatory agency. A quoted price in an active market provides
the most reliable evidence of fair value and shall be used
whenever available. If a financial asset or a financial liability has
a bid price and an ask price, the price within the bid-ask spread
that is most representative of fair value in the circumstances is
used by the Group.

Where observable market quotation of financial instruments is
not directly available, the Group estimates the fair value of such
financial instruments by using appropriate valuation techniques
that are widely recognised including present value techniques
and standard option pricing models. In applying valuation
techniques for these financial instruments, the Group maximises
the use of relevant observable inputs (for examples, interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, volatilities, credit spreads) and
minimises the use of unobservable inputs. For example, the
fair value of interest-rate swaps is calculated as the present
value of the estimated future cash flows, the fair value of foreign
exchange forward contracts is generally based on current
forward rates and the fair value of option contracts is derived
using appropriate pricing models, such as Black-Scholes
model.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
(@)  Determination of fair value (Continued)

The Group uses external price quotes and its own credit
spreads in determining the current value of its financial liabilities
and other liabilities for which it has elected the fair value option.
When the Group’s credit spreads widen, the Group recognises
a gain on these liabilities because the value of the liabilities has
decreased. When the Group’s credit spreads narrow, the Group
recognises a loss on these liabilities because the value of the
liabilities has increased.

Price data and parameters used in the measurement process
are reviewed carefully and adjusted, if necessary, to take
consideration of the current market developments.

(b)  Fair value hierarchy

The Group measures fair values using the following
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the observable and
unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement:

Level Descriptions

1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities. This level includes equity
securities and derivatives that are listed on exchanges.

2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices). This level includes the majority of the OTC
derivative contracts.

3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). This
level includes equity and debt securities with significant
unobservable components.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
(b)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

BEMEAFETE Recurring fair value measurements
F1H F2M ERE a%

2018 12H 31 H At 31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AR Descriptions
NATFEFEREE Financial assets at fair value

FTABENEREE through profit or loss

B ES Debt securities - 7,948,667 - 7,948,667
TESMTA Derivative financial instruments

RHIEEER% Held for trading - 289,399 - 289,399

B R+ Held for hedging - 437,644 - 437,644
WAFEFEBEZSFA  Financial assets at fair value through

Hin2EKENemEE other comprehensive income

BEE 5 Debt securities - 41,541,197 - 41,541,197

BmltES Equity securities 30,201 - 83,038 113,239
RATEFEZBEART Total assets measured at fair value 30,201 50,216,907 83,038 50,330,146
NAFEFEREE Financial liabilities at fair value

FABENESRERE through profit or loss

RHIEEERZ Held for trading - 5,758,954 - 5,758,954
TESMTA Derivative financial instruments

BIEEERR Held for trading 589 351,459 - 352,048

B R+ Held for hedging - 121,225 - 121,225
BATEFEZEBESS Total liabilities measured at fair value 589 6,231,638 - 6,232,227

REREBIRANEEZ @MEERIE LT
mEEHREFEE  HESREERA
FEZIR - BEERAEAENT - 2017512
A31B{EE 54,753,000 THEHFRE B
2018 F¥IIRFE R B8 B 75 i &5 %2 RI 28 9 55%
R EF D EENERK AV RENSHE
E o

Financial assets classified as Level 3 assets represent
investments in unlisted equity securities and debentures. They
are stated at fair value which approximates the cost. Since
the initial application of HKFRS 9 in 2018, the debentures of
HK$4,753,000 as of 31 December 2017 were reclassified to
financial assets at amortised cost.
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3. HMKERERE@m 3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
35 SREEREBZAFE @ 3.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
(7)) NFEERE) (b)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

RATEFSAEZEERBE  (&8) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value: (Continued)
& £20184 12 A31 A & 20174 12 A 31
HIEFE BEcREERBEZEME
A EE AT ESFRFREIRG - FREE
228 AEH N EE -

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017,
there were no other transfers of financial assets and liabilities
into or out of the Level 3 fair value hierarchy. The changes in
carrying value represent the revaluation gains/losses.
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BEMEAFEFTE Recurring fair value measurements
F1R FoM F3IH BF
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
AR Descriptions
TEEREE Financial assets at fair value

ﬁ')\?‘%?iﬁ’\]iﬁﬂﬁ% through profit or loss

BERHEH Debt securities - 9,190,901 = 9,190,901
TESHIA Derivative financial instruments

RHIEEER% Held for trading = 609,483 = 609,483

A RELH Held for hedging - 288,484 - 288,484
AHEZSREE Available-for-sale financial assets

BHES Debt securities - 38,082,110 4,753 38,086,863

T Equity securities 53,387 = 82,939 136,326
BAFEEZEERR Total assets measured at fair value 53,387 48,170,978 87,692 48,312,057

ANFEHEEHES Financial liabilities at fair value

EW\T&!EE’\]@MQE% through profit or loss

RIEEERZ Held for trading - 8,668,508 - 8,668,508
TELMTA Derivative financial instruments

RIEEERZ Held for trading - 503,015 = 503,015

A R{ELH Held for hedging - 179,769 - 179,769
BATEFECBERR Total liabilities measured at fair value - 9,351,292 - 9,351,292
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (Continued)
(c)  Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following methods and significant assumptions have been
applied in determining the fair values of financial instruments
presented below:

(i) Placements with banks

The fair value of floating rate placements and overnight
deposits is their carrying amount. The estimated fair value
of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted
cash flows using prevailing money-market interest rates
for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.

(i)  Loans and advances to customers, and trade bills

The estimated fair value of loans and advances and trade
bills represents the discounted amount of estimated future
cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash flows
are discounted at current market rates to determine fair

value.

(i) Investment securities

Investment securities include interest-bearing assets
included in the amortised cost category. Fair value of
amortised cost assets is based on market prices or
broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information is
not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market
prices for securities with similar credit, maturity and yield
characteristics.

(ivy Deposits and balances from banks, deposits from
customers, certificates of deposit issued and other
borrowed funds

The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated
maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits,
is the amount repayable on demand. The estimated
fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits and other
borrowings not quoted in an active market is based on
discounted cash flows using interest rates for new debts
with similar remaining maturity.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

3.5 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(c)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (Continued)

(v)  Debt securities in issue including subordinated
notes issued

For those notes where quoted market prices are not
available, the present value technique is used based on
current yield curve and/or credit spread appropriate for
the remaining term to maturity to estimate fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments

carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from

their fair values as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 except as

follows:
HREE
Carrying F1R EPE FEIR A¥E
201812 H31H At 31 December 2018 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
EHEE Financial assets
PAB R PR AR5 BR A Financial assets at
SREE amortised cost 9,132,720 - 9,024,491 4,753 9,029,244
cEeE Financial liabilities
BERITHERE Certificates of deposit issued 6,535,076 - 6,540,429 - 6,540,429
BIEGEE Subordinated notes 5,449,082 = 5,523,539 = 5,523,539
REE
Carrying F1H Fo/m 3R N
201712 A31 H At 31 December 2017 value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
SREE Financial assets
SENA LIRS Held-to-maturity securities 6,233,704 - 6,220,714 - 6,220,714
FRBE Financial liabilities
BEITHTEIE Certificates of deposit issued 7,183,706 - 7,194,809 - 7,194,809
RIERH Subordinated notes 5,487,366 - 5,653,318 - 5653318
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
3.6 Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

° To comply with the capital requirements set by the banking
regulators in the markets where the entities within the Group
operate;

° To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue its business as a
going concern;

° To maximise returns to shareholders and optimise the benefits
to other stakeholders; and

° To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of
its business.

Capital adequacy of and the use of regulatory capital are monitored
regularly by the Group’s management, employing techniques based
on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee, as implemented
by the HKMA, for supervisory purposes. The required information is
filed with the HKMA on a quarterly basis.

As Basel lll has become effective from January 2013 in Hong Kong,
the Bank is required to meet three ratios, namely, the Common
Equity Tier 1 capital, Tier 1 capital and Total capital respectively
against risk-weighted assets. The internationally agreed minimum
of these three ratios starting from 1 January 2015 are set at 4.5%,
6.0% and 8.0% respectively and are adopted by the HKMA. In order
to comply with HKMA'’s requirements as stated in the SPM CA-
G-5 on “Supervisory Review Process”, the Bank is required to set
further buffers, to reflect material risks not included in the minimum
regulatory capital calculation, arising from regulator’s requirements,
internal assessment of risks and the results of stress tests under
the Pillar Il capital requirement. In addition, the capital conservation
buffer, countercyclical capital buffer and higher loss absorbency
(“HLA”) capital requirements introduced by the Basel Committee
have been implemented since 1 January 2016 in Hong Kong. In line
with the international standards, the new capital requirements in
relation to the Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio, Tier 1 capital ratio
and total capital ratio, capital buffers and HLA capital requirements
as set by the Basel Committee have been fully phased-in since 1
January 2019. Likewise, the Leverage Ratio that forms part of Basel
IIl implementation becomes a Pillar 1 requirement from 1 January
2018, and relevant information has been submitted by the Bank for
regulatory monitoring.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.6 Capital management (Continued)

Risk-weighted amount is the aggregate of the risk-weighted amounts
for credit risk, market risk and operational risk, and covers both on-
balance sheet and off-balance sheet exposures. On-balance sheet
exposures are classified according to the obligor or the nature of each
exposure and risk-weighted based on the credit assessment rating
assigned by an external credit assessment institution recognised by
the HKMA or other rules as set out in the Banking (Capital) Rules,
taking into account the capital effects of credit risk mitigation.
Off-balance sheet exposures are converted into credit-equivalent
amounts by applying relevant credit conversion factors to each
exposure, before being classified and risk-weighted as if they were
on-balance sheet exposures.

Capital adequacy of and the use of regulatory capital by the Group’s
Macau banking subsidiary, BCM, and banking subsidiary in China,
DSB China, are monitored regularly by the Group’s management,
employing techniques based on the guidelines provided by the
Autoridade Monetaria de Macau (“AMCM”) and the China Banking
and Insurance Regulatory Commission (“CBIRC”) respectively for
supervisory purposes.

The required information is filed by BCM with the AMCM and by
DSB China with the CBIRC on a quarterly basis. The AMCM requires
BCM and the CBIRC requires DSB China to maintain a ratio of own
funds or capital base to total risk-weighted exposures (i.e. the capital
adequacy ratio) not lower than the required statutory minimum of 8%.

Certain non-banking subsidiaries of the Group are also subject to
statutory capital requirements from other regulatory authorities, such
as the Securities and Futures Commission.

3.7 Fiduciary activities

The Group provides custody, trustee, wealth management and
advisory services to third parties, which involve the Group making
allocation and purchase and sale decisions in relation to a variety
of financial instruments. Those assets that are held in a fiduciary
capacity are not included in the Group’s financial statements. These
services could give rise to the risk that the Group could be accused of
mal-administration.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Changes in estimates and assumptions may
have a significant impact on the results of the Group in the periods
when changes are made. The application and selection of different
estimates and assumptions, and their subsequent changes, could
affect the Group’s profit and net asset value in the future. The Group,
based on its high-level assessment of the sensitivity impacts on the
reported assets and liabilities of the Group arising from the changes
in critical accounting estimates and assumptions, believes that the
estimates and assumptions adopted are appropriate and reasonable,
and the financial results and positions presented in the Group’s
financial statements are fair and reasonable in all material respects.

(@) Measurement of the ECL allowance

The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets measured
at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the use of
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers
defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring ECL is
further detailed in note 3.2.2, which also sets out key sensitivities of
the ECL to changes in these elements.

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the
accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

o Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

o Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the
measurement of ECL;

° Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-
looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the
associated ECL;

o Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes
of measuring ECL; and

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the
Group in the above areas is set out in note 3.2.2.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments

A majority of the Group’s investments in debt securities carried at
fair value are valued based on observable market quotations. As a
consequence of the difficulties in financial markets caused by the
2008 global financial crisis, the Group had witnessed observable
declines in market liquidity and the range of market quotations for
certain securities have widened. The Group applies judgement in
selecting the most appropriate quotation for valuation purposes
based on its assessment of the range of observable quotations,
recent observable transactions, the reliability and quality of the pricing
source, and the value of securities of a similar nature.

(c) Goodwill and intangible asset valuation

For business combinations, subsequent to initial recognition of
goodwill and intangible assets, any major change in the assumptions
in relation to future benefits to be generated from the intangible
assets, including future cash flow of benefits to be generated from
the acquired entities, or discount rates which could be caused by
major changes in market conditions and outlook, could result in
adjustments to the carrying values of such assets. In the event that
the expected recoverable amounts of goodwill and intangible assets
are significantly lower than their carrying values, impairment of such
assets would have to be recognised.

(d) Distinction between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property. In making its judgement, the Group considers whether the
property generates cash flows largely independently of the other
assets held by an entity. Owner-occupied properties generate cash
flows that are attributable not only to property but also to other assets
used in the production or supply process.

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation and another portion that is held to supply
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions can be
sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance lease), the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions cannot
be sold separately, the property is accounted for as investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held to supply services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is applied in determining
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as investment property. The Group considers each property
separately in making its judgement.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, AND
JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Assessment of claims and contingencies

Judgement is needed to determine if provision for compensation
to certain customers who had bought structured investments
distributed (but not originated or arranged) by the Group need
to be recorded in accordance with the requirements of HKAS 37
“Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. In making
this judgement, the Group evaluates the information relating to each
or similar cases, and the likelihood and estimated amount of outflow
of resources which may be incurred to settle the obligation after
considering factors such as recent settlement experiences and advice
from legal counsel.

(f) Impairment assessment of the investment in an
associate, Bank of Chongqing (“BOCQ”)

The Group carries out periodic impairment assessments on its
investment in BOCQ in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of
assets”.

This assessment compares the carrying value of the investment
against the higher of management’s estimate of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal. Management’s estimate of the
value in use is based on a discounted cash flow projection which
contains certain assumptions derived from management and
observable market information. This estimate is subject to application
of management judgment and is sensitive to assumptions on the
discount rate and the cash flows arising from the holding of this
investment and from its ultimate disposal.

As at 31 December 2018, management’s estimate of the value in
use is lower than the carrying value of its investment in BOCQ. As
a result, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in BOCQ at
31 December 2018 has been written down by HK$ 633 million (2017:
HK$815 million).
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5. FABRITHBURARRFZREEH

5. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BANK

ERITRA AR R R Statement of Financial Position of the Bank
12A31H
As at 31 December
2018 2017

BE ASSETS
R RIERITH & Cash and balances with banks 14,945,938 16,029,073
FERIT1IE12@AR Placements with banks maturing

gl p:il: oy between one and twelve months 9,789,790 11,306,932
%%Ezﬁﬁm* Trading securities 7,621,184 8,837,554

NEEGEAEZEAER Financial assets at fair value through

E’]é?wﬁéf% profit or loss 327,483 324,918
TEeMITE Derivative financial instruments 727,145 897,967
RIEE#\&EME = Advances and other accounts 115,151,999 106,670,881

AP {EREEHE I ALA Financial assets at fair value through

1@145( E’Jéﬁ'ﬁﬁ% other comprehensive income 41,617,004 =
A ER Available-for-sale securities - 38,185,718
M%ﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁﬁé Financial assets at amortised cost 4,678,254 =
FEIMES Held-to-maturity securities - 1,374,003
N Investment in an associate 1,213,057 1,213,057

HEESEBIRE Investments in jointly controlled entities 20,000 20,000
Wf A E R EK Investments in and loans to subsidiaries 3,807,817 3,782,008
TEREMETEEE Premises and other fixed assets 2,425,962 2,438,529
REMZE Investment properties 1,177,114 1,124,194
BEFIREE Deferred income tax assets 75,910 =
BES Total assets 203,578,657 192,204,834
=L LIABILITIES
RITIF N Deposits from banks 6,683,304 4,758,708
TEemMTE Derivative financial instruments 473,606 685,109
FIEEBERASNERE Trading liabilities 5,758,954 8,668,508
BEER Deposits from customers 148,045,869 137,421,933
BB TI 7 R Certificates of deposit issued 6,535,076 7,483,676
&IBETS Subordinated notes 5,449,082 5,487,366
HiBR B R TEIE Other accounts and accruals 7,845,849 5,571,615
BVEAF IR A& E Current income tax liabilities 549,618 404,681
EERIEEE Deferred income tax liabilities - 81,782
BESE Total liabilities 181,341,358 170,563,378
Es EQUITY
H§$ Share capital 6,200,000 6,200,000
{1 Other reserves (including

(BIERBET) = (F) retained earnings) Note () 15,138,712 14,542,869
BREES Shareholders’ funds 21,338,712 20,742,869
EMERM TR Additional equity instruments 898,587 898,587
EREsT Total equity 22,237,299 21,641,456
ERkaEas Total equity and liabilities 203,578,657 192,204,834

BES N 201943 A 26 AL /E R IRREZ o Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26

March 2019.
Fp¥E FiAHE David Shou-Yeh Wong Harold Tsu-Hing Wong
EE EF R Director Managing Director
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B AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

5. ZARBITHBMRRRRFEEES @) 5. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

() AETHREZD

RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BANK (Continued)

Note:

(a) Reserve movement of the Bank

HRBRER REEF

TEERRE REEMRE B2t (i)

Premises Investment — R Reserve for Retained
Revaluation Revaluation General Share-based Eamings fit
Reserve Reserve Reserve Compensation (Note) Total
2018%1 71848 At1 January 2018 233,100 356,786 693,304 10,642 183,249,037 14,542,869

NEREAN KRS EL Change on initial application

F9%5.05 of HKFRS 9 - 50,623 - - (379,945) (329,322)
LB 220181 B1AEH  Restated balance at 1 January 2018 233,100 407,409 693,304 10,642 12,869,092 14,213,547

ATERERRIFERE HEL

WA S EEESEA
A2 ERENERTAR
R REBE NG

RRILHERE - BRI
AFEEEARIHA
A2 EREDES
TR ATEESEE
(k)

IATEEEEEHHA
H2ERENER
TEZAFEESEE

IATEHEBRBHHA
Htt2EhEs
TAZAVEEDIE

RABRBRD ELHE

IATEEEEEHH AL

Fair value gain realised and

transferred to income statement

upon disposal of debt instruments at

fair value through other comprehensive

income upon derecognition - (1,682) - - - (1,682)
Reclassification of net change in fair

value of equity instruments at fair

value through other comprehensive

income upon derecognition,

net of tax - 14,531 - - (14,531) -
Net change in fair value of debt

instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income - (456,336) - - - (456,336)
Net change in fair value of equity

instruments at fair value through

other comprehensive income - 1,698 - - - 1,698
Deferred income tax on movements in
investment revaluation reserve - 73,257 - - - 73,257

Net change in allowance for expected

FENERERTA RS credit losses of debt instruments
EEFEREYTH at fair value through other
comprehensive income - 5,267 - - - 5,267
BOMERMTAZREZE Distribution payment of additional
equity instruments - - - - (39,033) (39,033)
DARRIESZ (T AR A fE AR Provision for equity-settled
B B share-based compensation - - - 1,363 - 1,363
Gl Profit for the year - - - - 1,957,531 1,957,531
2017 EREKR 2017 final dividend - - - - (434,000) (434,000)
2018 EERE 2018 interim dividend - - - - (182,900) (182,900)
20185124318 At 31 December 2018 233,100 44,144 693,304 12,005 14,156,159 15,138,712
5t Note:
AIRITENEE RER N ERRE S SHRE EL A The Bank is required to maintain minimum impairment provisions in excess of
LASNZ B AR R E R - AT a2 BE B R (R ST ROR T those required under HKFRS in the form of regulatory reserve. The regulatory
BEERITRAFIRIT(RE)) DAFEBBRITEGEG reserve, which also covers BCM and DSB China, is maintained to satisfy
RUBEHEERENZAMEERTE - ZBEHERR the provisions of the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance and local regulatory
ERETRRZFEEESE EERECSHAETES requirements for prudential supervision purposes. The regulatory reserve
EREITHNA  WEENEREEATE - restricts the amount of reserves which can be distributed to shareholders.

Movements in the regulatory reserve are made directly through equity reserve
and in consultation with the HKMA.

72018412 A31 H  RRITEFETE 1,195,194,000 % 7T As at 31 December 2018, the Bank has earmarked a regulatory reserve of
(2017 4F : 1,427,215,000 %8 70) 2 S REIEREEFEL HK$1,195,194,000 (2017: HK$1,427,215,000) first against the consolidated
HIHEAR S —REE - SREBRARTZRERERT general reserve; and for any excess amount, the balance is earmarked against
FRIEE © the consolidated retained earnings of the Bank.
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5. ZARBITHBMRRRRFEEES @) 5. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE BANK (Continued)

5T (88) Note: (Continued)

(@) Reserve movement of the Bank (Continued)

() ARITREBES (B

AR AER RERM
ESBfER REB(ER B G (i)
Premises Investment —RER Reserve for Retained
Revaluation Revaluation General Share-based Earnings fit
Reserve Reserve Reserve Compensation (Note) Total
201751818 At 1 January 2017 233,100 352,613 693,304 10,257 11,659,507 12,948,781
ARNERF AT EYR Fair value gains on available-for-sale
RERKAER securities recognised in equity - 252,079
AHENERETRLE Fair value gain realised and transferred
FARERREEEYRE to income statement upon disposal of
available-for-sale securities - (246,975)
REERRESHIETHE  Deferred income tax on movements in
investment revaluation reserve - (931)
REEMABIEARE Reserve arising from reclassification of
IEAA premises to investment properties S S
WRES ARG ARG Provision for equity-settled share-based
B BE compensation S 385
BOMERMTAZREFR Distribution payment of additional
equity instruments - - - - (2,651) (2,651)
ERER Profit for the year - - - = 2,143,981 2,143,981
2016 FRERE 2016 final dividend - - - - (390,600) (390,600)
0175 ERE 2017 interim dividend - - - - (161,200) (161,200)
2017512318 At 31 December 2017 233,100 356,786 693,304 10,642 13,249,037 14,542,869
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6. EXSHEB|E

REERBRASNBMEERE8PT(LEEXBH
BEMRE D IBIWE - MBETHAS R EMATT
LZEEKBZEBZEERREAZMMIERE RS
R ZEETEATZER - THIREART - %
R1T - BB ROBIMRITE DA 2 W IRFEE -
AHIRTEB 2 S BRBREBZ IO - ME
IMRITHR 2 BB RIVIREFEBEDT

RERBIAWEB < EPH  EmERT - K&
RIBERR  AEERBEEXBE DA TIZ
WO

e FAABRTEBEREIEAARFEER &
EEFEB AAER BX - AEER
MEARRY - REEBHHESENRER
jﬁ%o

s BERTEBEEEIEN BEXR - 2E
BETREREIRE  HEFRELRE
EFIERTEERBBLER

c Hﬁﬁ%ﬁi% ?ﬁ?l\[ﬁ&ﬁ‘* hREFR
B MEAREE EFREBER
$%IEE¥Z§1 EFREHE -

o HINMRITERBIERMNRMFFTEZE
SN A RIR M 2 B A RIT AR 2RI 2
BRAEEN —EETBRY 2 BT
2w

s HMBREATEERENEME/RNEZ
HEXE  SEREREBES (BRERE
&%)

B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

6. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING

Segment reporting by the Group is prepared in accordance with
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. Information reported to the chief
operating decision maker, including the Chief Executive and other EC
members, for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, is determined on the basis of personal banking,
commercial banking, treasury and overseas banking business.
Operating performances are analysed by business activities for local
banking business, and on business entity basis for overseas banking
business.

Considering the customer groups, products and services of local
businesses, the economic environment and regulations, the Group
splits the operating segments of the Group into the following
reportable segments:

° Personal banking business includes the acceptance of deposits
from individual customers and the extension of residential
mortgage lending, personal loans, overdraft, vehicle financing
and credit card services, and the provision of insurance sales
and investment services.

° Commercial banking business includes the acceptance of
deposits from and the advance of loans and working capital
finance to commercial, industrial and institutional customers,
and the provision of trade financing.

° Treasury activities are mainly the provision of foreign exchange
services and centralised cash management for deposit taking
and lending, interest rate risk management, management of
investment in securities and the overall funding of the Group.

o Overseas banking businesses include personal banking,
commercial banking business activities provided by overseas
subsidiaries in Macau and China, and the Group’s interest in a
commercial bank in China.

° Others include results of operations not directly identified under

other reportable segments, corporate investments and debt
funding (including subordinated notes).
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6. BEDEIRE @)

IRENAREM S - HAUERRARSER D
BZREEP - Em&RBEA - BEZEZHN
ERNE: MAoRZENESERRESERMA
EENBRAMESKAR - B2RMSHNE 2 8B
BREFHIEESTDE - DEEZRZIKIER
FTEZFREF=EXZFZRBHFERE - DA
A2 WA B 2 AR & BRI SH o

FIBTRNBEZBEEAXEHERRABNDED
B MEAXREBFAFAXKEREE
BERAzZBEARITEEMDBREBLA - DEE
NRK DB MER ° TR BN RESTDE
EmhkXESFHEFEBMAS - AFRERAX
SR THEMIIAT -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

6. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

For the purpose of segment reporting, revenue derived from
customers, products and services directly identifiable with individual
segments are reported directly under respective segments, while
revenue and funding cost arising from inter-segment funding
operation and funding resources are allocated to segments by way
of transfer pricing mechanism with reference to market interest rates.
Transactions within segments are priced based on similar terms
offered to or transacted with external parties. Inter-segment income
or expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

All direct costs incurred by different segments are grouped under
respective segments. Indirect costs and support functions’ costs are
allocated to various segments and products based on effort and time
spent as well as segments’ operating income depending on the nature
of costs incurred. Costs related to corporate activities that cannot be
reasonably allocated to segments, products and support functions
are grouped under Others as unallocated corporate expenses.



6. BEDEIRE @)

BZE2018F12H31 HLLEE

B R R ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

6. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

BARS EE ) BMRAT EiER
Personal  Commercial BEEE  Overseas At Inter- &t
Banking Banking Treasury Banking Others segment Total
FEMSRA Net interest income 1742431 1,238,085 625,952 543,458 2,89 - 415282
FHEMA/ (HiH) Non-interest income/(expenses) 938,523 204,650 (70,558) 142,890 32,566 - 1,248071
EEIA Total operating income 2,680,954 1,442,735 555,394 686,348 35,462 - 5,400,893
BB Operating expenses (1,580,816) (484,847) (159,777) (491,678) 6,630 - (2710489)
IRESHE (BE)/ D5 Operating profit before crecit impairment
LEER (losses)/written back 1,100,138 957,888 395,617 194,670 42,092 - 2,690,405
EERE(ER)/ B Credit impaiment (losses)/written back (240,734) 17,42 (5,188) (5,703) 942 - (233,441)
MGEERE(ER)/BEE Operating profit after credit impairment
LB (losses)/written back 859,404 975,130 390,429 188,967 43,034 - 245694
HEREMERE Nt (loss)/gain on disposal and fair value
EEBEREATHE adjustment of investment properties and
BB (ER) Wi other fixed assets (1,425) ) - (796) 57,782 - 55,556
HENATEEER Net gain on disposal of financial assets
-E RPN Ele at fair value through other comprehensive
KeREE s income - - 1,682 - - - 1,682
BENFRELNAER Impairment loss on the investment in
an associate - - - (633,000) - - (633,000)
FEBELR ¥E Share of results of an associate - - - 659,708 - - 659,708
ElEEREGEE £ Share of results of jointly controlled entities - 5 o - 27,034 - 27,034
BtangR Profit before taxation 857,979 975,125 392,111 214,879 128,050 - 2568144
A Taxation expenses (141475 (161,004) (64,753) (2719 (32,971) - (427 485)
iyl Profit after taxation 716,504 814,031 327,358 187,687 95,079 - 2140659
HZ2018F12 431 HLLER For the year ended 31 December 2018
NEREEER Depreciation and amortisation 72,574 15,909 5,665 40,691 52,397 - 187,236
R2018E12 4317 At 31 December 2018
HREE Segment assets 51,024761 62,888,081 79,191,071 36,286,080 6,207,791 (4,549,378 231,138,406
PREfR Segment liabilities 102006201 41,070,043 17,714,209 28405278 20125304  (4,549,378) 204,772,557
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6. BEDEIRE @)
HZE2017F12 A31 HIEFE

6. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

{IAHS TR MR EIEE
Personal  Commercial BIA%HK  Overseas 2 Inter- izt
Banking Banking Treasury Banking Others segment Total
FHERA/ (i) Net interest income/(expenses) 1637358 1,167,235 604,619 544,865 (61,368) - 3,892,709
FEHSRA/ (%) Non-interest income/(expenses) 835,271 190,153 (76,222) 137,343 64,043 - 1,150,788
2B A Total operating income 2,472,629 1,357,388 528,397 682,208 2,875 - 5,043,497
BB Operating expenses (1,441,850) (454,262) (185,733 (482,273) 5,956 - (2528162
NREERE(ER) /O Operating proft before crecit impairment
fiZEERT (losses)/written back 1,030,779 903,126 372,664 199,935 8,831 - 251533
EERE(ER)/ B Credit impairment (losses)/written back (219,092) (54,228) - 2,438 - - (270,882)
NRESRE(ER) /O Operating profit after credit impairment
{2 2 ERT (losses)/written back 811,687 848,898 372,664 202,373 8,831 - 2244453
HEREMEREMET Nt (loss)/gain on disposal and fair value
BEREATEREL adjustment of investment properties and
3 (B8)/ e other fixed assets (36) (302 - (6% 136,63 - 135,637
HEMHLERS 2 FhE Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale
securities - - 100,677 33,337 146,298 - 280,312
BENRELNAER Impairment loss on the investment in
an associate - - - (815,000) - - (815,000)
FEBELR FE Share of results of an associate - - - 628,449 - = 628,449
EEAREHER 25 Share of results of jointly controlled entities - - - - 22,485 - 22,485
KBiAER] Profit before taxation 811,651 848,596 473,341 48,501 314,247 - 249633
B Taxation expenses (133,886) (140,018) (78,101) (20,391) (40,257) - (412,653)
il Proft after taxation 677,765 708,578 395,240 28,110 273,990 - 2,083,683
HZ2017512 831 HLLEE For the year ended 31 December 2017
NEREHER Depreciation and amortisation 68,946 14,405 6,358 39,470 52,575 = 181,754
R017E124317 At 31 December 2017
PBAE Segment assets 47248470 58,264,178 76,464,780 36,485,129 6,091,356 (4,776,204) 219,777,718
PEAfE Segment liabilities 96,100,034 37,301,046 18335487 28208308 18491924  (4,776,204) 193,660,590

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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B F Rk P ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

6. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Revenues from external customers were contributed from banking
subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Macau and People’s Republic of China,
with major products and services including deposit taking, extension
of credit, asset-based finance, securities investment services offered
to customers.

The following tables provide information by geographical area, which
was determined with reference to the domicile of the legal entities
within the Group with business dealing and relationship with, and

services to external customers.

B 5 B[
EEREAM Inter-
Hong Kong P segment #et
and Others Macau elimination Total
EZE2018%12A31 A For the year ended
LEE 31 December 2018
2 A Operating income 4,943,205 457,688 = 5,400,893
BR A& A Profit before taxation 2,311,536 256,608 - 2,568,144
%2018 £12 A 31 H At 31 December 2018
BEAG Total assets 212,117,593 22,295,149 (3,274,336) 231,138,406
BEA Total liabilities 188,731,012 19,315,881 (3,274,336) 204,772,557
BREERGE Intangible assets and goodwill 318,667 551,275 = 869,942
SARBEREE Contingent liabilities and
commitments 82,738,028 3,372,813 (101,493) 86,009,348
& 32,53 T ]
184
BB REA Inter-
Hong Kong oA segment et
and Others Macau elimination Total
BZE2017512A31H For the year ended
HFE 31 December 2017
2 A Operating income 4,589,570 453,927 = 5,043,497
B3 A& A Profit before taxation 2,207,127 289,209 - 2,496,336
©K2017412 A31 8 At 31 December 2017
BEAG Total assets 202,180,603 20,890,338 (3,293,223) 219,777,718
aEAas Total liabilities 178,792,606 18,161,207 (3,293,223) 193,660,590
BREERDE Intangible assets and goodwill 318,667 551,275 = 869,942
BEN-EEVES Contingent liabilities and
commitments 82,665,576 2,304,555 (109,242) 84,860,889
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(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

7. FEREWA

7. NET INTEREST INCOME

2018 2017
FEWA Interest income
e MIERITH AR Cash and balances with banks 544,288 408,383
BHRE Investments in securities 1,447,457 1,008,713
ZEERMEMER Advances and other accounts 4,720,380 4,238,589
6,712,125 5,655,685
FE X H Interest expense
RITER BEEX Deposits from banks/Deposits
from customers 2,031,314 1,378,659
BEITHTRE Certificates of deposit issued 146,507 103,666
BEER Subordinated notes 284,421 238,612
Hh Others 97,061 42,039
2,559,303 1,762,976
MEWABE Included within interest income
—FIEEERENESR — Trading securities and financial
AR EFEBEEBA assets at fair value through
BRI emEE profit or loss 109,819 43,398
—UAFEFEAEEETA - Financial assets at fair value
Hin2EKRRA 2Rl & E through other comprehensive
income 1,126,472 -
— A HEES — Available-for-sale securities - 890,824
— AEBHRAAT RN SR EE - Financial assets at amortised cost 5,475,834 =
—FEIEES - Held-to-maturity securities - 4,721,463
6,712,125 5,655,685
MEXZHEE Included within interest expense
—AARFEE B EEFHTA — Financial liabilities not at
b= Ed= 0l =N fair value through profit or loss 2,471,989 1,723,493

RBZE2018F Kk2017F 12 A31 HIEFE » Wi

FERBEREEEZFEWA

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, there was no interest

income recognised on impaired assets.



8. FRBBERAZWA

B AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

8. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

2018 2017
RIS ERASWA Fee and commission income
RUAAFEFZBEESA Fee and commission income from
BEanesiEERAGEZ financial assets and liabilities not
BRi% & KA at fair value through profit or loss
—EEEEZREENES — Credit related fees and commissions 185,191 161,151
—EFHRE — Trade finance 91,867 84,787
—=RFR — Credit card 377,738 339,119
HAb R & RASKRA Other fee and commission income
—FHLLE R — Securities brokerage 128,780 125,207
—{RERSHE R HAD — Insurance distribution and others 324,957 231,365
—TEKRE RV EEIERE - Retail investment and wealth
management services 240,614 251,840
—RITIREERFES - Bank services and handling fees 73,681 73,474
—H R & - Other fees 55,005 61,809
1,477,833 1,328,752
REERASEH Fee and commission expense
FARNFEAEBEEH A Fee and commission expense from
BalemEEREEZ financial assets and liabilities not
AR & MAe S H at fair value through profit or loss
—FEBLES - Handling fees and commission 296,033 255,163
—BfNHEMER — Other fees paid 20,571 21,182
316,604 276,345

AEERE=TTRHEHEE - Xt EXEEEK
BEERY - REUREASORAZEEL T

BEEUEHBEHRRA -

The Group provides custody, trustee, corporate administration, and

investment management services to third parties. Those assets that

are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these financial

statements.
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

9. FEEWA

9. NET TRADING INCOME

2018 2017
SNEBEFREE Net loss arising from
dealing in foreign currencies (8,281) (18,816)
FEEERENBH 2T Net gain on trading securities 15,212 8,367
FEEERENITETRE 2 F Net gain from derivatives
entered into for trading purpose 211 29,429
RBAELHRREeR T2 Net (loss)/gain arising from financial
F(B18), W instruments subject to fair
value hedge (833) 6,453
AT EEBEEABEN Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments
eI EZFKe(EE) at fair value through profit or loss 8,388 (2,297)
14,697 23,136
10. HiZEWA 10. OTHER OPERATING INCOME
2018 2017
AT EEHEZSH AR E R Dividend income from investments
R ETARE ZREMA in equity instruments at fair value
through other comprehensive income
—RERFEE — Held at the end of the year
— EmiRE — Listed investments 2,646 =
—JELERERE — Unlisted investments 8,684 =
AHEEFHEE 2 REMA Dividend income from available-for-sale
securities
— EHiRE - Listed investments - 12,534
— 3 EmRE — Unlisted investments = 8,539
WEYFE 2 HEW AR Gross rental income from investment
properties 30,651 28,281
HEAESUA Other rental income 13,347 13,474
Hth Others 16,817 12,417
72,145 75,245
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11. OPERATING EXPENSES

B RS ER AR M L
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2018 2017
EE S REN = (MEE12) Employee compensation and
benefit expenses (Note 12) 1,800,451 1,698,022
TEREMEEEESH - Premises and other fixed assets
TEENE expenses, excluding depreciation
—1TEMASSE - Rental of premises 190,229 184,092
—HAth - Others 171,804 146,980
P& (sx27) Depreciation (Note 27) 187,236 181,366
BE RIS ESR S Advertising and promotion costs 86,779 76,790
ENfRY ~ SR R B E Printing, stationery and postage 49,919 48,076
EREEEHER (Mist25) Amortisation expenses of intangible
assets (Note 25) - 388
iz SRR EN & Auditors’ remuneration 9,259 9,717
Hity Others 214,811 182,731
2,710,488 2,528,162

12. EEFMEBERZH

12. EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION AND BENEFIT

EXPENSES

2018 2017
FHREMASER Salaries and other staff costs 1,707,536 1,579,873

VARG AR A EE T SR B B TR 1 Provision for share-based
(FfE43) compensation charged (Note 43) 1,418 21,295

BRETH Pension costs — defined

— REHRETE contribution plans 91,497 96,854
1,800,451 1,698,022
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

13. EEREBE

13. CREDIT IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

2018 2017
FTIg M (HBR E15E 2 %E4E) New allowances net of
allowance releases 318,875 333,994
W [B] 38 7 B 8 dH < 5R18 Recoveries of amounts previously
written off (85,434) (63,112)
233,441 270,882
DEWT Attributable to:
—BEFEXR - Advances to customers 224,831 264,099
—HEfhemEE — Other financial assets 2,798 6,783
— EFURIE RS AR - Loan commitments and financial
guarantees 5,812 -
233,441 270,882
14. B 14. TAXATION

B VS IS B T 1R BR 4 0 {5 B 2R 50 i A A B =
16.5% (2017 5 : 16.5% ) IR LEE < FINKTY
2 NEIME TR B0 F 7N 52 B A8 & S 7553
E2BRITMETHE -

BELERARRAREEREREZR - WAHZE
HIRBERBNEREER THREFTER 25
RIERBFER ©

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2017:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation on
overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable
profit for the year at the rates of taxation prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under
the liability method at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised.

2018 2017
AREERIA ¢ Current income tax:
—BBMEH - Hong Kong profits tax 387,641 374,987
—BINRIA - Overseas taxation 38,329 45,600
—RIBAFE (GBB) /TR ZE#E — (Over)/under-provision in prior years (90) 126
RAEFIA (FizE34) : Deferred income tax (Note 34):
— ARG R E EMEERER — Origination and reversal of
temporary differences 1,605 (8,060)
18 Taxation 427,485 412,653
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14. FHiIE @)

AEERBANG N 2 HIBBRIREGA SR RINE

FOWERGTE ZIBRmEFELAT

B RS R AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

14. TAXATION (Continued)

The tax on the Group’s profit before taxation differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax
rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

2018 2017

R AL g 7

BEBNEHE16.5%
TEZTHIA

IR R BRI -
HBERZ NRAHRE

ERED WA

TREFRA S th

AT IR 2R 2 e 2 Bt 2 N R )
HKEIEHIER 2 X8

ERBERBRERNBEER

Profit before taxation 2,568,144 2,496,336

Tax calculated at Hong Kong

profits tax rate of 16.5% 423,744 411,895
Tax effects of:

Different taxation rates in

other countries (2,321) 1,064
Income not subject to taxation (46,981) (60,525)
Expenses not deductible 166,479 171,912

Results of associates and jointly

controlled entities reported

net of tax (113,346) (107,404)
Utilisation of previously

unrecognised tax losses - (4,415)
RBEFEE (BEE), /TR ZBE (Over)/under-provision in prior years (90) 126
72! Taxation 427,485 412,653
15. EEME 15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
2018 2017
EEHe Directors’ fee 2,489 1,707
e 0 BE - BRI NREMEEL Salaries, bonuses, housing, benefits
in kind and other allowances 121,353 114,276
LARZ 15 B EERE SR B A0 S 1+ Share-based compensation payment 4,513 64,923
RIRRRAET &2 8 K Employer’s contribution to retirement
benefit schemes 2,055 2,461
130,410 183,367
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

15. EEME @

AEERNRNELER  UERAEBEBRT
MERARS  RHERAEH EFARRITAEF—
FRABITZESHENEEEERBEERF)
(20174 « 48) o

REZE2018F 12 A31 HILFE » WEAEREZS
MESTEARITRENB AR ZEAE B2 EMAR
B A E LB S (2017 4F : £8) -

RER - WESMEKIFEYZ RIBESEN TES
T 0 4 L JEER =R AR A T (A1 5 = 5 S A s S A+
ERIRIE (20174 : £) -

15. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Bank was a party and in which
a director of the Bank had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year (2017: Nil).

No other emoluments were paid to or receivable by any director in
respect of directors’ other services in connection with management of
the affairs of the Bank or its subsidiaries undertakings during the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

No termination payments or benefits were made to the directors and
no consideration was provided to or receivable by third parties for
making available directors’ services during the year (2017: Nil).

16. KA 16. DIVIDENDS
2018 2017
EIRFHIRE - SRRE Bk 2.958 7T Interim dividend paid of HK$ 2.95
(20174 : 2.6/87T) (2017: HK$2.6) per ordinary share 182,900 161,200
BRARERE - SREER7.38T Proposed final dividend of HK$ 7.3
(20174 : 7.0%87T) (2017: HK$7.0) per ordinary share 452,600 434,000
635,500 595,200

17. BERERTHES

17. CASH AND BALANCES WITH BANKS

2018 2017
e MERITHE R Cash and balances with banks 2,649,507 2,046,748
BN EEER Money at call and short notice 13,703,601 15,296,925

BB AR 1

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

16,353,108 17,343,673
Less: impairment allowance Stage 1 (679) -
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B FS R P ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

18. #ﬂ’ﬁ%"tmﬁﬂﬁ EAERUDAFEE 18. TRADING SECURITIES AND FINANCIAL ASSETS AT
BHESHFABENEREE FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2018 2017
FEBEERBRNES : Trading securities:
BEES Debt securities:
BB LM — Listed in Hong Kong 33,575 97,672
— 3kt — Unlisted 7,587,609 8,739,882

7,621,184 8,837,554

NFEEBEE ST A Financial assets at fair value
Tﬁﬁﬁﬁimﬂﬁﬁ : through profit or loss:
R ERR S 1R 2 e e FR R Categorised by designation upon or
subsequent to initial recognition:
BIEES Debt securities:
— BB T — Listed outside Hong Kong - 28,429
—3EEm — Unlisted - 324,918
- 353,347
REBVEMEERF IR ZHEENE ¢ Categorised based on requirements
of HKFRS 9
BEBES Debt securities:
—3EET — Unlisted 327,483 -
327,483 353,347
A&T Total 7,948,667 9,190,901
PREBBESFANE ¢ Included within debt securities are:
—BEERSF (ZRELER) — Treasury bills which are
cash equivalents - 1,122,876
—HiBEEES — Other treasury bills 7,620,661 7,677,149
—BUFES - Government bonds 523 37,529
— B BTG 7E S IR B TS — Other debt securities issued by:
— b - Corporate entities 327,483 353,347
7,948,667 9,190,901
72018 F %2017 12 A31 B » LiligsrRr As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, there were no certificates of
EEEREENRE - deposit held included in the above balances.
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19. fTEE€®MT A 19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
©K2018 F12 A31 BARFHZITETEGHNEE The notional principal amounts of outstanding derivatives contracts
Re REAFEWT : and their fair values as of 31 December 2018 were as follows:
B4/
EESHE AYE
Contract/ Fair values
notional BE 8
amount Assets Liabilities
1) FEEERRZITETR 1) Derivatives held for trading
B) INEGTAETR a) Foreign exchange derivatives
RERBEEY Forward and futures contracts 67,192,282 262,900 (328,733)
BB A Rt I NE H Currency options purchased and written 9,883,176 8,677 (8,505)
Z) FIESTETR b) Interest rate derivatives
FlxEE Interest rate futures 39,154 = (589)
st Interest rate swaps 2,392,768 11,611 (7,915)
B A\ R o Interest rate options purchased and written 678,038 16 (105)
A) EmMiTETR c) Equity derivatives
BARH a1 HiRE Equity options purchased and written 422,016 6,195 (6,201)
BIEEERRZATETARE/(BE) A4t Total derivative assets/(liabilities)
held for trading 80,607,434 289,399 (352,048)
2 FEERABZITETIAR 2) Derivatives held for hedging
) BEENULTHEE R (T4TA a) Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
& 5 Interest rate swaps 28,818,549 437,644 (121,225)
BB 2 TETREE /(B A5 Total derivative assets/(liabilities)
held for hedging 28,818,549 437,644 (121,225)
BRRZITEERIAEE (BE) A Total recognised derivative financial
assets/(liabilities) 109,425,983 727,043 (473,273)

186  AFBITARAT 2018FE4H



19. FTEERMIAE W

R2017 F12 A31 BARFEH 2 T4 T A

B RS ER AR M L
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

EHEE The notional principal amounts of outstanding derivatives contracts

Re REAFEWT : and their fair values as of 31 December 2017 were as follows:
&8/
2 AYE
Contract/ Fair values
notional BE BE
amount Assets Liabilities
1) FEEERBZITETR 1) Derivatives held for trading
B) SMESTETR a) Foreign exchange derivatives
BHRBEEN Forward and futures contracts 82,495,665 581,964 (479,218)
B AR I NE B Currency options purchased and written 12,675,402 7,543 (7,536)
) FIE(TETR b) Interest rate derivatives
M=xaE Interest rate futures - - -
gl peegect i Interest rate swaps 2,385,852 16,002 (9,965)
AR = Interest rate options purchased and written 676,566 479 (2,801)
W) Bmlii4TA c) Equity derivatives
BAROE w1 B Equity options purchased and written 176,360 3,495 (3,495)
BIEEERRZATETARE/(BE) A4t Total derivative assets/(liabilities)
held for trading 98,409,845 609,483 (508,015)
2 FEERABZITETIAR 2) Derivatives held for hedging
R) BEURTFEHRZITETA a) Derivatives designated as fair value hedges
F&i= 1 Interest rate swaps 26,856,746 288,484 (179,769)
BB 2 TETREE /(B A5 Total derivative assets/(liabilities)
held for hedging 26,856,746 288,484 (179,769)
BRRZITEERIAEE (BE) A Total recognised derivative financial
assets/(liabilities) 125,266,591 897,967 (682,784)
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19. FTEERMIAE W

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

EERS RS Foh
Trading Hedging Total
FRGHE Notional amount 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
EXGH Exchange rate contracts
RHRHERY Forward and futures contracts 67,192,282 82,495,665 - - 67,192,282 82,495,665
NEHES A Foreign exchange option contracts
—BANEHE - Currency options purchased 5031,199 6,314,320 - - 5031,199 6,314,320
— b N - Currency options written 4,851,977 6,361,082 - - 4,851,977 6,361,082
77,075,458 95,171,067 - - 77075458 95,171,067
F=&Y Interest rate contracts
RARBERY Forward and futures contracts 39,154 - = - 39,154 =
bt Interest rate swaps 2,392,768 2385852  28,818549 26,856,746 31,211,317 29,242,598
FIEEEAH Interest rate option contracts
I - Options purchased 339,019 338,283 - - 339,019 338,283
— b e - Options written 339,019 338,283 - - 339,019 338,283
3,109,960 3062418 28,818,549 26,856,746 31,928,509 29,919,164
HEiwad Other contracts
EnltBEsn Equity option contracts
YN - Options purchased 211,008 88,180 - - 211,008 88,180
— b e - Options written 211,008 88,180 - - 211,008 88,180
422,016 176,360 - - 422,016 176,360
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19. FTEERMIAE W
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B RS ER AR M L
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The credit risk weighted amounts of the above off-balance sheet
exposures as at 31 December, before taking into account the effect
of bilateral netting arrangements that the Group entered into, are as

follows:

2018 2017

XRG4 Exchange rate contracts
BN EEAR Forward and futures contracts 418,597 655,196
B3 Currency swaps = =
5 A JNE B Currency options purchased 174,542 216,154

FEEH Interest rate contracts

Fl =37 HA Interest rate swaps 155,262 145,926
F == 2R Interest rate options 1,712 2,171
Hih &%) Other contracts 16,778 7,862
766,891 1,027,309

BETEZANBREESERBESHRNRS
B I IRKRERBEER -

EERBRINERBELN2EFELEREL Z(R
TEERN)RAIMABEZEE - sFEMABZH
BARTIRXZHF RERESORHFERE -

The contract amounts of these instruments indicate the volume of
transactions outstanding as at the end of the reporting period, they do
not represent the amounts at risk.

The credit risk weighted amounts are the amounts that have been
calculated with reference to the Banking (Capital) Rules issued by the
HKMA. The amounts calculated are dependent upon the status of the
counterparty and the maturity characteristics of each type of contract.
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20. BREERKHEMERE

20. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS

2018 2017
=& Retail
—=ZRF — Credit cards 3,953,918 3,846,328
—1ZIBE R — Mortgages 37,600,531 32,877,055
—HAth — Others 14,136,471 12,455,199
b2 Corporate
—HHER - Term loans 39,553,907 35,673,226
—1ZIBE R — Mortgages 12,453,994 15,338,098
—Bo5mE — Trade finance 9,571,905 9,242,323
—HAth — Others 11,359,553 9,832,429
XEENERE Gross advances to customers 128,630,279 119,264,658
Bk : REZEE Less: impairment allowances
P ER 1 — Stage 1 (423,650) =
—PEER 2 — Stage 2 (127,284) =
—PEER 3 — Stage 3 (362,989) =
— &R FE A — Individually assessed - (280,641)
— iR A T — Collectively assessed - (378,405)
(913,923) (659,046)
127,716,356 118,605,612
B ER Trade bills 4,677,262 4,065,401
Nk BIEEE Less: impairment allowances
—PEER1 - Stage 1 (2,100) =
—PEER 2 - Stage 2 (23) -
—kRERHE - Collectively assessed - (14,229)
(2,123) (14,229)
4,675,139 4,051,172
HEE (FzE29) Other assets (Note 29) 3,812,197 4,091,617
R : REZERE Less: impairment allowances
—PEER1 - Stage 1 (6,651) =
—PEER 2 - Stage 2 (491) -
—PEER 3 - Stage 3 (9,643) -
— (&R FT A — Individually assessed = (10,093)
— R B RS — Collectively assessed = (1,338)
(16,785) (11,431)
3,795,412 4,080,186
BHEERMEMRE Advances and other accounts 136,186,907 126,736,970
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20. BREERKREMERE @)

(R) BEEEFERRBR HEHERE
UBRINE -

EFEFRLBSEEREREMERAARNENR
ERMZEBANMEETEP Z2RBRES
# o ANREABRAREERREEEE - U@\
EBEZHEEE -

B RS R AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

20. ADVANCES AND OTHER ACCOUNTS (Continued)

(@) Loans and advances to customers include finance
lease receivables as follows:

Loans and advances to customers include net investments in
equipment leased to customers under finance leases and hire
purchase contracts having the characteristics of finance leases. The
contracts have an option for acquiring by the leasee the leased asset
at nominal value at the end of the lease period.

2018 2017
KREERMERE 7 R ARERE Gross investment in finance
lease receivables:
15FE AR Not later than 1 year 2,559,892 2,531,333
1FAEESF Later than 1 year and not later than
5 years 3,540,184 3,457,711
5 Later than 5 years 420,303 585,546

BMAEHEEZ RRIZBELA

REHEREFE

MEMEREFBZOMAT

1ELAR
1FLAEES5F

5 LA E

R2018F12 A31H ' FlMBEHRERELE
R 8 B EERFIREME (2017 F « £) o

R2018F 12 A31H  AEBZEFRBELEFER
FEAAE s E RS AR EE W EEE T A
27,122,000 7T (2017 4 : 31,923,000 7T) °

6,520,379 6,574,590

Unearned future finance income
on finance leases (486,330) (501,982)

Net investment in finance leases 6,034,049 6,072,608

The net investment in finance leases
is analysed as follows:

Not later than 1 year 2,337,207 2,317,423
Later than 1 year and not later than

5 years 3,327,971 3,241,872
Later than 5 years 368,871 513,818

6,034,049 6,072,608

There is no unguaranteed residual value included in the gross
investment in finance leases above as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
Nil).

The allowance for uncollectible finance lease receivables included

in the impairment allowances as at 31 December 2018 of the Group
amounted to HK$ 27,122,000 (2017: HK$31,923,000).
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21. UAFEFEEHESHTAHMS 21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
AkRENERMEE TTHHERS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE SECURITIES
2018
DAFEFER
HEgit AH
it 2 TE Ut 25 Y
SREE 2017
Financial assets at A
fair value HERES
through other Available-
comprehensive for-sale
income securities
BBES Debt securities:
—&BEE™ — Listed in Hong Kong 17,295,716 14,538,680
—BEBENAINET — Listed outside Hong Kong 16,638,018 17,654,181
—3EEm — Unlisted 7,607,463 5,894,002
41,541,197 38,086,863
SRS Equity securities:
BB LM — Listed in Hong Kong 30,201 53,387
—3EEm — Unlisted 83,038 82,939
113,239 136,326
a5t Total 41,654,436 38,223,189
BREEEBESFNE : Included within debt securities are:
—REFRE — Certificates of deposit held 429,758 1,363,762
—BEEES (ZRELER) — Treasury bills which are
cash equivalents 2,098,522 1,999,211
—HMEERES — Other treasury bills 6,698,961 5,760,110
—BRES — Government bonds 191,387 192,197
—EhEBE S — Other debt securities 32,122,569 28,771,583
41,541,197 38,086,863
AT EFEBEES:TA Financial assets at fair value
H 2 ERENESREE through other comprehensive
Al E R IR I THIEEE R income/available-for-sale
DT : securities are analysed by
categories of issuers as follows:
(Ve Debt securities:
— R AT AN R ERAT — Central governments and
central banks 8,988,870 7,951,518
N3 - Public sector entities 481,574 639,637
—RIT R E M B E - Banks and other financial
institutions 7,495,726 7,672,393
— b3 — Corporate entities 24,575,027 21,820,862
—HAh - Others - 2,453
41,541,197 38,086,863
SRS Equity securities:
— 1 — Corporate entities 113,239 136,326
41,654,436 38,223,189
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21. ULAFEFEEESBTTAREME
HBENEREE AHHERS

()

HETUAFEFEBEE ST AL 2EKRED
FEZS M T B8 7 2018 4 (A 5 S 14 1 & b BE 45
ZREARMPEKLIEER - MIRIEHERB - BREZ
A8 428,350,0008 7T R H & R EER
14,531,00078 7T °

22. DEBHBREASIENERNEE BE

B H5 Rk B et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21.

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/AVAILABLE-
FOR-SALE SECURITIES (continued)

Certain investments in equity instruments measured at fair value

through other comprehensive income has been derecognised during

2018 due to strategic and risk monitoring consideration. The fair value

of the investments at the date of derecognition was HK$23,350,000

and its cumulative loss on disposal was HK$14,531,000.

22.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST/HELD-

Z HA 78 35 TO-MATURITY SECURITIES
2018
P8 323 2017
A5l BR BE
HemEE EEEEEE S
Financial Held-to-
assets at maturity
amortised cost securities
BBES Debt securities:
— BB L™ — Listed in Hong Kong 2,019,488 1,751,107
— BB ET — Listed outside Hong Kong 3,605,219 1,028,787
—3EET - Unlisted 3,512,960 3,453,810
9,137,667 6,233,704
ek BB Less: impairment allowance
—BEER A - Stage 1 (4,947) -
A&t Total 9,132,720 6,233,704
BREEEBESFNE Included within debt securities are:
— A NFRE — Certificates of deposit held 1,126,132 746,813
—BEEE — Treasury bills 1,941,080 2,179,817
—BUNES — Government bonds 523,450 574,061
— B EE 5 — Other debt securities 5,547,005 2,733,013
9,137,667 6,233,704
AR AT BRI S R B E Financial assets at amortised
FER B BB SR BT AR R cost/held-to-maturity securities
DI : are analysed by categories
of issuers as follows:
— FR BT I AR SRR T - Central governments and
central banks 2,464,530 2,753,878
—RIT R E M B - Banks and other financial
3,998,975 1,714,336
— {3 — Corporate entities 2,671,709 1,765,490
—HAh — Others 2,453 -
9,137,667 6,233,704
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(LAB® T 7TAI57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

23. BEQNTKRE

23. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2018 2017
E(EEEFE Share of net assets 4,723,974 4,605,028
EES Goodwill 344,623 344,623
5,068,597 4,949,651
ek RIEZEE Less: impairment allowances
— & RIFTE - Individually assessed (1,448,000) (815,000)
3,620,597 4,134,651
2018 2017
1H1H At 1 January 4,134,651 4,253,393
s ER BB B HRE RIS 95 Initial application of HKFRS 9
RIE(GHEE A F] on share of an associate (259,045) =
FEIERRTIIE AR Share of results, net of tax 659,708 628,449
FEMRBRTRIE IR B E S Share of investment revaluation
reserve, net of tax 84,181 (99,739)
REG S Dividend received (66,546) (151,271)
B 1R B Impairment loss charged (633,000) (815,000)
N E R RHEM AR Exchange differences and
other adjustments (299,352) 318,819
12 A31H At 31 December 3,620,597 4,134,651

R 2018F K 20174F 12 A31 B ZH& A

The following is the key information relating to the associate as at 31

BRI December 2018 and 2017:
aEff R & E R FEXK FritfEm R DL
=t Place of incorporation Principal Percentage of
Name and operation activities interest in ownership
2018 2017
EERIT(TEERT)) FRE AR HEAE RTT
Bank of Chongqing People’s Republic of China Banking 14.66% 14.66%

(“BOCQ’)

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k



23. BEQATIRE @)
() EERITZRRMEER

BERITZEEET2EAHA12A318 - HE
2018 ) 2017F 12 A31 B It FEHE - AEE
REZ20184F 12 A31 H&2017F 12 A31 A1t
12@ B 2HBHRRCBSEERITZESE -

B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

23. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
(@) Selected financial information of BOCQ

The statutory accounting reference date of BOCQ is 31 December.
For the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group included
the results of BOCQ on the basis of financial statements made up to
the 12 months to 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

2018 F 2017 &
12831 H 12 A31H
At At
31 December 31 December
2018 2017
ERRITZEEEENEBEER Selected balance sheet information
of BOCQ
RE RIEFRIBITH AR Cash and balances with central banks 37,822,721 52,412,531
R E M IRTT & & mh ik iE Due from other banks and
financial institutions 65,945,642 44,349,012
XPEERRBR Loans and advances to customers 234,476,730 206,356,752
Hib e R&EE Other financial assets 164,687,198 191,094,750
Hih &= Other assets 9,885,293 12,518,750
BESE Total assets 512,817,584 506,731,795

e EALIRTT R & BUHE
BEPER

HitemaE

HitB &

BEAF

=11}

s A
EmEE

ks - DRITZEEK
RR - SR IEHIRERCR
EBRBIREE RS

BERRTZBRERATEARITHEAMB®RE
M BREEHRE

RERITIE(G PR BT
e WEEZEERATERE
kR : BE

fRME(E

Due to other banks and

financial institutions
Customer deposits
Other financial liabilities
Other liabilities

65,006,087 66,848,482
291,946,068 286,115,962
110,430,319 106,350,264

6,024,263 8,510,019

Total liabilities 473,406,737 467,824,727

Total equity 39,410,847 38,907,068
Less: Preferred shares issued (5,590,036) (5,884,389)
Less: Non-controlling interests (1,776,950) (1,807,896)
Total equity attributable to

ordinary shareholders 32,043,861 31,214,783

Reconciliation of BOCQ’s total shareholders’ equity to the carrying
amount in the Bank’s consolidated financial statements

The Bank’s share of total

shareholders’ equity 4,699,153 4,577,571
Add: Goodwill and fair value

adjustment at acquisition 369,444 372,080
Less: Impairment (1,448,000) (815,000)
Carrying amount 3,620,597 4,134,651
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23. BEQATIRE @)

() EERTZREMBER @

23. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)
(a) Selected financial information of BOCQ (Continued)

BZ12A31BLLEE
For the year ended
31 December

2018 2017

EERTZRBEKSRER Selected income statement information
of BOCQ

R B Net interest income 8,136,215 9,395,380
FRGSE MAS WA Net fee and commission income 1,587,948 1,945,112
EREEER Loan impairment charges (4,066,859) (3,472,330)
TEREHER Depreciation and amortisation (245,387) (213,131)
TIAX Tax expense (1,207,629)  (1,309,385)
FERT Profit for the year 4,522,832 4,358,059
HAh 2 E Other comprehensive income 570,899 (677,908)
EHE =B Total comprehensive income 5,093,731 3,680,151
BREEFRITRE Dividends received from BOCQ 66,546 151,271

(2) REZRER R KRR 2018 FHREZR
=1

M20185F 12 A31 H ' AEEEEERITZIRE
ZATFEEERERAEALG60EA - At - A%
EREHESEERITZE 2 EREETRER
A LAGHE ATUR B S 58 o RIFH 2016 F K 2 AT
ZEHE - AT E S EN T ARRREE - ME
HRERRE

BEARLEHAAEEREENEE 2 EERT
AREeEMZIRE 2 REE - EREBEIRR
EREHEZEERTRNMARBIEES K&
REBBERRITHHAMRAZBRR REEFER
ZIRHRRM AL T EE - EFRMBRERERE
BRGE - RARNEREEAEZHRRIZ2E
AR ARMISER ERRITRAKAMEE

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

(b) Impairment testing on the investment and impairment
recognised in 2018

At 31 December 2018, the fair value of the Group’s investment in
BOCQ had been below the carrying amount for approximately 60
months. On this basis, the Group continues to perform an impairment
test on the carrying amount of the investment in BOCQ to assess the
recoverable amount. Based on the assessment conducted in 2016
and before, the recoverable amount was assessed as higher than the
carrying amount, and no impairment needed to be recognised.

The impairment test is performed by comparing the recoverable
amount of BOCQ, determined by a value in use (“VIU”) calculation,
with the carrying amount of the investment. The VIU calculation uses
discounted cash flow projections based on management’s estimates
of BOCQ’s earnings and dividends to be paid in future, and the
estimated probable exit value in future after considering the growth
of BOCQ and its net asset value for the medium and longer term.
The discount rate applied to the VIU calculation was estimated with
reference to BOCQ'’s cost of equity, which is publicly available in the
market.



23. HEQATRE @)

(Z2) BREZBEARRR 2018 FEE 2R
B @)

ETERBEAENSHZREZAIRE S
M'KE@%F%EW%I%“%W%Q%&E
ERFRAERFABEEREEZIL2HEE - AR
BIEHIAR %%i%ﬁﬁZﬁﬁ%ﬁ&ﬂﬁﬂ
BEEROTARKABHAZPHREHTIHREE
EHEERRITZARRERETTREEEE
ER A -

$E$F2017¢12H31 HZ kAT 2 el &

STERZEREERSEEEMARBRZMEE
BREmEE 2 KBS BEERKRE EER
815,000,000/ T 2 A EFT1R - HEBEELRE
E#EZE2017F12 A31 BIEZARAEEN - %%
BER2017F12 A31 B 2R EEEE (BIREE
B F B 52 2 B E2EH# 815,000,000 57T ) &
4,134,700,000 7 7T °

2018 4F ¥ Fi#fT 2 MENE - LT EFEA
BEEZZAIKRESELE - PREEREDE ' &
N 2 2018 FF [E R A 2 N 7R 403,000,000
BT Z REGRE- ?ﬁzmsfﬂzﬁ 318 Z ik
RET 2 RIFBERR - BRTMHEZ AR
Bl & FIENE RIR B E DR E EEA 2 REE
1,448,000,0007% JT° M # Z£201846 H 30
B Ik B &t 1R 2 B E 2% & $£1,218,000,000 5
TL o EARE2018F THF 2R EBERNER
230,000,000 % 7T 2 B BT - Bt - REEE
BEIRITZIRER2018F 12 A31 A2 BRAER
BB Z 3,620,600,000 % 7T * Lt Ti AR S E 52018
12 A 31 Belfh& 2 Al El & 58 o

B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAS®EF AL/~ ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

23. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

(b) Impairment testing on the investment and impairment
recognised in 2018 (Continued)

In performing the VIU calculation to arrive at the recoverable amount
of the investment, the Group considers all relevant factors including
market views and qualitative factors to ensure that the inputs to the
VIU calculation are appropriate. Adjustments need to be made to
reflect the latest situation affecting BOCQ and also market outlook for
the medium and longer term that are relevant in projecting BOCQ’s
future performance. Significant management judgement is required in
estimating the future cash flows of BOCQ.

Based on the assessment conducted for the position as at 31
December 2017, the recoverable amount, as determined by the VIU
calculation and after considering all relevant factors and valuation
assumptions, was lower than the carrying amount, and an impairment
charge at HK$815 million had been recognised, which had been
included in the consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2017. The written down value of the investment as at
31 December 2017 (i.e. carrying amount less impairment allowance
made of HK$815 million as at the same date) was HK$4,134.7 million.

In the impairment assessment carried out for the first half of 2018,
the recoverable amount, based on the VIU calculation, had dropped
further below the carrying amount and an impairment charge
of HK$403 million was recognised in the Group’s 2018 interim
results. The latest impairment test performed for the position as
at 31 December 2018 concludes that the recoverable amount is
assessed as lower than the carrying amount before considering any
impairment allowance made by HK$1,448 million. With impairment
allowance totalling HK$1,218 million already made up to 30 June
2018, an impairment charge of HK$230 million was recognised in the
consolidated results of the Group for the second half of 2018. As a
result, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment in BOCQ at 31
December 2018 has been written down to HK$3,620.6 million, which
is the recoverable amount at 31 December 2018 assessed by the
Group.
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24, HEEZEFIEERE 24. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES
2018 2017
JEETRRL)  ERAKAR Unlisted shares, at cost 20,000 20,000
FEME BB A R Share of post-acquisition reserves 67,691 61,157
87,691 81,157
R2018F 2017412 A 31 By EIE 4 E 20 The following are the jointly controlled entities as at 31 December
e 2018 and 2017:
HHEEEZEDL
& fH it 26 FEER RS E Percentage of
8 Place of Principal activities and effective interest
Name incorporation place of operation in ownership
IREFIEIR B R A A BB REER - B
Bank Consortium Holding Limited Hong Kong Investment holding, Hong Kong 13.333%
IREFEERR AR BB RIED X BH
Bank Consortium Trust Company Limited Hong Kong Mandatory provident fund 13.333%

business, Hong Kong

RS RARAR B8 BET X B
BCT Financial Limited Hong Kong Mandatory provident fund 13.333%
business, Hong Kong

TESREIE IR B R A B 2 m B ARITIFA o Mk The interest in Bank Consortium Holding Limited is directly held by the
BIEE AR AT RIBE SR AR A ) JhiRE AR Bank. Bank Consortium Trust Company Limited and BCT Financial
EREARIZEEMNBAT ° Limited are the wholly owned subsidiaries of Bank Consortium

Holding Limited.

198  AREFBITARATE 2018FE4H



25. BENRELEE

25. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

B RS R AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

EFBEfF
& BOER BV EE
BREE |FEE  Customer
HE Contract  Core deposit relationship [k &it
Goodwill intangibles intangibles intangibles  Trade name Total
KA Cost
2018F1 A18 R At 1 January 2018 and
2018F12A31H 31 December 2018 811,690 26,499 80,583 70,777 58,252 1,047,801
Ve 6 Accumulated impairment/amortisation
2018F1 A1BR At 1 January 2018 and
2018128318 31 December 2018 - 26,499 80,583 70,777 - 177,859
RAE Carrying value
2018128314 At 31 December 2018 811,690 - - - 58,252 869,942
XFB&
af ROER B EE
BlEE @FEE  Customer
mE Contract ~ Core deposit  relationship i EH
Goodwill intangibles intangibles intangibles  Trade name Total
AR Cost
017E1 A1BR At 1 January 2017 and
2017128318 31 December 2017 811,690 26,499 80,583 70,777 58,252 1,047,801
ZRRE/ B Accumulated impairment/amortisation
2017F1A1H At 1 January 2017 - 26,499 80,583 70,389 - 177,471
FEREE (1) Charge for the year (Note 11) - - - 388 - 388
2017512A318 At 31 December 2017 - 26,499 80,583 70,777 - 177,859
REE Carrying value
2017128318 At 31 December 2017 811,690 - - - 58,252 869,942
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25. BHEREFREE @

EEABRZEBVEERREALN BROEREE
FRARETEERARBEBEZENF5E12
FZURFEHEE - BREAERERMRYEESF
RIS E R B B 1B M AR AR RIERE RS

7_r\o
BEIEERENTEERERB - BNEBED

ERPAReELBM([ReELEM]) - &
2B

-}
BOMBMEZ50T

25. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Intangible assets of finite life include contract intangibles, core
deposit intangibles and customer relationship intangibles, and are
amortised over their useful life ranging from 5 to 12 years using a
diminishing balance method. Trade name is carried as an asset of
indefinite life and is tested annually for impairment losses. It is carried
at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGU”)
identified according to business segments in line with the internal
management reporting structure. A summary of goodwill allocation is
presented below.

201712831 HK 2018412 A 31 H
At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018

RIRERT B ASRIT BIMRT
Commercial Personal Overseas &5t
Banking Banking Banking Total
B Hong Kong 196,478 122,189 - 318,667
JRFT Macau - - 493,023 493,023
196,478 122,189 493,023 811,690

HEESFERENR  HHERBEFE2ERE
BEMEEZREELBMABIKEE - ZaTHIE
FEaE=EEEABMGES - A5FHE8 2 AR
S KERBASFIEREBNEEFERE
2% HRAIFE S FABREKER - Z5FrralHREE
BABERNHEUBHERCEEBM 2 EBRZE
TSR TE RIS BA N 80 B VBB R 2 s G FTAR &l © FTAE
FA 2 BE 3R 2R Th @ BN AN 5 B 2 & AN AR I S
£11.3% (20174 : 11.3%) °

ESREFETZ2RENR T ER2RBRREEY
R 52 3% B Al FAIHE R K AH HiGHE] 2 78811
A BUAEEFERR2% A E5F UK E X
iR o FTERZBNIREA11.3% (20174 : 11.3%)
TRERAREE 2 BARK AN T2 -

AERWEEREERE R 2R ERE 2017

FE)-

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

Impairment testing in respect of goodwill is performed annually by
comparing the recoverable amount of CGU determined based on
value in use calculation. The calculations use cash flow projections
prepared by the Senior Management based on a 5-year business plan,
taking into account projected annual growth rate, and in perpetuity
with 2% constant growth rate after the fifth year. The 5-year business
plan was developed by the Senior Management based on their
evaluation of the businesses of the relevant CGU and the conditions
in which such businesses will operate over the projected period. The
discount rate used is based on the Group’s weighted average cost of
capital at 11.3% (2017: 11.3%).

For trade name, impairment testing is performed annually using pre-
tax royalty rate of 3% with reference to similar business transactions,
projected revenue in the medium-term plan, and in perpetuity with 2%
constant growth rate after the fifth year. The discount rate of 11.3%
(2017: 11.3%) used is based on the Group’s weighted average cost of
capital.

No impairment losses on goodwill and trade name were identified in
the year (2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

26. MIBAE 26. SUBSIDIARIES

M2018F 12 A31 H » NiR1T 2 EZEMBE AR The following is a list of the Bank’s principal subsidiaries as at 31

T~ December 2018:
BRTEBRRE

ot fif it B Particulars of
NEEE FTEEHK Place of issued ordinary
Name of company Principal activity incorporation share capital
RHFTERIT (R E) AR AR R17 e AR HARE
Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited Banking People’s Republic of China RMB1,200,000,000
RPIERRITRO AR A A R1T P
Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A. Banking Macau MOP225,000,000
AR ER AR AR R4 )
Dah Sing Insurance Brokers Limited Insurance broking Hong Kong HK$200,000

RHEFERAR R AR B0

Dah Sing Nominees Limited Nominee services Hong Kong HK$100,000
REZR BB

Dah Sing Properties Limited Investment holding Hong Kong HK$9,998

KHEHFBRAA EHEE £

Dah Sing Securities Limited Securities dealing Hong Kong HK$10,000,000
REER e

DSB BCM (1) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong HK$1
REZR BB

DSB BCM (2) Limited Investment holding Hong Kong HK$1

RETEAGAR A mEx e

Dah Sing Computer Systems Limited Inactive Hong Kong HK$20
mE¥ REBRIES

DSLI (1) Limited Inactive British Virgin Islands US$1
MERE REERES

CWL Prosper Limited Property investment British Virgin Islands US$1

ZEUBARAA W& e

OK Finance Limited Money lending Hong Kong HK$1,000
mE¥ REBRIES

Shinning Bloom Investments Limited Inactive British Virgin Islands US$1

BRENL (BE)BRAR BEE BB

Pacific Finance (Hong Kong) Limited Inactive Hong Kong HK$450,000,000

HEREBRAR MERE e

Vanishing Border Investment Services Limited Property investment Hong Kong HK$20
MERE REBRIES

Wise Measure Limited Property investment British Virgin Islands US$1
MERE REERES

Reliable Associates Limited Property investment British Virgin Islands US$1
MERE REERES

Talent Union Holding Limited Property investment British Virgin Islands us$2
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26. MiEBA T @

BORPIEERITROER AR (H22% Mz
fDSB BCM (1) Limited &2DSB BCM (2) Limited
BFH)IN  AERRIEAARRITEZEEERS ©

BORPIERIRITROBIR AR - RFRT (PEH)
BRRR K L 5BAEEE AINEMAK LN A
S B ARIGEBRBRE ©

R ERTT (R E) BRR A RN 2008 £ 7 AEHEIA
HEEMASL - EAREBH EARAMBE 2R M
BIBERARF] (BHEE  HEIRMAZEEL
&) -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

26. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The above companies are all wholly-owned and directly held by the
Bank except for Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A., with 22% interests
indirectly held through DSB BCM (1) Limited and DSB BCM (2)
Limited, which are wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Bank.

Except for Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A., Dah Sing Bank (China)
Limited and companies incorporated outside Hong Kong specified
above, all other companies operate in Hong Kong.

Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited was incorporated in Mainland China in
July 2008. It is registered as “Limited liability company” (solely funded
by Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau corporate body) under the laws of
the People’s Republic of China.
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27. PREMISES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

B AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

B
RERAE
Furniture,
equipment
{TE  and motor S5t
Premises vehicles Total
HZE2017F12 A31 HILFE Year ended 31 December 2017
FHREFE Opening net book amount 2,589,567 415,540 3,005,107
i Additions - 129,101 129,101
BN RTERKREME Reclassification from premises to
investment properties (15,793) - (15,793)
HE Disposals = (1,128) (1,128)
FrEXH (FisE11) Depreciation charge (Note 11) (58,726) (122,640) (181,366)
EHRER Exchange difference 8,831 3,500 12,331
FARREFE Closing net book amount 2,523,879 424,373 2,948,252
2017412 A31H At 31 December 2017
AR Cost 2,907,048 1,066,976 3,974,024
R2ENE Accumulated depreciation (383,169) (642,603) (1,025,772)
RESE Net book amount 2,523,879 424,373 2,948,252
HZE2018F12H31 AILLFEE Year ended 31 December 2018
FHREFE Opening net book amount 2,523,879 424,373 2,948,252
i Additions - 173,833 173,833
BN RTERKREME Reclassification from premises to
investment properties - - -
HE Disposals - (2,066) (2,066)
WEZH (FaE11) Depreciation charge (Note 11) (58,775) (128,461) (187,236)
EHER Exchange difference (5,910) (3,726) (9,636)
FARREFE Closing net book amount 2,459,194 463,953 2,923,147
2018412 A 31 H At 31 December 2018
AR Cost 2,900,499 1,155,723 4,056,222
R2ENE Accumulated depreciation (441,305) (691,770)  (1,133,075)
REFE Net book amount 2,459,194 463,953 2,923,147
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27. TEREMEEEE @

27. PREMISES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

TEZEOFERRE : The net book value of premises comprises:
2018 2017
RS Leaseholds
ERBFA 2F AL Held in Hong Kong on medium-term
(FE10E 505 2 ) lease (between 10-50 years) 2,079,602 2,124,643
TEEE AN A 2 EAFE AT Held outside Hong Kong on
(fE10Z=50F 2 /) medium-term lease
(between 10-50 years) 379,592 399,236
2,459,194 2,528,879
28. ®REWYE 28. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
2018 2017
1A1H At 1 January 1,179,442 964,449
ENOBTERIREME Reclassification from premises to
investment properties
—ENN B2 TEZRERE - Net book value of premises
reclassified - 78,350
EHEAFEKZS Fair value gains on revaluation 57,488 136,643
12 A31H At 31 December 1,236,930 1,179,442
RERFACEELBRET Unrealised gains or losses recognised
B HER 2 AR W ok Eia in income statement relating to those
assets held at the end of the year
— N HEHE — Fair value gains 57,488 136,643
WEYFE 2 REFEBTE The net book value of investment properties comprises:
2018 2017
Gisk=pad Leaseholds
EEBFA 2P HHED Held in Hong Kong on medium-term
(FE10E 505 2 ) lease (between 10-50 years) 1,099,588 1,044,632
TEBEE AN A 2 EAFE AT Held outside Hong Kong on medium-
(FE10Z=50F 2 M) term lease (between 10-50 years) 137,342 134,810
1,236,930 1,179,442

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k




28. BEWHE @)
STEREMECAFEE

REBFP20184F 2017412 A 31 H B EWE
MEE#TT T & - BT HEBYSEFTAS
BE — KT AT (fhEREEEER) BRAR R
MURBEBRTPBEBEAZZEEERE K FELE
Hr CBRPY) BR AR AR ZIRE M EIREE
LR ESM AR BEEE(L T EARI2E Z 1
W5 EL AP AR A SR ORHETT ©

MiZEEAYE L HEER  HERBWBHBHRE
ERIFE13F(AFEFAE)FZATFEEE B L
EFFARTSLEENS 2 xaMEENYER

BREMEARNBD AR ER 2 BIRERMETE
AEATE EROBERAT/EBVBRE
ERFA3FARFEAEBIP R FEFRNEIR
Al o

EITREMENEER  EF—BEXEREA
KERERE - B RENEZNEFHRNRE
BATEERHEEMNER  FIEEZEBENTE
5 0R 1,88078 7T (2017 4F : 1,983/8 L) E&F
759 136,000 7% 7T (2017 4F : 131,000/ 7T ) © 4
EBVUERNTREEBUREMEZ A TETE
HHEEBSLLARD  RZIFA -

B H5 Rk M et

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

28. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were last revalued at 31 December
2018 and 2017 by adopting the direct comparison approach or
the income capitalisation approach and with reference to recent
transactions for similar premises as far as practicable by independent,
professionally qualified valuer Savills (Valuation and Professional
Services) Limited for investment properties in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, and by Savills (Macau) Limited for investment
properties in Macau.

The basis of the valuation of property was market value which is
consistent with the definition of fair value under HKFRS 13 “Fair Value
Measurement” and takes into account the highest and best use of the
property from the perspective of market participants.

Investment properties are measured at fair value using valuation
techniques with significant unobservable inputs which are classified
as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, “Fair
value measurement”.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment properties was
the unit sale rate taking into account of time, location, and individual
factors such as size and levels of buildings, which ranged from
HK$1,880 (2017: HK$1,983) to HK$ 136,000 (2017: HK$131,000) per
square foot. A decrease in unit sale rate would result in decrease in
fair value measurement of the investment properties by the same
percentage and vice versa.
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(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

29. HiwEE

29. OTHER ASSETS

2018 2017
FEUW R IE MRS TE B Accounts receivable and prepayments 2,611,222 3,012,037
FEETHA Accrued income 1,033,249 891,726
EAh Others 167,726 187,854
3,812,197 4,091,617
30. B EEESHENERE 30. TRADING LIABILITIES
2018 2017
HMEREEEKBEEES Short sales of treasury bills and
treasury bonds 5,758,954 8,668,508
31. BEEEX 31. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS
2018 2017
V& BRTE R I A SR AF 3K Demand deposits and
current accounts 37,594,944 38,444,810
HEFR Savings deposits 28,626,731 28,961,837
EH - BAREHER Time, call and notice deposits 107,688,337 95,319,849
173,910,012 162,726,496
RPFPOGZRBSRFIEADERE DA Included in customer accounts were deposits of HK$4,708,000 (2017:

EHE 7 AR 2 17 7 4,708,00078 7T (2017 4 -
8,491,000/87T) °

BEH  BAMREMERIN  AEREMERER

EREBER

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

HK$8,491,000) held as collateral for irrevocable commitments under

import letters of credit.

Other than time, call and notice deposits, all other customer deposits

carry variable interest rates.



32. BERITHERE

B AR ML
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

32. CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT ISSUED

2018 2017

R AR E g T AT EIER At fair value under fair value hedge
(for hedging interest rate risk) 4,422,293 5,903,621
REERRA AN P AR At amortised cost 2,112,783 1,280,085
6,535,076 7,183,706

R2018 FE N 2017 F A » REB ARG R IHEFER
BHEEIMERTEREANATFEAELHEE
Tt ABLS o

AEBENEEETTFREIHERE YEN
K< REE A £ P72 2 BR T 8 = 13,000,000 % 7T

(20174 : 514,000,000 7T ) °

33. REEK

During 2018 and 2017, the Group did not designate on initial

recognition any certificates of deposit issued at fair value through

profit or loss.

The amount that the Group would be contractually required to pay at

maturity to the holders of these certificates of deposit is HK$13 million

higher (2017: HK$14 million higher) than the above carrying amount.

33. SUBORDINATED NOTES

2018 2017

225,000,000 ZE T4 2020 4F E| 2#Y US$225,000,000 Subordinated Fixed
EEREER GE(R)) Rate Notes due 2020 (Note (a)) 1,782,046 1,820,234

225,000,000 ZE T4 2024 F F| HiY US$225,000,000 Subordinated Fixed
EBEBREER (FE(Z)) Rate Notes due 2024 (Note (b)) 1,760,547 1,752,797

250,000,000 £ T4 2026 4F El| 2 Ay US$250,000,000 Subordinated Fixed
EBREGRGE(R)) Rate Notes due 2026 (Note (c)) 1,906,489 1,914,335
5,449,082 5,487,366

RENRFRE R TN TES R At fair value under fair value hedge

(for hedging interest rate risk) 5,449,082 5,487,366

R2018 F 2017 F A - A& E KRB R VIMHEER
BHEEEMRBESHASAAFEEFE L ST

AfBE o

During 2018 and 2017, the Group did not designate on initial

recognition any subordinated notes at fair value through profit or loss.
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33.

(A)

BEESK @)

1t TN ER1T 72010452 A 11 H #4472 225,000,000
ETIEFME R S ([F2F7]) LR E A
MnEARSE SBESS ([EF]) - LEEKE
M202042 A11 BEH - £256.625% * FF
FRE—K o NRITINE B —BPRIRITET S FI| =R
HHIA 4 ER ) EE R SRR A E TR
RS AERZEF SR -

It TN ER1T 72014 81 A 29 H #4172 225,000,000
ETERABMERIAERAR([EBRSHH])
EHRAABEBRRE N MERTE S - KERH
10F BAE B2 EER ([ EK ) (AP B ECRT
F(BER)RADZER) o LLEEBEH 2024 F1
A29RE|H] - iEEMEEH A2019F1 529A -
HBETHEHERUEEER - £5/55.25% -
HEME—IR - i - MEBKRETEZEEER
fEE - RO SETRAERSFHEEEE
BEHFEENITSBF - EEGEESEREL
o ARITAIAZEEEERFE GERD) &
7 o RIRITIE B —BPRIRITEI L F X HE L
B EEHNEER SRR ANETTHRTRERES
EREFENFI ST o

It Ty A R 17 2016411 A30H % 17 2
250,000,000 X T EB B R ST LT RFEEE
MIBEN M REA—HREARNI0F LT SEE
&% ([ER]) (AETEABCRITEER) AL
IR o ILFEERE RN 2026511 H30H FIH] o
EEMEEN 2021411 A30H - HETAE
HiREHREER  F8/4.25%  S¥FHE—
W oo Hig - MEBAREERBUEEEAED - £%&
WA BB ARERSFHEEBEERSSEM
25520 F - BRBEBSE RIESLAE - RRIT
AAEEEEERAMA GEFD ) & o AEITIN
B B — BIRRERATE] 3 A Rig B & AV E TS B E R
F BRI AR TIRITRIEF B REROZENF

B o

REBENSREGHIBHIZEOENNSE
B LA P77l 2 BR M (& & 32,000,000 5% JT (2017
£ : {X 18,000,000 7C) °

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

33.

Note:

(@)

©

SUBORDINATED NOTES (Continued)

This represents US$225,000,000 Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes
qualifying as supplementary capital of the Bank issued on 11 February
2010 (the “Notes”), which are listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange
Trading Limited (“SGX”). The Notes will mature on 11 February 2020.
Interest at 6.625% p.a. is payable semi-annually. An interest rate swap
contract to swap the fixed rate payment liability of the Notes to floating
interest rate based on LIBOR has been entered into with an international
bank.

This represents US$225,000,000 Basel Ill compliant 10-year
Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Bank
(subject to the provisions of the Banking (Capital) Rules of Hong Kong)
issued on 29 January 2014 (the “Notes”), which are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“SEHK”). The Notes will mature on 29
January 2024 with an optional redemption date falling on 29 January
2019. Interest at 5.25% p.a. is payable semi-annually from the issue
date to the optional redemption date. Thereafter, if the Notes are not
redeemed, the interest rate will be reset and the Notes will bear interest
at the then prevailing 5-year U.S. Treasury Rate plus 375 basis points.
The Bank may, subject to receiving the prior approval of the HKMA,
redeem the Notes in whole but not in part, at par. An interest rate swap
contract to swap the fixed rate payment liability of the Notes to floating
interest rate based on LIBOR has been entered into with an international
bank.

This represents US$250,000,000 Basel Ill compliant 10-year
Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes qualifying as Tier 2 capital of the Bank
(subject to the provisions of the Banking (Capital) Rules of Hong Kong)
issued on 30 November 2016 (the “Notes”), which are listed on the
SEHK. The Notes will mature on 30 November 2026 with an optional
redemption date falling on 30 November 2021. Interest at 4.25% p.a. is
payable semi-annually from the issue date to the optional redemption
date. Thereafter, if the Notes are not redeemed, the interest rate will
be reset and the Notes will bear interest at the then prevailing 5-year
U.S. Treasury Rate plus 255 basis points. The Bank may, subject to
receiving the prior approval of the HKMA, redeem the Notes in whole but
not in part, at par. An interest rate swap contract to swap the fixed rate
payment liability of the Notes to floating interest rate based on LIBOR
has been entered into with an international bank.

The amount that the Group would be contractually required to pay at

maturity to the holders of these subordinated notes is HK$32 million

higher (2017: HK$18 million lower) than the above carrying amount.



34. IRIERIE

RIERIREE R BENEHRERB AT
HEHRNART I8 & E A RN AT 18 B B RIERERT 18
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

34. DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets against
current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes
relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows:

2018 2017
FEIEFRIH & = Deferred income tax assets 154,354 81,492
RIERIAE & Deferred income tax liabilities (17,508) (86,578)

EEHBREERBBERBEREZR ZARER R
Bl 2 Rt BEIDHT AT

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities analysed based on the
underlying category of temporary differences and the expected date

of recovery and settlement are as follows:

2018 2017
FEFFTHEE ¢ Deferred income tax assets:
—A]7E 12 (@ A &M e 2 IEER IE & 22 — Deferred income tax assets to
be recovered after more
than 12 months 251,290 161,448
FEFETEEE - Deferred income tax liabilities:
—EE12AA%RER ZELERIBEE — Deferred income tax liabilities to
be settled after more than
12 months (114,444)  (166,534)
136,846 (5,086)

EIERIARR B BB T -

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as

follows:

2018 2017
1818 At 1 January (5,086) (20,783)
196 FE R & B B IS 3R & 2 R Changes on initial application
E IR 2 EE) of HKFRS 9 74,501 -
AU ERBR AR IE ()B4 Tax (charged)/credited to the
(PfFEE14) income statement (Note 14) (1,605) 8,060
A Mz B PO A5 7 2] 15 (FfT 53 38) Tax credited to equity (Note 38) 73,272 1,874
EHER Exchange difference (4,236) 5,763
12H31H At 31 December 136,846 (5,086)
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34. EIZEHIE (&) 34. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)
BEHREEERBBERANEE 288 ~8ER The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during
MEABEEERE THE 2 ERIT ¢ the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances

within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

IRIEFRIBEE : Deferred income tax assets:
AE EEX
ERERERE REM
Impairment Deferred
allowances expenses &t
and provisions and others Total
20171 A1 H At 1 January 2017 101,527 53,831 155,358
RIEERR (i) /B (Charged)/credit to the income statement (970) 1,297 327
EHER Exchange difference 3,524 2,239 5,763
201712 A31H At 31 December 2017 104,081 57,367 161,448
MR SR BIRE %R Changes on initial application
F9F 2 EH of HKFRS 9 94,306 - 94,306
2018F1A1H At 1 January 2018 198,387 57,367 255,754
R ERAERE /() Credited/(charged) to the income statement 2,920 (3,148) (228)
EHER Exchange difference (2,661) (1,575) (4,236)
20181231 H At 31 December 2018 198,646 52,644 251,290

210  A¥FEITAER DA 2018F 55
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

34. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

IRIERIBEE RS : Deferred income tax liabilities:
NERBHE REVEER
Accelerated Investment REEL
R tax properties Investment &t
Provisions depreciation revaluation revaluation Total
201751818 At 1 January 2017 10,029 88,632 3,919 73,561 176,141
SRR (E%) /5 (Credited)/charged to the
income statement (10,029) 618 649 1,029 (7,733)
AR R ER A Credited to equity - - - (1,874) (1,874)
2017512A318 At 31 December 2017 - 89,250 4,568 72,716 166,534
MRERE R BREER Changes on initial application
FIR 2 of HKFRS 9 12,776 - - 7,029 19,805
201861 A1H At 1 January 2018 12,776 89,250 4,568 79,745 186,339
RESEER /(R ) Charged/(credited) to the
income statement 1,860 1,236 166 (1,885) 1,377
R R AE A Credited to equity - - - (73,272) (73,272)
2018128318 At 31 December 2018 14,636 90,486 4,734 4,588 114,444

T T A A R BR A B4 2 SR SE R IR

The deferred income tax credited to equity during the year is as

follows:

2018 2017
AR 2 2 A TERE Fair value reserves in shareholders’ equity:
—UAAFEFEBEES A — financial assets at fair value
Hih2EWENermEE through other comprehensive
AI I E B 5 (Mi5E38) income/available-for-sale
securities (Note 38) 73,272 1,874
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35. HEBAT &R

RAMBHAREANRE BRESEQRE KD
HIRETRBMEL 2 AESRFFFINT

35. BALANCES WITH GROUP COMPANIES

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position captions
are balances with the ultimate and immediate holding companies
arising from transactions conducted on normal commercial terms:

2018 2017
BHEERFEMRE Advances and other accounts 563 554
Y SFEE N Deposits from customers 914,935 211,703
HAbR B RIER Other accounts and accruals 553 2,880

RAMBHARNERANRE BRERZNBRRZE
BREESIET

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position captions
are balances with fellow subsidiaries detailed as follows:

2018 2017
BEHEEZRREMIEE Advances and other accounts 7,747 7,154
BRER Deposits from customers 585,316 1,433,073
HBRE RIERE Other accounts and accruals 10,691 15,817

36. FAREBBERAE

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

() BAEIE (@) Capital commitments
M12 A31BEEE R ARIREEHE 2 BB R LB Capital expenditure in respect of projects and acquisition of fixed
ANEBEEEZERAENT assets as at 31 December but not yet incurred is as follows:
2018 2017
BHEOBEREEEE 2R Expenditure contracted but not
provided for 89,469 55,462

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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(2) FERE
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BREENEGERBRINESENT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

(Continued)
(b) Credit commitments

The contract and credit risk weighted amounts of the Group’s off-
balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to extend credit to
customers are as follows:

EHEE
Contract amount
2018 2017
BEEFERED Direct credit substitutes 604,991 321,146
X SR 2 TR B Transaction-related contingencies 507,169 525,329
B 5 S AIEE Trade-related contingencies 966,996 627,706

AR BUR T NRTA S @A A

HAitFdE - ERAHRS -

Commitments that are

unconditionally cancellable

without prior notice 71,049,928 71,273,512
Other commitments with an

original maturity of:

— DI F - under 1 year 3,093,217 3,125,645
—1FERE -1 year and over 621,803 799,392
76,844,104 76,672,730

EERNESEE

Credit risk

weighted amount
2018 2017
A B 1 SR IE Contingent liabilities and commitments 1,548,583 1,473,077
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36. FAEBREAE @) 36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
(Continued)
(R) BEEHZEE (c) Assets pledged
Tt AR AEBEINERSBERBEFNEET N Exchange Fund debts pledged with the HKMA to facilitate the Group’s
MEEFESMEREEESERZINEESE trading and market-making activities in Exchange Fund debts are as
55 follows:
2018 2017
BIRGERBCERNEE ¢ Assets pledged with HKMA:
HIEEBERZMES Trading securities 3,718,420 6,064,992
AAFERF 2 HEESTA Financial assets at fair value
Hib2ERmemEE through other comprehensive
income 1,416,143 -
Al EES Available-for-sale securities - 725,732

5,134,563 6,790,724

HHEaE Associated liabilities:

HIEEBERZRMERE Trading liabilities 5,758,954 8,668,508
T Th B iR [0 B 1 s 3R T IR B S RS 2 IF The carrying amounts of the non-government bonds pledged with
BFESMEREaEZERE unrelated financial institutions under repurchase agreements and the

associated liabilities are as follows:

2018 2017
Ot N2 EBEE ¢ Assets pledged under repurchase
agreements:
FHIEEERENIZS Trading securities 500,000 —
AT EEEEZESHA Financial assets at fair value through
Ememimme s E other comprehensive income 1,676,716 =
SRS Available-for-sale securities - 462,403
LA SRR NS BR M S & = Financial assets at amortised cost 469,964 =
2,646,680 462,403
HHEEE Associated liabilities:
RITIER Deposits from banks 1,995,696 453,740
HEmiRE RTER Other accounts and accruals 500,000 —
2,495,696 453,740

214  KX¥FEITEBR AT 20184F 45
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

(Continued)
(c) Assets pledged (Continued)

The fair value of the transferred securities and associated liabilities
approximate the carrying amount of the transferred securities.

The Group cannot use, sell or pledge the above securities for the
duration of the repurchase agreements and is exposed to the credit
risk of the issuers of the transferred securities.

(d) Operating lease commitments

Where the Group is the lessee, the future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable building operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017

1F AR Not later than 1 year 226,425 183,946
1FAEESF Later than 1 year and not later

than 5 years 657,244 461,824

5 F Later than 5 years 410,863 233,800

1,294,532 879,570

WAEEZ ARIRHEA - RAATEUEY E R
HEMRARARAZN 2 REBENFARENAT

Where the Group is the lessor, the future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable building operating leases are as follows:

2018 2017
1FELAR Not later than 1 year 26,228 30,174

1FUABESF Later than 1 year and not later
than 5 years 20,891 5,997
47,119 36,171

37. BRAK 37. SHARE CAPITAL
2018 2017

e [N & R
B Ordinary shares, Number of Share Number of Share
ERTRERRA issued and fully paid: shares capital shares capital
1A1BK12A31H At 1 January and 31 December 62,000,000 6,200,000 62,000,000 6,200,000

2018 F 12 A1 HE BT BRBMOEE 1A
62,000,000 A% (2017 4 : 62,000,0000%) > Fr &
BEITZ R 2B -

The total number of ordinary shares in issue as at 31 December 2018
is 62 million shares (2017: 62 million shares). All issued shares are fully
paid.
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38. fRfE 38. RESERVES
WRfts  REEA
fEERRE REEMHER EHEH AR (i)
GARE  Premises Investment  EX@E  -BEE Reseefor  Retained
Consolidation  Revaluation  Revaluation  Exchange General Share-based  Earnings &it
Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Compensation (Note) Total
01851810 At1 January 2018 8,827 233,100 318,224 96,658 700,254 11,688 17,649,790 19,018,541
i s ] Change on inital application of HKFRS 9
205248 - - 50,626 - - - (380,254)  (329,628)
TRERRENEREENE0F  Impact of inital application of HKFRS 9
RERBENR TR on share of an associate - - 25,445 - - - (284490) (269,045)
@E5 20018 1 1 B4 Restated balance at 1 January 2018 8,827 233,100 394,295 96,658 700,254 11,688 16,985,046 18,429,868
ATERENALBAEHER  Fairvalue gain realised and transferred to income
WATEEAAREA statement upon disposal of debt instruments
A2 ANEREE AN at fair value through other comprehensive
SRREBR AR income upon derecognition - - (1,682) - - - - (1,682)
MALEDE - ESTABIATE Reclassification of net change in fair value of
HEAEZHHAZMAANE  equiy instruments at fair value through other
MESETEZATEZHZE  comprehensive income upon derecognition, net of tax - - 14531 - - - (1453 -
(8i%)
IATEHEELEETAZE  Net change in fair value of debt instruments at
SANGNERTAZATE  fairvalue through other comprehensive income
£ - - WeTT - - - - e
IATEAEEEEST AR Net change in fai value of equity instruments at fair value
SANGHERETAZATE  through other comprehensive income
ROFE - - 1,608 - - - - 1,608
REEEREEHZEMLHE  Defered income tax on movements in investment
((iRR) revaluation reserve (Note 34) - - 7312 - - - - 7312
WATEHEEAEE A Net change in allowance for expected credit losses of
E G| O A WAL debt instruments at fair value through other
EEFEREDRE comprehensive income - - (1,804) - - - - (1,804)
BMERHTA KRB Distrioution payment of additional equty instruments - - - - - - (3003 (39,039
A8 BINERIRE Exchange differences arising on translation
HERZZ of the financial statements of foreign entities - - - (308372 - - - (308372
WRER AR AR Provision for equity-settled share-based compensation
#M Bk - - - - - 1420 - 1420
EERA Profitfor the year - - - - - - 2140659 2,140,659
NTEXBRE 2017 inl divicend - - - - - - 000 (434000
018545k 2018 interim dividend - - - - - - (182900)  (182900)
018F128317 At 31 December 2018 8,827 233,100 66,446 (209,714) 700,254 13108 18455241 19,267,262
BZE12A31BLEFEE
Year ended 31 December
2018 2017
BEAMRBAENNR Proposed final dividend/final
ZERABIRE,BIRABRE (HE16) dividend paid included in
retained earnings (Note 16) 452,600 434,000
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38. f#&fE @
it

RRITANEERELAERR BB BRELAAH
ASh 2 BB E B - ERFRZ BB R (AT RO
B IRTT RAHTIRTT (R E)) I RFTA B BRITEGEH
RAREZERENZAHMEERTE - XEERBRR
ARETRRZ FRELHE EEREBIEPRETES
EREITHR  YERN SRR -

M20184 12 31 H + AR1TEETE 1,195,194,000 7
7L (2017 & : 1,427,215,000 8 70) 2 S AIEAEE B
KRS —REHE  REBRARITZEEREET
FIEE ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LABH T 7TA1%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

38. RESERVES (Continued)

Note:

The Bank is required to maintain minimum impairment provisions in excess of
those required under HKFRS in the form of regulatory reserve. The regulatory
reserve, which also covers BCM and DSB China, is maintained to satisfy
the provisions of the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance and local regulatory
requirements for prudential supervision purposes. The regulatory reserve
restricts the amount of reserves which can be distributed to shareholders.
Movements in the regulatory reserve are made directly through equity reserve
and in consultation with the HKMA.

As at 31 December 2018, the Bank has earmarked a regulatory reserve of
HK$1,195,194,000 (2017: HK$1,427,215,000) first against the consolidated
general reserve; and for any excess amount, the balance is earmarked against
the consolidated retained earnings of the Bank.

Wife  REEA
Bl B (i)

—EE  Resevefor  Retained

General  Share-based Eamings At

NEEfRE REZHEE
GARGE  Premses Investment  EXFE
Consolidation Revaluation

Revaluation Exchange

Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Compensation (Note) Total

NTEIF1R At January 2017
ARNERARTE Fair value gains on available-for-sale
FANTENE securities recognised in equity

APERENHETHE
BRI R ENEE

Fair value gain realised and transferred to

Dl

income statement upon disposal of
available-for-sale securities

RAEHEE Deferred income tax on movements in
LEREBA (i 34)

VBRI A ZIREGE

investment revaluation reserve (Note 34)
Distribution payment of additional
equity instruments

HERIMEREERR Exchange differences arising on translation of the
MEXZE financial statements of foreign entities

IEPES DL Reclassfication of properties

DREST AR EARRE  Provision for equity-settled
Ell g share-based compensation

FREH Profit for the year

PAIGES S 2016 final dividend

175 HRE 2017 interim dividend

01712 A31H At 31 December 2017

887 23100 42312 (88492 70025 11187 16058002 17,155,190
- - 1430 - - - - 1430
- ) - - - - R3n)
- - 18 - - - - 18

i . - - - - e Res)

385,150 - - - 350
. : - . - - @56 6255

i . - . - 501 - 501
. . - - - - 2083683 2083683
_ . - - - = (390600 (390,600
i . - - - - (f61200 (161200

8,821 233,100 318,024 96,658 700,254 11,688 17,649,790 19,018,541
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39. ADDITIONAL EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

On 8 December 2017, the Bank issued Basel lll-compliant undated
non-cumulative subordinated Additional Tier 1 capital securities (the
“AT1 Capital Securities”) with a notional principal of US$115,000,000.
They were fully subscribed by DSFH.

The principal of the AT1 Capital Securities will be written off up to the
amount as directed by the HKMA if the HKMA notifies the Bank that in
the opinion of the HKMA or a relevant government body that a write-
off is necessary, without which the Bank would become non-viable.

Distribution at 4.625% p.a. is payable semi-annually from the issue
date to the optional redemption date falling on 8 December 2022.
Thereafter, if the AT1 Capital Securities are not redeemed, the
distribution rate will be reset every 5 years and it will bear distribution
at the then prevailing 5-year U.S. Treasury Rate plus 248.5 basis
points. The Bank has the right to cancel distribution payment, subject
to the requirement as set out in the terms and conditions of the
AT1 Capital Securities, and the distribution cancelled shall not be
cumulative.

The Bank may, subject to receiving the prior approval of the HKMA,
redeem the AT1 Capital Securities in whole but not in part, at par
either on the optional redemption date or any distribution payment
date thereafter.
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(B) e TREREEEEZWERE
BAIcEERRNECETHRE (A

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit before gains and
losses on certain investments and fixed assets to net

B FS R P ot
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

A) HTABEHER cash (used in)/from operating activities
2018 2017
kg THREREFEE 2 W BB Operating profit before gains and losses
2B on certain investments and fixed assets 2,456,964 2,244,453
EH B IA Net interest income (4,152,822)  (3,892,709)
% S s Dividend income (11,330) (21,073)
EERERBE Credit impairment losses 233,441 270,882
nE Depreciation 187,236 181,366
B EE #H Amortisation expenses of intangible assets - 388
IR [ U1E 2 Bk aHF 8 Advances written off net of recoveries (269,311) (472,832)
VARG 2 A< LARR (0 1E A EE TR SR BN 2 BE 18 Provision for equity-settled share-based
compensation 1,420 501
[REAESS Interest received 6,586,066 5,611,122
BAFE Interest paid (1,849,122)  (1,363,944)
Bl E Dividend received 32,030 37,813
HEEERBEEHR 2 EERT Operating profit before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 3,214,572 2,595,967
HEEERBECE Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
— B RERITHER RS SR BEA — cash and balances with banks and
3EAZBARESRER money at call and short notice
with an original maturity beyond
three months (1,107,292) (1,129,701)
—REBBBHIMEA 2 ERITHFR - placements with banks with an original
maturity beyond three months 604,651 (3,731,332)
—RHEEBERGRNES - trading securities 93,494 (991,051)
—PTESRTA — derivative financial instruments (38,587) (381,279)
— AT EFEAEEHABEMN - financial assets at fair value through
CHEE profit or loss 25,864 (332,210)
-k — trade bills (611,861) 234,573
—~RFER - advances to customers (9,365,621)  (5,606,793)
—H AR A - other accounts 420,943 (1,001,841)
— AR EFEAEEFHALMET — financial assets at fair value through
WEREEREE other comprehensive income (8,428,839) -
—AHHEES - available-for-sale securities - (5,120,316)
— DA BRAN ARSI BR Y & B - financial assets at amortised cost 1,739,555 =
—RFEIHES - held-to-maturity securities = 4,092,237
— RN — deposits from banks 1,520,165 (40,812)
—REERMAENAE - trading liabilities (2,909,554) 919,621
—EFHER - deposits from customers 11,183,516 8,603,175
—BTEAE - certificates of deposit issued (25,854) 613,285
—HmbR B KBk - other accounts and accruals 1,132,088 3,263,297
BEE 34, G B Exchange adjustments 128,370 (251,682)
RELES (FTA),/ RARES Cash (absorbed by)/generated from
operating activities (2,424,390) 1,735,138
FRBEITHERE 2 FLE Interest paid on certificates of
deposit issued (161,091) (85,254)
BEHEBFEN Hong Kong profits tax paid (252,512) (99,756)
BEUGINER Overseas tax paid (32,447) (27,000)
WEEE (TR RARSFE Net cash (used in)/from operating activities (2,870,440) 1,523,128
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40. KEBRLRELERMTE @

() ERERBEERRKN REREFR
CHEERERBERGHEIBASIUT
Bz T oS REEESLCES
AERATESERERERSBE
ZERK -

40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash
and cash equivalents comprise the following balances
with maturity of three months or less from the date of
acquisition, deposits that are readily convertible to
known amount of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.

2018 2017
e MIERITHE R Cash and balances with banks 2,243,840 1,656,146
[RE|HA B 7E 3 & A sk A T 2 i &0 & /2 BT 5% Money at call and short notice
with an original maturity
within three months 10,059,450 12,745,001
JREIEA B 72 3 & A 5k LA N 2 FEERITAI 73K Placements with banks with
an original maturity within
three months 1,015,792 2,022,374
BERAAFEETEAHEEETA Treasury bills included in
Hith 2 EW RS/ EEN 2 BEZE financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income 2,098,522 -
BERFEEERAENESFN . BERE Treasury bills included in
trading securities - 1,122,876
BRERIELEESFAZBERE Treasury bills included in
available-for-sale securities - 1,999,211
15,417,604 19,545,608

R ELE BRI R ER 1T Y 45 82 405,667,000
7t.(2017 £ : 390,602,000 7T) B[R & M ER
ReIBE | RETIHRERBEE [HE RERTH
fEeR] BRIET o

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

Included in cash and balances with banks, HK$405,667,000 (2017:
HK$390,602,000) were balances with central banks for prudential
purposes and have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents.
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40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities
TERFMASEREME TS BEES  BIE
HekERe &8 - FEMRBEETHZAE 18

HBESREXRFBA SRS
MEARERASBEARELTHHEESRCAE -

EAKEGERS

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

R EREEE
2B EHE
Total
liabilities
BEEK EARE from
Subordinated Interest financing
notes payable activities
M2018%1 H81H As at 1 January 2018 5,487,366 91,416 5,578,782
BMERS M EE : Changes from financing cash flows:
S BBEITRERR Interest paid on subordinated notes
REBEHZFE and debt securities issued - (293,730) (293,730)
MEREeR2ESBEE Total changes from financing
cash flows - (293,730) (293,730)
Hh &g : Other changes:
BEITREER MEHES Interest accrued on subordinated
ZIERTAIE notes and debt securities issued — 293,929 293,929
MEH ZE Exchange difference 11,900 - 11,900
N EES Fair value change (50,184) - (50,184)
Hih B EEzE Total other changes (38,284) 293,929 255,645
R20184%12 831 H As at 31 December 2018 5,449,082 91,615 5,540,697
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40. MEREMBLEERMTE @ 40. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(R) FEMETB2EB2HERR @ (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (Continued)
TRERLE A
Z BB
Total
liabilities
BRIBER FESFI B from
Subordinated Interest financing
notes payable activities
R2017%F1 A1 H As at 1 January 2017 7,146,163 124,005 7,270,168
MER M EE) Changes from financing cash flows:
BEEEERE Repayment of subordinated notes (1,660,074) - (1,660,074)
S BBEITRERER Interest paid on subordinated notes
REBEH 2L and debt securities issued — (332,236) (332,236)
BMERS R B EEE Total changes from financing
cash flows (1,660,074) (8332,236) (1,992,310)
Hh &g : Other changes:
BEETREEEREBKES Interest accrued on subordinated
Z FERTAIB, notes and debt securities issued = 299,647 299,647
MEH ZE Exchange difference 6,020 - 6,020
NI EES) Fair value change (4,743) - (4,743)
H b B)4aEE Total other changes 1,277 299,647 300,924
R2017F12 A31 H As at 31 December 2017 5,487,366 91,416 5,578,782

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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41. LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND ENTITIES
CONNECTED WITH DIRECTORS

Particulars of loans to directors disclosed pursuant to section 17
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622G) (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) for the year ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 are shown as below.

2018 2017
W12 A31 Bz B GAREEESE Aggregate amount of relevant
transactions outstanding
at 31 December
—EREBR - Loans and advances 23,149 24,357
—ZEHER - Guarantees issued = 1,305
FABMR G 2 &= BER Maximum aggregate amount of
relevant transactions during
the year
- SN - Loans and advances 24,620 25,917
—BHER — Guarantees issued = 1,305

R2018 FE N 2017 F Ll Z FTEE R S H AR

78T -

42. BREALZRE

ARIRIT 2 EEER D AR RIT R E M S&RIER
ARAARFERMARESEEMNEELMAT -

2018 F [ 2017 F + ZNIRITIZ — AR ZE A& -
BB AR A A R Eo A [R] 2R Y B A B 35 E 2 TE R R RS
HER 5  BERITRAETRRBG - HERDH
ASR—MRBER « IREEHEALRITR ©

BEAN - AERITIRARAIER A R R E B RMB A
AIRHEMRITHRRY - HERSBEMETR R
MIE R o

The above relevant transactions in 2018 and 2017 were all transacted
by the Bank.

42. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Bank’s immediate holding company DSBG and the ultimate
holding company is DSFH. Both holding companies are incorporated
and listed in Hong Kong.

During 2018 and 2017, the Bank entered into various continuing
connected transactions with its holding companies, and other fellow
subsidiaries on normal commercial terms. These transactions include
interbank placements and deposit taking, marketing and distribution
of life and general insurance products and the provision of other
banking services.

In addition, the Bank also provides computer and administrative

services to its ultimate holding company and its fellow subsidiaries,
leases and sub-leases properties to fellow subsidiaries.
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42. BRAEALTZRG

42. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

HEEBATZEARZNAT : Details of the significant related party transactions are as follows:
(R) HERARAREAMBARNNRE R (@) Transactions and balances with holding companies and
e fellow subsidiaries
) WARTH () Income and expenses
BEERBREZERAR
Immediate and ultimate EEX NG
holding companies Fellow subsidiaries
2018 2017 2018 2017
BRFE Interest paid (11,403) (8,000) (5,532) (8,478)
= ENS Interest received - - 114 73
=L gikn Commission received - - 25,823 75,893
B RS E, e Service fee received/recovery
HAoth B of other operating expenses 6,702 6,611 5,865 33,936
B S RABAE Rental and related building
EEE management fee received - - 4,487 12,171
B EMEESH Other operating expenses paid - = (8,736) (12,557)
BfHEE Rental paid - - (9,428) (8,495)
() EEEEAE (b) Key management personnel
() HEZERTEEHEASBZEALZR (i)  Material transactions and balances with directors and key
AEER management personnel
FR - RNRITIREWEEFEZ - 28 1%-)%1 During the year, the Bank has banking transactions with
TEREERETFTETEETIEBAS r HifE Kk the key management personnel, their close family members
HEkRETFEHIOCE  HRERLE and the entities controlled by them including deposit taking,
EEGIBTEPIRM R EEAME T I&ZAER loans, credit card facilities and investment services. These
transactions were provided in the ordinary course of business
and at the same terms with other employees.
TEEBABZRSGRESLAZMARST H Income and expenses arising from the transactions with key

WAERKR - MEHRKR

TR Z &R - management personnel are immaterial and the loans and

deposits balances with them are shown below:

2018 2017

BB Loans and advances 23,096 24,035
T Deposits 946,224 1,126,702
AEA 2 B50E Undrawn commitments 4,123 3,438
IR Guarantee = 1,305

RFEBEITER AT 2018F F 5k
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533

FR ARTWBHEEQAEERIT
66,546,000/ 7T (20174 : 151,271,000/ 7T ) A% &
WA o FA - RTINS — HFEH B RS
SEERATZIFR - MER20185F12 A31 BIFHK
4584 45,601,000/87T(20174F  5,461,000787T) °
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42. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
(b) Key management personnel (Continued)
(i)  Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel of the Bank are executive directors
and their remunerations are included under Note 15.

(c) Transactions and balances with associate and jointly
controlled entity

During the year, the Bank received from BOCQ, an associate,
dividend income of HK$66,546,000 (2017: HK$151,271,000).
During the year, the Bank received deposits from Bank Consortium
Trust Company Limited, a jointly controlled entity and the balance
of deposit as at 31 December 2018 was HK$5,601,000 (2017:
HK$5,461,000).

43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Each of the Bank’s immediate holding company (Dah Sing Banking
Group Limited (“DSBG”)) and ultimate holding company (Dah Sing
Financial Holdings Limited (“DSFH”)) has its own share option
schemes. The Board of Directors of DSBG and DSFH can grant to any
employees, including directors of the Bank and of the Group, options
to subscribe for shares of DSBG or DSFH under the DSBG Share
Option Schemes (the “DSBG Schemes”) and the DSFH Share Option
Schemes (the “DSFH Schemes”) approved by shareholders.

Share-based compensation through the DSBG Schemes and the

DSFH Schemes is available to directors and senior executives of the
Group.
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43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (Continued)
(@) DSBG Schemes

The shareholders of DSBG approved the adoption of a new share
option scheme (the “New DSBG Scheme”) and, at the same time, the
termination of the Share Option Scheme adopted by DSBG on 12
June 2004 (the “Old DSBG Scheme”) at the annual general meeting
of DSBG held on 27 May 2014. No further options can be offered
under the Old DSBG Scheme after its termination but the provisions
of the Old DSBG Scheme remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to allow grantees to exercise share options
granted prior to the termination of the Old DSBG Scheme but not yet
exercised at the time of termination.

Under the Old DSBG Scheme, DSBG issued to certain directors
and employees of its subsidiaries share options on terms that allow
DSBG the choice of making cash payments, determined based on the
intrinsic value of each share option, instead of allotting newly issued
shares to the directors or employees at the date of exercise. DSBG
has the intention to adopt cash settlement practice in respect of the
share options granted prior to year 2012. For share option issued in
2012 and afterwards, DSBG has the intention to settle its obligations
by issuing new shares.

The share options were granted in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Old DSBG Scheme. The exercise price per
option share was concluded by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee on behalf of the Board of DSBG on the basis no less
exacting than the requirement set out in Rule 17.03(9) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK and was determined
as no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of DSBG’s shares
traded on the SEHK on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of DSBG’s shares traded on the SEHK for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant. For options granted before
the commencement of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) on 3
March 2014, the nominal value of DSBG’s shares of HK$1 each in
the capital of DSBG had been taken into account in determining the
exercise price per option share. The exercise period is between the
first and sixth anniversaries from the date of grant.
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43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)
(o) DSFH Schemes

The share option scheme of DSFH adopted on 28 April 2005 (the “Old
DSFH Scheme”) had expired on 28 April 2015. On 27 May 2015, the
shareholders of DSFH approved the adoption of a new share option
scheme (the “New DSFH Scheme”). No further share options can
be offered under the Old DSFH Scheme after its expiration but the
provisions of the Old DSFH Scheme remain in full force and effect to
the extent necessary to give effect to allow grantees to exercise share
options granted prior to the expiration of the Old DSFH Scheme but
not yet exercised at the time of expiration.

Under the Old DSFH Scheme, DSFH issued to certain directors
and employees of its subsidiaries share options on terms that allow
DSFH the choice of making cash payments, determined based on the
intrinsic value of each share option, instead of allotting newly issued
shares to the directors or employees at the date of exercise. DSFH
has adopted the cash settlement practice and intends to continue this
practice in respect of the existing share options issued.

The share options were granted in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the Old DSFH Scheme. The exercise price per
option share was concluded by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee on behalf of the Board of DSFH on the basis no less
exacting than the requirement set out in Rule 17.03(9) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the SEHK and was determined
as no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of DSFH’s shares
traded on the SEHK on the date of grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of DSFH’s shares traded on the SEHK for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant. For options granted
before the commencement of the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
on 3 March 2014, the nominal value of DSFH shares of HK$2 each in
the capital of DSFH had been taken into account in determining the
exercise price per option share. The exercise period is between the
first and sixth anniversaries from the date of grant.
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43. DR AERBRMEE ®
BARFIRTEBEETER T 2 R

43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (Continued)

Share options granted under the Old DSBG Scheme:

BROTEEGER)

B®¥AH Rl BENE Cigcd: Exercise price

Date of grant Type Vesting period Exercise period per share (HK$)
2012F 12 A21H AR S5 1+ 2012F12 A21BE 2013F12A21HE
201712 A21H 201812 A 21 H

21/12/2012 Equity-settled 21/12/2012-21/12/2017 21/12/2013-21/12/2018 7.96
20143 526 H AR5 1+ 2014326 0% 2015326 HE
201943 A 26 A 202043 A 26 H

26/03/2014 Equity-settled 26/03/2014-26/03/2019 26/03/2015-26/03/2020 11.68

BAFIRITR B E A RA A EE2018512
31 H » T IABRE

Share options granted under the New DSBG Scheme since the date
of its adoption to 31 December 2018:

Eaills il BEHE Cgid BRTEE(ER)
Date of grant Type Vesting period Exercise period Exercise price per share (HK$)
2018 4 26 A PARRREZ 1 20184 A26 A% 201954 A26HE

2023F4 526 H 202454 426 H
26/04/2018 Equity-settled 26/04/2018-26/04/2023 26/04/2019-26/04/2024 18.24

IRAH G R E 2 T 2 RIRRE - Share options granted under the Old DSFH Scheme:

BRITEE(ER)
®¥H EAl HEHE Cigcd: Exercise price
Date of grant Type Vesting period Exercise period per share (HKS)
201212 A21H MHREZR 2012812821 BE 201312 A21 HE

2017%12 A21H 201812 A21H
21/12/2012 Cash-settled 21/12/2012-21/12/2017 21/12/2013-21/12/2018 31.88

RFEamFtEARMBELE2018F12 A31H
1F - WEEARRERERT S @M% -

No share options had been granted under the New DSFH Scheme
since the date of its adoption to 31 December 2018.

U R Bk A RERR 2 AR 0 A B R 3R 2 S i 4n

Share-based compensation charged to income statement is as

T follows:

2018 2017
VAR #E =2 A5F 2 SRR Equity-settled options 1,418 501
AR & 2 2 SR AR i Cash-settled options - 20,794
a5t Total 1,418 21,295

228  A¥FEITARAE 2018FF5f
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43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)
Cash-settled options

With respect to the cash-settled options granted under the Old DSFH
Scheme described above, the Group has recorded zero liabilities in
respect of the fair value of the share options at the reporting date.

No cash-settled options were granted under the New DSBG Scheme
and New DSFH Scheme in the year of 2018.

The total intrinsic value of the share options for which the grantees’
right to receive cash on a vested basis as of 31 December 2018 is nil
(2017: HK$569,000).

Equity-settled options

With respect to the equity-settled options granted under the New
DSBG Scheme described above, the fair value is determined by using
the Trinomial Option Pricing Model at the date when the options
are granted. The assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the
options granted during the year are as follows:

2018 4 A 26 H

®£FH Grant date 26 April 2018
AFIRTEBNR T A 2B GET) Share price of DSBG as at grant date (HK$) 18.24
TEE (BT) Exercise price (HK$) 18.24
%Eéﬁszfp% (FE () Expected volatility (Note (i) 19.09%
2 Hx’fiéiﬁﬂ (%) Option life (years) 6
B ) == (R (ii)) Risk free rate (Note (ii)) 2.091%
%E?rﬂi 8.3 (7 (iii)) Expected dividend rate (Note (iii)) 2.64%
RIER G A TFE (BIT) Fair value of a share in the option (HK$) 2.85-2.93
i Note:
(i) FastR iR IR ER §+§azgr;5&—¢7q%ﬁﬂ§ (i) Expected volatility is determined by calculating the historical volatility

TERBEMAEANELREmEE - WRRE
RATIRITER BB Z R IE - Eﬁti‘%ﬁﬁﬁémﬂxﬁéz
FHAZEERE  WEEANER

(i) EERANXSRETHEEFHZIEEINEES
Rz WX -

(i)  FEEBEERTINE T RIRBERE MR °

of the share price of DSBG, as applicable, during the one year period
immediately preceding the grant date and is based on the assumption
that there is no material difference between the expected volatility over
the time to maturity of the options and the historical volatility of the share
prices of DSBG as set out above.

(ii) Risk free rate is the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes yield of relevant
time to maturity at grant date.

(iii) Expected dividend rates are based on historical dividends at grant date.
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43. DR AERBRMEE ®
LURES (T 22 R (&)

BT 2 RIRHE R T 1T B 2 BB
T~

43. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)
Equity-settled options (Continued)

Movements in the number of share options granted and their related
weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

PG HE RifERE
DSBG Scheme DSFH Scheme
2018 2017 2018 2017
RYARE RTEE RTIRE RFAEE

K BEE T AREG5E Mg KiTER il 337 Nk Mg
AR 8 Ak fife B i g {1z
RH#E (#7) KA (%7) Bh#E () L (%7)
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
DSBG shares average  DSBG shares average  DSFH shares average  DSFH shares average
in share exercise in share exercise in share exercise in share exercise
options price options price options price options price
granted (HKS) granted (HKS) granted (HKS) granted (HKS)
—-A-A At 1 January 1,910,921 8.20 10,385,452 8.77 31,292 31.88 47221 35.92
i Granted 1,500,000 18.24 - - = = = -
B Expired - - - - - - - -
B17fE Exercised (1,848,609) 8.09 (373,876) 8.58 - - - -
BECH/ B Cancelled/forfeited - - (8,100,65) 891 (31,292) 31.88 (385,935) 36.25
12A31H At 31 December 1,562,312 17.98 1,910,921 8.20 - - 31,292 31.88
12 A 31 AAJ{fE Exercisable at 31 December - - 1,786,296 7.96 - - 31,292 31.88

RFERITEER 2018 £ 12 A 31 B ARIT{EZ R
TEZ1TEEN T 11.6875 T £18.24 % 75 (2017
F:NTF7.968TTE11.6887T) © REEFH
Fler s A1T(E B A5.16 5 (20174 : 1.05%) - 8
RAEEEERSFTHASAEAZ KSR
REEHE - 7 20184F 12 A 31 RRBARITEZ KH
SR RRE (2017 F + RITEZ RS B RMKRAE
ZATEE /R 31.88 78 L R E T FERE K17
FHIA097 ) o

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

DSBG’s share options outstanding as of 31 December 2018 have
exercise prices in the range of HK$11.68 to HK$18.24 (2017: HK$7.96
to HK$11.68), and a weighted average remaining contractual life
of 5.16 years (2017: 1.05 years). In respect of directors and senior
executives of the Group, there is no DSFH’s share option outstanding
as of 31 December 2018 (2017: outstanding share options with
exercise price of HK$31.88 and a weighted average remaining
contractual life of 0.97 years).
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(LAY T 7A7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

44. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

Financial assets and liabilities are presented net when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle them on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

(@) Financial assets and liabilities subject to netting
agreement and offset on the statement of financial
position

The Group maintains an account with the Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited (“HKSCC”) through which it conducts
securities trading transactions for its customers.

In presenting the amounts due from and to HKSCC, the Group has
offset the gross amount of the accounts receivable from and the
gross amount of the accounts payable to HKSCC. As at 31 December
2018, the net amount was a payable and was included in “Other
accounts and accruals”, and as at 31 December 2017, the net amount
was a receivable and was included in “Accounts receivable and
prepayments” in Note 29. The amounts offset are shown below.

2018 2017

JERE B REE 7 FIEERE Gross amount of accounts
receivable from HKSCC 25,461 104,709

R EBPRER 2 FORBRE Gross amount of accounts
payable to HKSCC (48,869) (181)
(FEfD), /TR B AR R EEFRE Net amount due (to)/from HKSCC (23,408) 104,528

(2) RRRRFRERFERBEMBRR K
NEE EMEERAE

AREEeRAEERSHTFIIUARFIREELR
B WREEERR - FEEEBRRE - —B
HBRENEN  MBESRRXGHTFZIREKX S
BaRIt - MAEBRFERH AR FHREE -
WIFRLENEMN  MERYFIRSEUNEE
BER—RISEMBRRARPEEHEENE

& o

(b) Financial assets and liabilities subject to netting
agreement but not offset on the statement of financial
position

Master netting arrangements

To mitigate credit risks, the Group enters into master netting
arrangements with counterparties whenever possible. Netting
agreements provide that, if an event of default occurs, all outstanding
transactions with the counterparty will be terminated and all amounts
outstanding will be settled on a net basis. Except for the event of
default, all outstanding transactions with the counterparty are settled
on a gross basis and generally do not result in offsetting the assets
and liabilities in the statement of financial position.
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44, TRIEEHESBMNEHE @

(C) RERFERFERBEMBRR X
NEHEzEHEEREE @

BEFERELH (&)

TRIREEE RERBNIZBRFREER
HERERBHRAORNERMTAFE -

44. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL

LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Financial assets and liabilities subject to netting
agreement but not offset on the statement of financial
position (Continued)

Master netting arrangements (Continued)

The following tables present details of financial instruments subject

to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

agreements.

ERBBRRRAGSE ABLE
Related amounts not set off in the
statement of financial position

REBRRRR  REBRRER THRAME
HiEveR ik $HI8 BHuT ¥
tHARAR EEFE (REFRSEAR) HEVE Ph ]
BRZEE Grossamountsof  Netamounts of Financial Amounts
BEBE recognised financial  financial assets instruments not subject
Gross amounts  liabilities set off  presented in the (including ERBEER to enforceable
of recognised  in the statement of statement of non-cash  Cash collateral 7 netting it
0185128318 At 31 December 2018 financial assets ~ financial position ~financial position collateral) received Net amount agreements Total
HAE Financial assets
fESMTA Derivative financial instruments 643,356 - 643,356 (262,857) (380,499) - 83,687 727,043
ERAER AN HZ AELE
Related amounts not set off in the
statement of financial position
REBRRRR  REERRER THRAME
Hevend ilpvk SHIR BHuT2RE
THEEAR AERE (BEFRLERAR) HEVE VA
B#ZER Grossamountsof  Netamounts of Financial Amounts
BB recognised financial ~financial liabiities instruments ~ BERELER not subject
Gross amounts assetssetoff  presented in the (including Cash to enforceable
of recognised in the statement of statement of non-cash collateral L] netting At
018%12A31H At 31 December 2018 financial liabilities ~ financial position financial position collateral) placed out Net amount agreements Total
Rk Financial liabilties
it Deposits from banks 1,995,696 - 1,995,696 (1,995,696) - - 1,801,860 3,797,556
freEemIA Derivative financial
instruments 402,251 - 402,251 (262,857) (135,081) 4313 71,022 473,213
FFIEEEREMAR  Trading liabilties 5,758,954 - 5,758,954 (5,134,563) - 624,391 - 5,758,954
HfiEARER Other accounts and accruals 500,000 - 500,000 (500,000) - - 7,737,099 8,237,099

RFEBEITER AT 2018F F 5k
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44. OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Financial assets and liabilities subject to netting
agreement but not offset on the statement of financial
position (Continued)

AR FBRAE T () Master netting arrangements (Continued)
TERHHIRR ARG HEER
Related amounts not set off in the
statement of financial position
REBIRRER  REBRRER TP RAfE
H#7EER vk SBIA BT R
SRAGAE EERE (REHRSEAR) REY vk
BEER  Grossamountsof  Netamounts of Financial Amounts
BEAE recognised financial  financial assets instuments  EAELHER not subject
Gross amounts  liabilities set off  presented in the (including Cash to enforceable
of recognised  in the statement of statement of non-cash collateral 8 netting At
017F12A31H At 31 December 2017 financial assets ~ financial position ~ financial position collateral) received Net amount agreements Total
EHAE Financial assets
frEemTA Derivative financial instruments 724332 - 724,332 (293,648) (401,317) 29,367 173,635 897,967
BERERHES  Cashand balances with bank 410,188 - 410,188 (410,189) - - 16,033,485 17,343,673
UERHHIRRRAYE HEER
Related amounts not set off in the
statement of financial position
REBIRRER  REBRRER TR
H#7ERR vk SBIA BT R
SREEAE AERE (REFRSEAR) REY vk
EEER  Grossamountsof  Netamounts of Financial Amounts
B{E2E recognised financial  financial liabilties instuments ~ EEFRLHER not subject
(Gross amounts assetssetoff  presented in the (including Cash to enforceable
of recognised  in the statement of statement of non-cash collateral 8 netting At
017F12A31H At 31 December 2017 financial liabilities ~financlal position  financial position collateral) placed out Net amount agreements Total
Rk Financial liabilties
i Deposits from banks 453,740 - 453,740 (453,740) - - 1,823,651 2,277,391
fESMTA Derivative financial instruments 433,624 - 433,624 (293,648) (154,323) (14,347) 249,160 682,784
RIEEEREMAE  Trading liabilties 8,668,508 - 8,668,508 (6,790,724) - 1,877,784 - 8,668,508
AfEERER  Otheraccounts and accruals - - - - - - 6,096,111 6,096,111
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45. BMEHKRB2BHE

M201941 A 158 - AN8R47%17 225,000,000 3
TEBBR G LT RFAEEBERGE MR
ER/RZHRERNI10FHESBREEBL([EB]D)
(ZBBTBEBCRITE (BAR) BADZ IR © %E
B2EB ALY  ARITAIITERERE - & EE
Bl H £2024 %1 158 © i ANRITARITEE D
1 ZEEBR2029F1 A15 BEH - KERTTE
PIRIZEREE A 201941 A 29 H 2 R (EEH £33
(Z,)32 % #9225,000,000 3= LA 2024 F 2| 80
BI&ERER -

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

45. EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 15 January 2019, the Bank issued US$225 million Basel IlI
compliant 10-year Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes qualifying as Tier 2
capital of the Bank (subject to the provisions of the Banking (Capital)
Rules of Hong Kong) which are listed on the SEHK. The Notes carry
an interest rate of 5% per annum with call option exercisable by the
Bank, and with the first call date falling on 15 January 2024. If the
call option is not exercised by the Bank, the Notes will mature on 15
January 2029. The US$225 million Subordinated Fixed Rate Notes
due on 2024 mentioned in Note 33 (b) had been fully repaid by the
Bank on the optional redemption date of 29 January 2019.
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UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

TIREBAREE 2 ERHE R B IREK 2 B0 M
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1. BAXZREHER

(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

The following information relates to the Group and is disclosed as part
of the accompanying information to the financial statements and does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

1. CAPITAL ADEQUACY RATIO

2018 & 20174
12A31 8 12 A31H
As at As at
31 Dec 31 Dec
2018 2017

BT L Capital adequacy ratio
—EEARE A — Common Equity Tier 1 13.1% 13.4%
——1% — Tier 1 13.7% 14.0%
— B — Total 18.1% 18.7%

2018412 A31 H K% 2017412 A31 HZEAXTE
R LR TIARRITHEGZE MR (B IFRFIEERIT
RARFRIT(FHE)) 2 ECRITE(EAR) FHADEY
EEBRBE I EETETHE - ZEAFT R LR
HEZRE|misRARARERR

RIRTTRBEBEMRITARBEBRITESRS
BTEATREERHFEENR - RPIHERITAE
SARPIRITEEENRE RAHIRIT (PE)
BESTABTERITEEENRE

REFECRITE (KR RRD) - FEAEEEER
RN E A AR R ER 2 SRINE B E TS AN RITR A
http://www.dahsing.com - 17 A] &L LA T E#2EAS
http://www.dahsing.com/html/tc/about_us/

regulatory_disclosures.html# A °

The capital adequacy ratio as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December
2017 represents the consolidated position of the Bank (covering
BCM and DSB China) computed on Basel Ill basis in accordance with
the Banking (Capital) Rules. This capital adequacy ratio takes into
account market risk and operational risk.

The Bank as a locally incorporated bank in Hong Kong is subject
to the minimum capital adequacy ratio requirement under the
Hong Kong Banking Ordinance. BCM is subject to Macau banking
regulations and DSB China is subject to China banking regulations.

For the purposes of compliance with the Banking (Disclosure) Rules,
additional information relating to the Group’s regulatory capital and
other related disclosures is published in the Bank’s website at www.
dahsing.com and is accessible at the following direct link:

http://www.dahsing.com/html/en/about_us/regulatory_disclosures.html.
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2. 1ERRkE=E

2. LEVERAGE RATIO

20184 2017

12A31H 12A31H

As at As at

31 Dec 31 Dec

2018 2017

LR e Leverage ratio 8.8% 8.9%

CRI75 (BZR) RAIDE 24A(6) 557 E HER L =
ZHRE o LM TIARRIT 2R AMR Z LR RIZE
ARFE R R 2 BRI E ERETE

REACRTERE)RA) EEAEEE
1R R 2 BINE R B FIE A AN IR1T 4 B http://
www.dahsing.com * 7 A] £ A | H £ & 4
http://www.dahsing.com/html/tc/about_us/
regulatory_disclosures.html # A °

3. RBMEELERIFLE

The disclosure on leverage ratio is required under section 24A(6)
of the Banking (Disclosure) Rules. The above ratios represent the
consolidated position of the Bank and are computed on the same
consolidated basis as the capital adequacy ratio.

For the purposes of compliance with the Banking (Disclosure)
Rules, additional information relating to the Group’s leverage ratio
is published in the Bank’s website at www.dahsing.com and is
accessible at the following direct link:
http://www.dahsing.com/html/en/about_us/regulatory_disclosures.
html.

3. LIQUIDITY MAINTENANCE RATIO

2018 2017

MENE B EHFTLL X

MEBEEEEFLLEDARRIT(BIRRFIFHRER
T RAFRTT (R ED) R BFESEE A8 F
VAR EEEFHLENEEFLSH - REE
BEAFLLEDRBE(RITECORE L) R A

s
B o
ZAr

RFTRBBEMBITARBRBRITEEE
SRBESHERREER - RFIFRRITAET
BRRPIRTTREEMNMERKRT (FE)A
BTHEBTBRRITREENRE

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k

Liquidity maintenance ratio 45.6% 44.0%

The LMR is calculated as the simple average of each calendar
month’s average consolidated liquidity maintenance ratio of the Bank
(covering BCM and DSB China) for the financial year. The LMR is
computed in accordance with the Banking (Liquidity) Rules.

The Bank as a locally incorporated bank in Hong Kong is subject to
the liquidity requirement under the Hong Kong Banking Ordinance.
BCM is subject to Macau banking regulations and DSB China is
subject to China banking regulations.
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AEBIZ T A
UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

4. CURRENCY CONCENTRATIONS

T3 AR2018E12 A31 B 2 E T MEMERE The following sets out the net foreign exchange position in USD and
w2z SNEEFRE (B Bl < SNE SRR 8 AT A AN T other individual currency that constitutes more than 10% of the total
EH10%) + REAAME 2 LEEEE o net position in all foreign currencies as at 31 December 2018 and the

corresponding comparative balances.

R 2018412 A31 H & 2017F 12 A31H » &% The Group did not have any structural foreign exchange position as
B I A AT M NS 5 82588 - B R E R at 31 December 2018 and 2017. The net position is calculated in the
BIEFTEINERES A Z SREBNEES AEM basis of the delta-weighted position of all foreign currency option
HE o contracts.

Hishe AR

gl Other Total
EYH N Macau foreign foreign
201812831 H At 31 December 2018 US dollars Renminbi Pataca currencies currencies
BERESBT Equivalent in HK$ millions
REEE Spot assets 60,969 14,883 10,894 5,691 92,437
HBEEE Spot liabilities (43,893) (14,226) (11,539) (8,423) (78,081)
EHEA Forward purchases 29,060 13,612 1 7,359 50,032
EHEL Forward sales (45,568) (13,760) (160) (4,639) (64,127)
HitE %5 Net options position (34) - - 34 -
R/(8)8&%5E Net long/(short) position 534 509 (804) 22 261

H AN SNEEET

SR Other Total

ET Macau foreign foreign

2017% 12 A31H At 31 December 2017 US dollars Pataca currencies currencies
HERBERT Equivalent in HK$ millions

REEE Spot assets 69,163 9,139 18,957 97,259

REAE Spot liabilities (32,744) (10,817) (22,919) (66,480)

REIBA Forward purchases 26,575 - 18,272 44,847

REAE N Forward sales (62,053) - (14,330) (76,383)

HitE = e Net options position 1 - (1) -

&/(5) 8% Net long/(short) position 942 (1,678) (1) (757)

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018

01011001011001101
101010010101130011
010001101011001071]

0011101091 0000101

010100107101730071
01000110107 10010711
100111010110000101

100010110101 700710

237



100111010003001110 _
110100111 0001010100 Z«( = ‘; == H > NIN
J011011001110100010 I /(% 77 [\
101110101 001110010 M /N =8
11010011100010101

it UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

(LAB® T ITA57R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

5. BERERBREZEINDH 5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES
() RIT¥ESBE2EFERLE(UEXKA (@) Gross advances to customers by industry sector
BOBERUSEFARRENEIL D classified according to the usage of loans and analysed
) by percentage covered by collateral
2018%12A31H 201712 A31H
At 31 December 2018 At 31 December 2017
EXHEE B
SHEARRE SEARRE
ZE ZAN
% of gross % of gross
REBEH advances REEEH advances
Outstanding covered Outstanding covered
balance by collateral balance by collateral
EBRERNER Loans for use in Hong Kong
ITHsw Industrial, commercial and financial
- MEER - Property development 5,411,554 69.4 3,927,651 87.5
—MEEE - Property investment 15,930,681 98.7 14,933,223 96.3
—-ERtE - Financial concerns 5,229,101 3.2 3,814,050 7.9
-RELL - Stockbrokers 1,711,512 28.2 2,141,027 54.2
—JEETEZ - Wholesale and retail trade 6,584,127 89.2 7,202,373 85.9
—BlE% - Manufacturing 1,702,636 75.0 1,900,894 80.0
—BHREHHRE - Transport and transport equipment 3,691,151 73.1 3,932,189 76.6
— [R5 - Recreational activities 103,057 99.8 96,881 100.0
— BB - Information technology 70,890 82.3 68,986 90.7
—HAfl - Others 3,537,199 82.9 4,114,396 72.0
43,071,908 752 42,131,670 78.6
fEA Individuals
-BE [REAHEE ] - Loans for the purchase of
[TLAZ2RERE] Kk flats in Home Ownership
[HEEAENE] BFER Scheme, Private Sector
Participation Scheme and
Tenants Purchase Scheme 632,804 100.0 687,074 100.0
-BEHEMEENEER - Loans for the purchase of other
residential properties 26,609,223 100.0 22,988,102 99.9
—EHREX - Credit card advances 3,721,632 = 3,613,411 =
—HAf - Others 12,927,451 51.3 12,308,030 51.6
43,891,110 772 39596617 758
EERERNER Loans for use in Hong Kong 87,863,018 76.2 81,728,287 77.3
BE5mE GE(1) Trade finance (Note (1)) 9,265,660 62.8 8,766,204 62.6
TEEBIMEBMER (F Q) Loans for use outside Hong Kong
(Note (2) 31,501,601 67.8 28,770,167 68.1
128,630,279 73.2 119,264,658 74.0

238  AHRITARLAT 2018FE 54
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() RITE S ECEFERAE(LLERA
EPERUSZERARRENE D LESD
) ()

(1) LRIRZEZMERZEEELERBLZM
BiEsImMoEREEED HOMEOMNRE
NEEREIRMESZERK -

TEREBZ B SHMEBRR (BIENRITZIEIME
TMBEARE T 2E S@ME) 418 306,245,000 7
Jt(2017412 A 31 H : 476,119,000/87T) DR
[EBRBIMERMER] BT -

@ HEEEMMERANERBERTEERPEES
BIMER 2B

(a)

Note:

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

Gross advances to customers by industry sector
classified according to the usage of loans and analysed
by percentage covered by collateral (Continued)

Trade finance shown above represents loans covering finance of
imports to Hong Kong, exports and re-exports from Hong Kong and
merchandising trade classified with reference to the relevant guidelines
issued by the HKMA.

Trade finance loans not involving Hong Kong (including trade finance
extended by the overseas subsidiary banks of the Bank) totalling
HK$306,245,000 (31 December 2017: HK$476,119,000) are classified
under Loans for use outside Hong Kong.

Loans for use outside Hong Kong include loans extended to customers
located in Hong Kong with the finance used outside Hong Kong.

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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(R) RITES B2 EFERARE (LEXA
BOERUZERRRENEI LD

) ()
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% REEREERE - A HERERERNE
AR EE T ¢

5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

(@) Gross advances to customers by industry sector
classified according to the usage of loans and analysed
by percentage covered by collateral (Continued)

For each industry sector reported above with loan balance
constituting 10% or more of the total balance of advances to
customers, the attributable amount of impaired loans, overdue loans,
and individually and collectively assessed loan impairment allowances
are as follows:

B
BHKEE BRER1 R
HBiB3EA PR 2
REER Gross PEER 3 AEERE
(P& 3) advances WE%XHE  Stageland
REBES Impaired overdue Stage 3 Stage 2
Outstanding loans for over 3 impairment impairment
2018412 A 31 A At 31 December 2018 balance (Stage 3) months allowances allowances
ERBERNER Loans for use in Hong Kong
Inem Industrial, commercial
and financial
—MERE - Property investment 15,930,681 46,826 39,278 3,417 89,814
fEA Individuals
—~EEEMEEMEER - Loans for the purchase
of other residential
properties 26,609,223 27,406 14,575 1,807 18,520
TEBBAIMERRER Loans for use outside
Hong Kong 31,501,601 220,458 182,600 90,693 122,411
EREE
BEK(EE
iR 318 A {EiNU R At
Gross REERE B
advances Individually Collectively
REEHEH REER overdue assessed assessed
Outstanding Impaired for over 3 impairment impairment
201712 A 31 H At 31 December 2017 balance loans months allowances allowances
EEBERNER Loans for use in Hong Kong
IEea Industrial, commercial
and financial
—EERE - Property investment 14,933,223 78,968 59,897 6,925 47,835
EA Individuals
-BEEMEEMEER - Loans for the purchase
of other residential
properties 22,988,102 6,305 9,337 - 4,107
TERBLAIME AR E R Loans for use outside
Hong Kong 28,770,167 187,828 258,196 100,236 106,550

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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(2) H B KX AEREE

REBEFBSER(RITE(KE)RA) - LT HP
BAEEBNBRBEZ AT H2REBSERE T
BIRMERERRA P2 FFRITRRZE TR
MIREEEREFERERUSE AR R BERR
TREAMRITHE R BR T 2 H R AEEEH

(LAY T 7TA7%17R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

(b) Mainland activities exposures

The analysis of Mainland activities exposures is based on the
categories of non-bank counterparties and the type of direct
exposures defined by the HKMA under the Banking (Disclosure) Rules
with reference to the HKMA Return of Mainland Activities, which
includes the Mainland activities exposures extended by the Bank and

#RER

its Mainland subsidiary bank only.

BEARRA HEREGRH

HIEREE HIEAEE
On-balance  Off-balance Here
sheet sheet Total
2018 4F 2018 exposure exposure  exposures
1. PR - FREST 1. Central government, central
BEERRBERENBAR government-owned entities and their
MeaaEra([A&R7]]) subsidiaries and joint ventures (“JV”s) 9,982,126 305,735 10,287,861
2. AT - T 2. Local governments, local
Tﬁﬁ RS e HLFT government-owned entities
ARG E AT and their subsidiaries and JVs 1,504,724 371,992 1,876,716
3. BEEHEAMZ BRI E 3. PRC nationals residing in Mainland
H B8 (A 1 S A EL A China or other entities incorporated
REMBARMEE AR in Mainland China and their
subsidiaries and JVs 13,135,384 1,046,751 14,182,135
4. REELRE-—BER2 4. Other entities of central government
HH R BT A L fth not reported in item 1 above 1,154,781 9,949 1,164,730
5. REELME"BER 5. Other entities of local governments
BT E E s not reported in item 2 above 643,794 6,616 650,410
6. BEEREAMAINZ 6. PRC nationals residing outside Mainland
Bl R sk fE B A A China or entities incorporated outside
INCIL EVHERS - TS e Mainland China where the credits are
S B A granted for use in Mainland China 9,618,828 359,654 9,978,482
7. Bt R 5EF - HopEE 7. Other counterparties where the exposures
AR E S R BIKREIE are considered to be non-bank
RITHERFR%HE Mainland China exposures 1,000,366 = 1,000,366
37,040,008 2,100,697 39,140,700
ARERIT R E AMIRTTIE Total assets of the Bank and its Mainland
RAlZHREEE CBEERS subsidiary bank after provision 213,334,791
BEBERANRE On-balance sheet exposures as
HMEEATANLL percentage of total assets 17.36%
T RSB ERAEREMEHEESR Note: The balances of exposures reported above include gross advances and

Bzo8 e

other balances of claims on the customers.
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5. EERSBEZIBEIINDN &

(Z) BB RpEEKAEREE (@)

5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

(b) Mainland activities exposures (Continued)

BEBEBRA EBEBERI
iofXE RIEAEE
On-balance  Off-balance fBERER
sheet sheet Total
2017 % 2017 exposure exposure exposures
1. RRET - RREUT 1. Central government, central
HERNKERE government-owned entities and their
fEARMEE AR subsidiaries and JVs 7,145,507 70,194 7,215,701
2. W R BT - 75 BT 2. Local governments, local
T?EEE’N‘%T%&EW% government-owned entities and
DRIMEE AT their subsidiaries and JVs 896,387 78,815 975,202
3. EEEREAM 2 BRK 3. PRC nationals residing in Mainland
2 B A 3 7 RO EL A China or other entities incorporated
REWBRRIMEE AR in Mainland China and their
subsidiaries and JVs 13,523,930 1,113,634 14,637,564
4 ABELRE-—THER 2 4. Other entities of central government
FH R T A Lt not reported in item 1 above 1,635,173 15,391 1,650,564
5. RBELMEZHERZ 5. Other entities of local governments
75 BT B A not reported in item 2 above 835,183 = 835,183
6. BEERBE AU AN 6. PRC nationals residing outside Mainland
B RSk AR B A it DA S/ China or entities incorporated outside
PRILEVHERE - T B Mainland China where the credits are
SRR A B A3 R granted for use in Mainland China 8,511,455 206,141 8,717,596
7. Bt R 5T - B 7. Other counterparties where the exposures
AR (T R B A RE are considered to be non-bank
FERITHEEFNHE Mainland China exposures 1,113,077 48,625 1,161,702
33,660,712 1,532,800 35,193,512
ARERIT R E AMIRTTIE Total assets of the Bank and its Mainland
RAlZHREEE CBEERS subsidiary bank after provision 201,200,282
BEARKRAKERE On-balance sheet exposures as
MEEGTADLL percentage of total assets 16.73%

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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(LAY T 7A7%7R) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

(c)

Analysis of gross advances to customers and overdue

loans by geographical area

Advances to customers by geographical area are classified according

to the location of the counterparties after taking into account the

transfer of risk. In general, risk transfer applies when an advance is

guaranteed by a party located in an area which is different from that

of the counterparty.

The following table analyses gross advances to customers,

individually impaired advances to customers, overdue advances to

customers and individually and collectively assessed impairment

allowances by geographical area.

1B B3R & BEER1 R

BEFEX PEER 2

BEFEM (P& Ez3) BHEF PEER3 WEERE

wE Impaired B WE%XE Stage1and

Gross advances Overdue Stage 3 Stage 2

advances to to customers advances to impairment impairment

201812 A 31 H At 31 December 2018 customers (Stage 3) customers allowances allowances
B Hong Kong 105,025,978 832,748 441,976 332,656 479,963
H China 7,442,961 75,691 66,817 12,147 46,637
R Macau 14,459,024 59,521 59,521 17,867 16,860
Hith Others 1,702,316 2,206 12,795 319 7,474
128,630,279 970,166 581,109 362,989 550,934

BRI A EREHE A

EFER  BEFER  AMES  AEER  REER

4% Individually B3 Individually  Collectively

Gross impaired Overdue assessed assessed

advancesto  advancesto  advances to impairment impairment

2017412 A31H At 31 December 2017 customers customers customers allowances allowances
B Hong Kong 95,759,022 702,373 662,535 246,470 282,407
H China 8,229,210 26,578 66,982 20,955 51,365
A Macau 13,203,133 26,302 60,870 13,205 38,645
Hoh Others 2,073,293 11 10,392 11 5,988
119,264,658 755,264 800,779 280,641 378,405
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5. ADDITIONAL ANALYSIS ON CLAIMS AND
EXPOSURES (Continued)

(d) International claims

The information of international claims discloses exposures to foreign
counterparties on which the ultimate risk lies, and is derived according
to the location of the counterparties after taking into account any
transfer of risk. In general, transfer of risk from one country to another
is recognised if the claims against a counterparty are guaranteed by
another party in a different country or if the claims are on an overseas
branch of a bank whose head office is located in a different country.
Only regions constituting 10% or more of the aggregate international
claims after taking into account any recognised risk transfer are

disclosed.
FRTHAKE
Non-bank private sector
Fem
FRAT hARE
SRBE Non-

BRH#E Non-bank financial ERAE
2018%12H31 H At 31 December 2018 #17 Official financial private Total
BEAL In millions of HK$ Banks sector institutions sector claims
BEAL Offshore centres 6,179 17,390 8,324 125,961 157,854

—Ed: FE - of which: Hong Kong 4,874 15,327 8,034 109,858 138,093
FRAGAR Developing Asia and Pacific 30,328 1,651 976 14,380 47,335
—Hi: i - of which: Mainland China 24,160 1,575 606 12,165 38,506
FERATHLAMERE
Non-bank private sector

Fam

R FLAKE

SRR Non-

EAkE Non-bank financial EEAE
20174612 4311 At 31 December 2017 Eiihl Official financial private Total
BEBT In millions of HK$ Banks sector institutions sector claims
BEFAD Offshore centres 6,903 17,445 7,429 114,262 146,039

—Hh  FE - of which: Hong Kong 5,781 15,164 7,133 98,814 126,892
ERATAR Developing Asia and Pacific 32,271 2,083 1,058 12,780 48,192
—Hi: A - of which: Mainland China 26,357 2,005 694 11,135 40,191

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF DAH SING BANK, LIMITED
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Dah Sing Bank, Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 36 to
234, which comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do

not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
° Impairment of loans and advances to customers

° Impairment of the investment in an associate, Bank of
Chongging (“BOCQ”)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

Impairment of loans and advances to customers

Refer to notes 4(a) and 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group
recorded loan impairment allowance of
HK$913,923 thousand against the total
loan portfolio of HK$128,630,279 thousand,
with HK$423,650 thousand, HK$127,284
thousand and HK$362,989 thousand, as
stage 1 and 2 and, stage 3 impairment
allowance respectively.

The balances of impairment allowance
for loans and advances to customers
represent the management's estimates
at the balance sheet date of Expected
Credit Losses (“ECL") under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9. It is a
new accounting standard effective from
1 January 2018 and its application is
considered as a complex process and
requires considerable judgements and
interpretation.

Key judgements and estimates in respect of
the measurement of ECL include:

o Selection of appropriate models
and determination of relevant key
measurement parameters and
assumptions;

o (riteria for determining whether or
not there was a significant increase
in credit risk (“SICR”), or a default or
impairment loss was incurred;

o Selection of economic indicators for
forward-looking measurement, and the
application of economic scenarios and
weightings; and

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

We understood and tested key controls in relation

Oversight and governance, including the Risk
Management and Compliance Committee,
Credit Management Committee, over the
review and approval of the internal credit
risk ratings, the ECL related policies, models
including any changes required, staging,
forward looking information used and
the scenario weightings applied, and the
calculated ECL balance;

Regular monitoring and validation of
impairment models;

Assessment of the credit quality, assignment
of internal credit risk ratings, and timely
identification, assessment and reporting
of non-performing loans and advances to
customers;

Significant management judgments and
assumptions, including SICR, defaulted
or credit-impaired and forward-looking
adjustments;

The accuracy and completeness of the key
data inputs between underlying source
systems and the impairment models.
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BRETSE@® KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
BREGSE AENETNIRERRESE Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EFEFRBHE &) Impairment of loans and advances to customers (Continued)
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o The estimated future cash flows for
loans and advances to customers in
stage 3.

There is also an increase in the data inputs
required by the ECL models. This increases
the risk of completeness and accuracy of
the data used to calculate the ECL.

Loan impairment allowances is an audit
focus due to the materiality of the balances
and the underlying calculations are subject
to significant judgement of management.

In addition to testing the key controls, we have
also performed the following procedures:

With the assistance of our internal modelling
specialists, we reviewed the major modelling
methodologies for ECL calculation, and
assessed the reasonableness of models
selection, key parameters estimation,
significant judgements and assumptions in
relation to the models.

We selected samples and critically
assessed the key assumptions and inputs in
management’s credit reviews and evaluated
the reasonableness of the assigned credit
risk ratings. We further assessed the
appropriateness of the management’s
identification of SICR, defaults and credit-
impaired loans and challenged the criteria
used for staging, in consideration of the
financial information and non-financial
information of the borrowers, relevant
external evidence and other factors.

For forward-looking adjustments, we
assessed management’s analysis of their
selection of economic indicators, economic
scenarios and weightings employed;
and reviewed their sensitivity analysis of
probability weightings. We further challenged
and assessed the reasonableness around
weightings of multiple economic scenarios.

We tested on a sample basis the
reconciliation between ECL models’ data
inputs and source system records to ensure
the accuracy and completeness of the data
used in the ECL models.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
Impairment of loans and advances to customers (Continued)

o For a sample of stage 3 impaired loans,
we understood the latest developments at
the borrowers and the basis of measuring
the impairment allowance and considered
whether key management judgments
were appropriate given the borrowers’
circumstances. We also re-performed
management’s impairment calculation
and tested key inputs to the impairment
calculation including valuation of collateral
held and estimated future cash flow from
borrowers.

Based on the procedures we performed, we
found the model methodology, key parameters,
significant judgement and assumptions adopted
by management were reasonable and in line with
our industry knowledge and market information.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of the investment in an associate, Bank of Chongging (“ BOCQ”)

Refer to notes 4(f) and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s investment in BOCQ is
accounted for as an associate, using the
equity method. The Group carried the
investment in BOCQ of HK$3,620,597
thousand as at 31 December 2018, after
making a provision for impairment of
HK$1,448,000 thousand as at year end.
The impairment loss charged for the year is
HK$633,000 thousand.

Management identified the carrying value
of the investment is higher than the market
value of BOCQ which is considered
an indicator of potential impairment.
Management performed an impairment
assessment and has assessed that the
recoverable amount of the investment in
BOCQ was lower than its carrying value.
The recoverable amount was measured as
value-in-use (“VIU") estimate calculated by
discounted cash flow model (‘DCF”).

We focused on this area due to the
materiality of the balance, the significance
of impairment charge and the highly
subjective management judgements and
assumptions involved in assessing the
impairment.

We have performed the following procedures in
relation to the assessment of impairment of the
investment in BOCQ:

o We obtained an understanding of the
impairment assessment and the processes
applied by management with respect to the
determination of the VIU of the investment in
BOCQ

o We evaluated the appropriateness of the
valuation model used by the management;

o We assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions and inputs used by the
management, including the discount rate,
profit growth rate and exit value, based on
relevant supporting evidence (with reference
to external market information, third party
sources, including analyst reports, and
publicly available BOCQ information) and our
knowledge of the business and industry;

o We performed sensitivity analysis on the
VIU estimates to evaluate how sensitive
management’s assessment is to the change
of different inputs of key assumptions
individually and collectively in different
scenarios.

Based on the procedures we performed, we
found that management s judgement used in
the impairment assessment of the investment in
BOCQ was supported by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Corporate Information, Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Profile, Report of the Directors, Directors of Subsidiaries and Lists of
Branches (but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date
of this auditor’s report, and the Unaudited Supplementary Financial
Information, which is expected to be made available to us after that
date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that
we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Unaudited Supplementary Financial Information,
if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are
required to communicate the matter to Audit Committee and take
appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Sin Bun, Benson.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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LISTS OF BRANCHES i

44T Branch it Address E5F Tel BE Fax

RERITHRA A

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

BEBEDTT

Hong Kong Island Branches

ERFDT ERTHR LRSS SR Rt E

Aberdeen Shop 1, G/F and Portion of the Basement of Site 3, 2554 5463 2554 0843
Aberdeen Centre

SEBEROLDIT EREA8IEER LS —1E 10954

Admiralty Centre Shop No. 10, 1st Floor of the Podium, Admiralty Centre, 2529 1338 3110 2818
No. 18 Harcourt Road

388 2 17 RS BT E ST I8 468 SR S B R PO T R b JE

Causeway Bay G/F and Basement, Cameron Commercial Centre, 2891 2201 2591 6037
No. 468 Hennessy Road, Causeway Bay

PES T REER 195 IRBRAEH T ASRE

Central Shop A, G/F, Worldwide House, 19 Des Voeux Road Central 2521 8134 2526 9427

BAEIWLDIT 1k A 258 293-299 SR I = A B HE T 15-22 57 J b &

Fortress Hill Shop No.15-22, G/F and basement, Empire Apartments, 2922 3389 2887 7604
Nos. 293-299 King’s Road

EHTITEAT HTITE 108 R A T Bt &l

Gloucester Road Shop B, G/F, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester Road 2507 8866 2507 8654

8 5 i 2 17 HEHSEEH 13RS AEM T AR

Happy Valley Shop A, G/F, Kam Yuk Mansion, No. 13 Yuk Sau Street, 2572 0708 2572 0718
Happy Valley

HIEHIT SE/E RN IRAT 100 SR A TE TR B IERTIN 2 18 234-235 57

Heng Fa Chuen Shop Units 234-235, 2/F, Heng Fa Chuen Paradise Mall, 2558 7485 2889 2520
100 Shing Tai Road, Chai Wan

HTBEDT BB 164 5%

Johnston Road 164, Johnston Road, Wanchai 2572 8849 2891 3743

R e 51T TEIERR 129 LB T A2 SRS R 11 BA S

Kennedy Town Shop A2, G/F, & Unit A, 1/F, Man Kwong Court, 12 Smithfield Road 2849 2280 2960 0790

A5 M 238 433-437 SRR AE

North Point Chu Kee Building, 433-437 King’s Road 2561 8241 2811 4474

HEEDT LEEIES7-87 A LIEM T G854

Shaukiwan Shop G8, G/F, Tai On Building, 57-87 Shaukiwan Road 2568 5271 2567 5904

AEESIT £ 5 KET0 443-453 54 T 15-16 55748

Shek Tong Tsui Shop No. 15-16, G/F, 443-453 Queen’s Road West 2857 7473 2108 4539

FBRA1T IREEETR 2885k MM E AEM N B2 iHE—EBE

Sheung Wan G/F & 1/F, No. 288 Des Voeux Road Central, Sheung Wan 2851 6281 2581 2216

REE DT BERANEH AR 1 R & A H T 501 574

Taikoo Shing Shop No. G501, On Shing Terrace, No. 28 Taikoo Shing 2884 4802 2884 3151
Road & No. 1-9 Tai Yue Avenue, Taikoo Shing
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LISTS OF BRANCHES

417 Branch

ik Address

E5F Tel

fHE Fax

REFBVITHERAF
Dah Sing Bank, Limited

hEESTT

Kowloon Branches

BEHDIT
Shing Yip Street

AW 1T
Hunghom

EBD1T

Jordan

BEIT

Kwun Tong

BEDT
Lok Fu
EZHWAIT

Mei Foo Sun
Chuen

HEADT
Mongkok
RAOED1T
Cheung Sha Wan
ERIEEST
Telford Gardens
TIES 1T
Tokwawan
HERD T
Tseung Kwan O
& ER
FEB PO DT
Tseung Kwan O
Metro City Plaza

KRABER1T
Tsimshatsui

BUEREF105 T AR
Shop A, G/F, 10 Shing Yip Street, Kwun Tong

AL BN 28 5 SRR T 3 R4 KM 1B 2 SR A R 212 3574
Shop No. 3 and 4 on G/F, Shop No. 2 on 1/F and Shop
No. 3 on 2/F, Cheron Court, 28 Wuhu Street, Hunghom

R E 335 5%
335 Nathan Road, Jordan
BUEREEAFELTR O T 7-9 558

Shop Nos. 7-9, G/F, Yee On Centre, 45 Hong Ning Road,
Kwun Tong

5B 198 LT EIS—E 1101 £ 1102 5% 4
Shop Nos. 1101 and 1102, 1/F, Lok Fu Place, 198 Junction Road

FEF AR FE 10A T~ N26E & F 5= 47
Shop No. N26E & F, G/F, 10A Nassau Street, Stage V,
Mei Foo Sun Chuen

HE A 0B 697 5%
697 Nathan Road, Mongkok

REIE 8B SRIERIF /Lth T 1 5k &
Shop 1, G/F, CRE Centre, 889 Cheung Sha Wan Road

B ERES — B =2 F5A-F6A 5
Units F5A-F6A, Level 2, Telford Plaza |, Kowloon Bay

+ TE58 245B [ 247 S E S E 2 Bty
G/F, Mei King Mansion, Phase Il, No. 245B and 247 Tokwawan Road

15 588 B £ 17 9 3% PopCorn i35 1 TN /8 G58 3R 5 4
Shop G58, G/F, PopCorn, 9 Tong Chun Street, Tseung Kwan O

# =8 MCP Discovery —1& 127 5% 48

Shop 127, Level 1, MCP Discovery, Tseung Kwan O

K IHRZE 66-705E £ EAE
Golden Crown Court, 66-70 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui

2191 8103

2365 8110

2385 0161

2389 3911

2337 6300

2370 2660

2394 4261

2361 0951

2927 4130

2365 9035

2752 1223

2927 2101

2366 9121

2191 8723

2363 5917

2782 0993

2389 8239

2337 6922

2370 2006

2391 9104

2958 0985

2755 4967

2363 5696

2752 1098

2702 2305

2311 1491
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LISTS OF BRANCHES i

44T Branch ik Address E5F Tel BE Fax

RERITHRA A

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

hEESIT

Kowloon Branches

BERLDTT mAMEAIA O FEEEHL T G3C R4

Wong Tai Sin Shop No. G3C, Ground Floor, Temple Mall South, Wong Tai Sin 2326 5165 2350 0894

JH i 3t 53 4T R b S EE 561 5%

Yaumatei 561 Nathan Road, Yaumatei 2782 1339 2385 9285

HREDT

New Territories Branches

BEDT IS IEAT8 R E T T 2554

Kwai Fong Shop 2, G/F, Edition 178, 178 Hing Fong Road, Kwai Chung 2487 8033 2489 1253

BRLESDT HE2\ L1755 608 5% S #2 1L [E35 =12 335 55

Ma On Shan Plaza Shop 335 on Level 3, Ma On Shan Plaza, 608 Sai Sha Road, 2929 4137 2633 3432
Ma On Shan

BEXREDIT B H R 33 5% B 7K 108 D-E Sk

Maritime Square Shop 108 D-E, Maritime Square, 33 Tsing King Road, Tsing Yi 2435 1368 2435 1582

BB 51T P95 22 B% 168-236 55 /& 45 11 K& 93-95 5 4

Ocean Walk Shop 11 and 93-95, Ocean Walk, 168-236 Wu Chui Road, Tuen Mun 2404 6931 2404 7130

PDHEDT Y ATIE AR T 9 S A

Shatin Shop 9, G/F, Lucky Plaza, Shatin 2606 3533 2601 2413

WHREST 25870 1H 78 286-288 FRith N

Sha Tsui Road G/F, Nos. 286-288 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan 2615 1510 2615 1099

EXko1T EKFTE B 55-50 SR IKEIE L T BSR4

Sheung Shui Shop B, G/F, Siu Kai House, 55-59 San Fung Avenue, Sheung Shui 26715030 2672 1533

RFEHAT NIHL R 1 98BS T 53 5% & 54 5% 4

Tai Po Units 53-54 on Level 1, Tai Po Plaza, No.1 On Tai Road, Tai Po 2667 2588 2664 3637

RED1T YO AR B8 55-56 SRFEIE AT 14-18 SR &2 LB T 1 R 25748

Tai Wai Shops 1 and 2 on Ground Floor, Grandeur Garden, 2691 1272 2606 1531
14-18 Chik Fai Street, 55-56 Tai Wai Road, Shatin
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LISTS OF BRANCHES

417 Branch

ik Address

E5F Tel

fHE Fax

REFBVITHERAF
Dah Sing Bank, Limited

HREDIT

New Territories Branches

RKERT
Tin Shui Wai

28T

Tsuen Wan

BT

Tuen Mun

RBAT
Tung Chung

BEDT

Fanling

THREWLEDT

Yuen Long Castle

Peak Road

RIKEIREH 357 RS R % 118 L120 i
Shop No. L120, First Floor, Tin Shing Shopping Centre,
Tin Shing Court, 3 Tin Ching Street, Tin Shui Wai

HERME14-16 7B HKNE

Dang Fat Mansion, 14-16 Tai Ho Road, Tsuen Wan
TP = 1B 52-62 SR S EH T 458 R 5574

Shops 4 and 5 on G/F, Man Cheung Mansion,

52-62 Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui Road

R L) BROF B SR A7 1 SR SRR VBB A T~ 23 SR 4

Shop 23, G/F, Tung Chung Crescent, 1 Hing Tung Street,
Tung Chung, Lantau Island

1358 B AL 88 SRIEEDE S N A11-A14 ]2 110-112 SE48
Shop Nos. A11-A14 and 110-112, Ground Floor, Flora Plaza,
No. 88 Pak Wo Road, Fanling

TLEAE LA RS TCRAER 162-168 SREk A2 T C 5748
Shop C, G/F, Len Shing Mansion, 162-168 Castle Peak Road,
Yuen Long

2448 9008

2492 8102

2441 6218

2109 3484

2677 8830

2479 4555

2448 9112

2415 0984

2441 6613

2109 4353

2669 9950

2479 4522
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DITP MR (HEET)
LISTS OF BRANCHES (BANKING SUBSIDIARIES)

417 Branch

ik Address

E5F Tel

RAEXRRTROBRAA

Banco Comercial de Macau, S.A.

R 1T

Macau Branches

REBHRIT

Main Branch

REDT

Almirante Lacerda

HEDT

lao Hon

BEST
Kin Wa

i 51T
Mercadores

EHAT
Nape

HHit 51T
Palha

AT O51T
Ponte e Horta

DR 1T
Ribeira do Patane

Ao 1T
Toi San

St S HD 1T
Pedro Coutinho

FEAR S 572 5%
Avenida da Praia Grande, No. 572

FERRE ARG 4355 B
Avenida Almirante Lacerda, No. 43B

MR E 46 FER TEAE (5—H1) 8 N AC B

(853) 8791 0000

(853) 2831 6191

Rua Um Bairro lao Hon No. 45, Industrial Yau Seng (Fase I) R/C AC (853) 2837 8262

BIRGEDIEEENIEE 13 A TAH
Estrada Marginal da Areia Preta, S/N,
Edf. Kin Wa, Bloco 13, R/C, Loja A

B KA 40-42 57 AT
Rua dos Mercadores, Nos. 40-42, R/C A

R 4 B35 815-363 5 & % il L T O
Alameda Dr. Carlos D’ Assumpgéo, Nos. 315-363,
Edificio “Hot Line”, R/C, Loja “O”

== bt

=B A 4-6 5%
Rua da Palha, Nos. 4-6

BIFTA295%
Praga Ponte e Horta, No. 29

EEITRE 140258

Rua do Visconde Paco d’Arcos, No. 402, R/C
BB E T miEEE 18 £ “CC #
Rua Onze Bairro Tamagnini Barbosa, S/N,
Jardim Cidade Nova, Bloco 18, R/C Loja “CC”

SHSH 255D SR T B

Rua de Pedro Coutinho No. 25D, Queens Court, Loja B, R/C

(853) 2845 0759

(853) 2857 2610

(853) 2872 2515

(853) 2837 3762

(853) 2837 8704

(853) 2895 2942

(853) 2823 8483

(853) 2821 6523

BT

Taipa Branches

ARFERDIT

Prince Flower City

BEIT
Tak Fok

FPRBAEAFEN — BB T I8

Rua de Evora, Prince Flower City, Lai San Kok, R/C I, Taipa

B BERASEERSRIEEFH

Avenida de Kwong Tung, S/N, Edificio Tak Fok Seaview Garden,

R/C, Loja F, Taipa

(853) 2884 2788

(853) 2882 1308

BRERDIT

Coloane Branch

BEBRA1T
Coloane

PRIRE S A1 9 5% D
Largo do Matadouro, No. 9-D, Coloane

(853) 2888 2374

DAH SING BANK, LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2018
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DITH MR HBRT)
LISTS OF BRANCHES (BANKING SUBSIDIARIES)

41T Branch 3t Address T Tel

KRBT (PE) BRAF

Dah Sing Bank (China) Limited

w17 AT RE R B 5016 55 R EE 100 KE AR 1518

Head Office 15/F, Tower A, Kingkey 100 Building, 5016 Shennan (86-755) 2519 9033

EINAEEZIT
Shenzhen Qianhai
Sub-Branch

BEM 5217

Guangzhou

EBH1T
Shanghai

MESTT
Nanchang
BT AT
Zhenjiang
11T

Foshan Sub-Branch

Road East, Shenzhen

RYIT R IR e A TR S BB 220 (JLE) 4-7 BREHE 123
Shop 123, Building 4-7, Zhuo Yue Wei Gang (North), Industrial
Road 7, Shekou, Nan Shan District, Shenzhen

BEREBEMmEFEE AR 604-2 57 RFIRITAE 1B
2[E01 87T

Unit 01, 1/F-2/F, Dah Sing Bank Building, 604-2,

North Renmin Road, Yue Xiu District, Guangzhou, Guangdong

EETI A RER AL 501 5% 88 E#E% 15806, 07 BT
Room 06 & 07, 15th Floor, Sinar Mas Plaza,
No. 501 Dong Da Ming Road, Hongkou District, Shanghai

IREAEETRAEELEK1365%1-2/8

1/F-2/F, 136 Dieshan Road, East Lake District, Nanchang, Jiangxi
TLERE LT R R AR R 59 57

59 Jiefang Road, Jing Kou District, Zhenjiang, Jiangsu

FE BR 44 {381 LI T R 8 [ AN 88 (B B 8 S R B B SR SR B SR

111148 - 12048

Shop 111, Shop 120, No. 1 Bauhinia Building,

Starcrest, 8 Jinyuan Road, Guicheng,
Nanhai District, Foshan, Guangdong

(86-755) 2238 5500

(86-20) 8116 0888

(86-21) 5598 7000

(86-791) 8688 7333

(86-511) 8530 9999

(86-757) 8513 3555

RFEEITAER AT 2018F F 5k



MIX

Paper from responsible sources

R B R RN RAKER R
FSC™ C006398

Dah Sing Bank, Limited X#R{THRAF)
36/F, Everbright Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Hong Kong
BAETITE—T/URARPOL=T"E

Telephone E & - (852) 2507 8866

Facsimile {558 : (852) 2598 5052

Website  #81E : www.dahsing.com
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